University of Alberta

A LOW-VOLTAGE, LOW-POWER INTRAOCULAR PRESSURE MEASUREMENT INSTRUMENT

by

Caitlin Davis

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Biomedical Engineering

Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

©Caitlin Davis

Spring 2014

Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

Abstract

Wireless sensing of abnormal intraocular pressure (IOP) levels associated with Glaucoma, a leading cause of blindness, was first proposed in the late 1960's. While much research has been applied in the intervening time, a suitable commercially available wireless IOP monitoring instrument remains unavailable.

The primary difficulty in developing a wireless IOP instrument is reduction of instrument size and power requirements. For implantation, the instrument is desired to be on the order of a few square millimeters. With such a small instrument, achieving biocompatible operation during electromagnetic field exposure necessary for inductively transferred wireless-power requires very low-power, low-voltage operation. This research presents a 325 mV, sub- μ W capacitive-to-digital converter with power levels suitable for near-field wireless power operation with using an integrated circuit coil. This low-voltage, low-power operation creates the opportunity for a monolithic, millimeter-scale IOP monitoring instrument using integrated circuit technologies.

The designed capacitive sensing circuitry uses $\Sigma\Delta$ modulation to perform capacitance-to-digital conversion. The modulator is implemented with fully-differential switched-capacitor circuits. Operational transconductance amplifiers required for the modulation are implemented with subthreshold inverters. Experimental testing shows the prototype instrument, comprised of the designed modulator and commercial capacitive pressure sensors, is capable of resolving 2.1 mmHg while operating at 325 mV using only 30 nW. In comparison with other systems in the field of IOP monitoring, this work represents the lowest operating voltage and power consumption reported to date.

Acknowledgements

Foremost, I wish to express thanks to my supervisors Dr. Duncan Elliott and Dr. Kambiz Moez. Your support and encouragement in the final stages of completing this study were crucial. I also thank committee member Dr. Douglas Barlage for his helpful questions and insight.

I also wish to thank the funding agencies that made this research possible: NSERC, Alberta Innovates Technology Futures (formerly Alberta Innovates), iCORE and the University of Alberta. And, last but not least, the Canadian Microelectronics Corporation with whom Canada achieves excellence in integrated circuit education.

Behind the scenes, my husband Tyler Brandon is to be thanked for his strength, unwaivering support and partnership. Our two children, Allegra and Aleena, for their patience and keen interest in baking (not circuits, baking).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	l Introduction							
	1.1	IOP Measurement	2					
	1.2	Fully Integrated IOP Measurement	4					
		1.2.1 Size Constraints	5					
		1.2.2 Power Constraints	5					
	1.3	Prior Work	7					
		1.3.1 Summary	9					
	1.4	Overview of Thesis	11					
2	Lite	rature Survey	12					
	2.1	Instrument Sensing Needs	12					
		2.1.1 Sensor Selection	13					
	2.2	Capacitance Measurement	14					
	2.3	Low Power Data Conversion & Sensing	18					

		2.3.1 Low-power Reports	19				
		2.3.2 Application and Comparison	21				
	2.4	Summary	24				
3	Cap	acitance to Digital Converter Design	26				
	3.1	Sensing Circuit Architecture	27				
	3.2	Commercial MEMS Capacitive Sensor	28				
	3.3	Capacitive Sensing $\Sigma\Delta$ Modulation	28				
		3.3.1 Improvements for Power Reduction	30				
		3.3.2 Integrator Gain Scaling	32				
		3.3.3 Simulation Results	37				
	3.4	Fully-differential Circuit Implementation					
		3.4.1 Input Stage	40				
	3.5	Signal to Quantization Noise Ratio	45				
		3.5.1 Comment on Signal to Noise Ratio	46				
	3.6	Summary	47				
4	Low	-Voltage Low-Power Circuit Design	48				
	4.1	CMOS Process Selection	49				
	4.2	Inverter Amplifier	50				
		4.2.1 Subthreshold Operation	50				
		4.2.2 Drain Current and Current Noise	53				
		4.2.3 Dynamic Settling Behavior	56				
		4.2.4 Design Objectives	58				
		4.2.5 Virtual Ground	50				

	4.2.6	Output Common-mode Control62
4.3	Modul	ator Circuit Level Overview
	4.3.1	Pseudo-differential Implementation 63
	4.3.2	Four Phase Clock & System Timing
	4.3.3	Input Signal Swing
	4.3.4	Modulator Timing Diagram
4.4	Modul	ator Subcircuit Design
	4.4.1	Thermal Noise
	4.4.2	Noise Simulation
	4.4.3	Analog Switches
	4.4.4	Output Common-mode Control 86
	4.4.5	Charge Loss & Voltage Droop
	4.4.6	Integrator Settling
	4.4.7	Amplifier Gain-bandwidth & Open-loop Gain 91
	4.4.8	Digital Supporting Circuits
4.5	Desigr	n Summary
4.6	Systen	n-Level Simulation
	4.6.1	Power Consumption
	4.6.2	Capacitive Detection
	4.6.3	Simulation Time
4.7	Integra	ated Circuit Fabrication
	4.7.1	Top Level Layout 112
	4.7.2	Capacitor Values
	4.7.3	Bypass Capacitors & Layout Dummy Elements 114

	4.8	MEMS Capacitive Sensor Wire-bond	116
	4.9	Summary	117
5	Exp	erimental Results	119
	5.1	AS1 Die Bond Options	119
	5.2	Test Setup	120
	5.3	Measurement Results	122
		5.3.1 Voltage Mode Operation	122
		5.3.2 Summary	138
		5.3.3 Pressure Mode Operation	139
		5.3.4 Summary	165
	5.4	Discussion	166
6	Con	clusions	171
	6.1	Contributions	171
	6.2	Future Work	175
		6.2.1 Pressure Sensing Instrument	176
		6.2.2 In Context of the Large System	179
Bi	bliogr	aphy	182
A	Glau	icoma & Intraocular Pressure Measurement	207
	A.1	Introduction	207
	A.2	Prior Instrumentation	208
		A.2.1 Mechanical	208
		A.2.2 Passive Electronic	209

		A.2.3 Active Electronic	210
	A.3	Conclusion	218
B	CM	OS IC Coils for Power Transfer	219
	B .1	Wireless Inductive Power Transfer	219
		B.1.1 Summary	223
	B.2	History	224
	B.3	Summary	225
С	Wire	eless Power Transfer Biocompatibility	227
	C .1	Introduction	227
		C.1.1 FCC Guidelines	228
	C.2	IEEE Recommendations	229
	C.3	Eye Health Research	231
		C.3.1 Telecommunications Research	231
		C.3.2 MRI Research	233
	C.4	Reported Powered Integrated Circuit Coils	234
	C.5	Conclusion	235
D	Seco	ond-order $\Sigma\Delta$ Modulation	237
	D.1	Second Order $\Sigma\Delta$ Modulation	237
Е	AS1	Pad Names & Description	242
F	Pow	er Supply	244
	F.1	Voltage Multiplying Rectifier	244
		F.1.1 Basic Operation	245

		F.1.2 Design Issues	245
	F.2	Holding Capactance	249
G	Test	Setup	253
	G.1	Arduio Sketch	258
	G.2	Pyserial Code	270
H	Spec	etral Analysis	273
	H.1	SNR Calculations	273
	H.2	Noise Floor	275

LIST OF TABLES

1.1	Comparison of reported IOP measurement systems	10
2.1	Low-power, low-frequency analog-to-digital converters	24
4.1	Estimated integrator capacitive loads during various clock cycles.	93
4.2	Estimated integrator feedback factors during various clock cycles.	94
4.3	Simulated power consumption at the functional block level 1	07
4.4	Implemented capacitor sizes in the SC signal path	13
5.1	Modulator AC voltage input performance summary 1	24
5.2	Parameters for straight line fit of response to DC input 1	37
5.3	Tabulated of AS1-MEMS test results versus sample length 1	44
5.4	This work compared with other data converters	66
5.5	This work compared with other IOP measurement reports 1	69
C.1	Maximum permissible occupational RF energy exposure 2	28

LIST OF FIGURES

1.1	Diagram of eye with preferred IOP instrument location shown	3
1.2	Functional block diagram of IOP implant and reader	5
1.3	Envisioned minimalist IOP measurement instrument	11
2.1	Capacitance converted to low output-impedance form	16
3.1	Modified second-order $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator	29
3.2	$\Sigma\Delta$ modulator for capacitive-ratio measurement	31
3.3	Modified modulator for capacitive-ratio measurement	31
3.4	Modified modulator shown with capacitor scaling elements	32
3.5	Modified modulator shown in AC input test mode	38
3.6	Simulated power spectral density of modulator output	38
3.7	Histogram plots of modulator integrator outputs	39
3.8	Modulator shown with fully-differential circuit implementation	41
3.9	Simplified single-ended first-order modulator.	41

3.10	Modulator shown with independent reference input voltages	44
3.11	Quantization noise only SNR_q versus OSR	46
4.1	Inverter showing small signal amplifier characteristics	50
4.2	Amplifier operating region open-loop gain and gain-bandwidth	52
4.3	Inverter amplifier dynamic settling	57
4.4	Simulated NMOS drain-source current vs. gate voltage	59
4.5	Inverter amplifier shown with and without offset correction	61
4.6	Switch level diagram of the SC $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator	64
4.7	Modulator four-phase clocking scheme	70
4.8	Simulated SNR due to thermal noise sources vs. OSR	77
4.9	CMOS transmission gate circuit	82
4.10	Transmission gate on-resistance for $V_{DD} = 500 \text{mV} \dots \dots$	84
4.11	Transmission gate on-resistance for $V_{DD} = 600 \text{mV} \dots \dots$	85
4.12	Common-mode feedback transient at first integrator	88
4.13	Simplified integrator shown with parasitic capacitances	92
4.14	Inverter gain-bandwidth versus power supply	96
4.15	Inverter amplifier open-loop gain versus power supply	97
4.16	Switch-level diagram for design summary discussion 1	00
4.17	Modulator power consumption vs. operating voltage 1	06
4.18	Simulation results with 1000 single-bit data points	10
4.19	Diagram of die level prototype AS1-MEMS	15
5.1	AS1 die shown bonded for voltage testing	20
5.2	AS1 die shown bonded for pressure testing (AS1-MEMS) 1	21

5.3	Performance for V_{DD} = 400 mV with f_s = 1600 kHz	125
5.4	SNR and SNDR shown with V_{DD} = 275 mV and f_s = 1600 Hz (D8).	126
5.5	Power spectral density with V_{DD} = 275 mV and f_s = 1600 Hz (D8).	128
5.6	SNR and SNDR versus input frequency (D8)	129
5.7	Power at V_{DD} versus operating frequency (D4)	131
5.8	Power at V_{DDCOMP} versus operating frequency (D4)	132
5.9	Power at V_{DD} power versus frequency f_s showing intercept (D4).	133
5.10	Zero-frequency intercept power vs. power-supply voltage (D4)	134
5.11	Data average versus DC input voltage (D9)	136
5.12	Pelican case pressure chamber showing AS1-MEMS test conditions.	140
5.13	Error in the data average versus the number of data points taken.	142
5.14	AS1-MEMS instrument response for 10,000 single-bit samples	145
5.15	AS1-MEMS instrument response for 50,000 single-bit data points.	146
5.16	AS1-MEMS instrument response for 100,000 single-bit data points.	147
5.17	AS1-MEMS instrument response for 1,000,000 single-bit samples.	148
5.18	AS1-MEMS instrument response showing chamber leakage	151
5.19	AS1-MEMS instrument during chamber leakage	152
5.20	PSD of modulated output at 770 mmHg	153
5.21	Diagram showing test setup for varying V_{DD}	155
5.22	AS1-MEMS instrument response with varying V_{DD}	157
5.23	AS1-MEMS response to mechanical jostling	159
5.24	AS1-MEMS response to light jostling	160
5.25	Mean-estimate versus pressure taken on two different days	162
5.26	Data average versus applied pressure over time for D10	163

5.27 Experimental power consumption versus simulation (D4) 168
6.1 Active electronic IOP measurement instrument reports 172
6.2 Envisioned IOP measurement with RFID-style power transfer 180
A.1 IOP measurement microsystem reported 2001
A.2 IOP measurement microsystem reported in 2010
A.3 IOP microsystem reported in 2011
B.1 Coupled inductors for wireless power transfer
C.1 Whole body averaged SAR 230
C.2 Reported whole eye SAR in W/kg
D.1 Second-order $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator with internal ADC and DAC 238
D.2 Second-order $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator with single-bit quantization 239
F.1 Single stage multiplying rectifier
F.2 Rectifier efficiency and output voltage versus transistor size 250
F.3 Rectifier input resistance versus transistor size
G.1 Clock signal on test board AS1TB1
G.2 Test board AS1TB1 top level functional schematic
G.3 Test board AS1TB1 four phase clock generation
H.1 Energy scaled PSD with V_{DD} = 500 mV, f_s = 1600 Hz (D4) 276

LIST OF SYMBOLS

- A_o amplifier open loop gain.
- C_1 reference MEMS sensing capacitor.
- ${\it C}_2\,$ variable MEMS sensing capacitor.
- C_3 direct capacitor to second integrator.
- C_4 sample-and-hold capacitor to second integrator.
- C_L integrator total load capacitance.
- C_{coil1} primary-coil capacitance.
- C_{coil2} secondary-coil capacitance.
- C_h holding capacitor.
- C_{int1} integrating capacitance at first integrator.

 C_{int1} integrating capacitance at second integrator.

 C_{int} integrating capacitance.

 C_{load} integrator output load capacitance.

 C_m on-chip matched capacitor.

 C_{pi} integrator parasitic input capacitance.

 C_{po} integrator parasitic output capacitance.

 C_{rect} rectifier input capacitance.

 C_s sampling capacitance.

 $E(Q_{cs}^2)$ mean square charge noise on sampling capacitor.

 $E(V_{cs}^2)$ mean square voltage noise on sampling capacitor.

 E_1 additive error of internal ADC.

 E_2 additive error of internal DAC.

 I_{DS} transistor drain-source current.

 K_1 gain of first integrator to C_s .

 K_3 gain of second integrator to C_3 .

 K_4 gain of second integrator to C_4 .

 $Q_{in_{rms}}$ input signal charge power.

 R_{2s} secondary coil series resistance.

 R_{on} switch on-resistance.

 R_{rect} rectifier input resistance.

 SNR_q signal-to-noise ratio due to quantization noise.

 $S_{ito}(f)$ transistor drain-current noise power spectral density.

 $S_{vtR_{on}}(f)$ switch on-resistance noise power spectral density.

 V_2 secondary coil terminal voltage.

 V_{CM} common mode voltage.

 V_{DDCOMP} comparator voltage supply.

 V_{DDIO} level-shift voltage supply.

 V_{DD} integrator, switches and logic power supply.

 V_{DS} transistor drain-source voltage.

 V_{GS} transistor gate-source voltage.

 V_T transistor threshold voltage.

 V_{in_p} peak input voltage.

 V_{in} input voltage.

Voffset offset voltage.

 V_o output voltage.

 V_{refC1} reference voltage for reference MEMS capacitor.

 V_{refC2} reference voltage for sensing MEMS capacitor.

 V_{ref} reference voltage.

W/L transistor width to length ratio.

 ΔC_{cal} calibration dummy capacitive difference.

 ΔC differential sensing capacitance.

 α inverse of amplifier open loop gain.

 β_{fb} integrator closed-loop feedback factor.

 μc_{ox} transistor transconductance.

 $\mu~$ transistor carrier mobility.

 ϕ_1 phase one of four-phase non-overlapping clock.

- ϕ_2 phase two of four-phase non-overlapping clock.
- ϕ_3 phase three of four-phase non-overlapping clock.
- ϕ_4 phase four of four-phase non-overlapping clock.
- ϕ_A input sampling clock A.
- ϕ_B input sampling clock B.
- ϕ_C input sampling clock C.
- ϕ_D input sampling clock D.

 $\tau_{R_{on}}$ transistor switch and capacitor time constant.

 τ_{int} integrator closed-loop time constant.

- a_1 gain of feedforward path of first integrator.
- a_2 gain of feedforward path of second integrator.
- b_2 gain for feedback to second integrator.
- c_{ox} transistor gate capacitance.
- $f_{3dB_{sw}}$ transistor switch 3 dB frequency.
- f_s clock frequency used to generate four phase clocks.
- f_u amplifier unity-gain frequency.
- gm_N transconductance of NMOS transistor.
- gm_P transconductance of PMOS transistor.
- kT product of Boltzmann constant and temperature.
- k_1 gain of internal ADC.
- k_2 gain of internal DAC.
- r_{oN} output resistance of NMOS transistor.
- r_{oP} output resistance of PMOS transistor.
- t_d delay time.
- v_{o1} output of the first integrator.
- ADC analog to digital converter.

AS1-MEMS die-level prototype instrument.

AS1TB1 test board for AS1.

BMP085 BOSCH high performance pressure and temperature sensor.

BW bandwidth.

- **C/D** capacitance to digital.
- **C/F** capacitance to frequency.
- C/I capacitance to current.
- C/V capacitance to voltage.
- **CDS** correlated double sampling.
- **CLT** central limit theorem.
- **CMOS** complementary metal oxide semiconductor.
- **CR** charge rebalance.
- **DAC** digital to analog converter.
- **DIP** dual in-line package.
- **DUT** device under test.
- **ENOB** effective number of bits.
- FCC federal communications commission.

FOM figure of merit.

FS full scale.

IC integrated circuit.

IEEE institute of electrical and electronics engineers.

IOP intra-ocular pressure.

lpnfet low-power n-type field-effect transistor in the IBM 0.13 μ m technology.

lppfet low-power p-type field-effect transistor.

MEMS micro electro-mechanical system.

MIM metal-insulator-metal.

N number of bits used in the mean-estimate.

nfet regular n-type field-effect transistor.

NMOS n-type metal oxide semiconductor.

NTF noise transfer function.

OSR oversampling ratio.

pfet regular p-type field-effect transistor.

PFM pulse to frequency modulation.

PMOS p-type metal oxide semiconductor.

PSD power spectral density.

PWM pulse width modulation.

RFID radio frequency identification.

SAR successive approximation register.

SC switched capacitor.

SNDR signal to noise and distortion ratio.

STF signal transfer function.

TNinv n-type transistor in the inverter amplifier.

TPinv p-type transistor at the inverter amplifier.

VNCAP vertical natural capacitor.

Y modulator transfer function output.

z z-domain discrete-time variable.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Wireless monitoring of physiological parameters is an important application of electronics in health care and disease research. The field of wireless monitoring in medical applications began over 35 years ago with the wireless observation of the fetal heart rate [1]. Since then, the number of applications has increased to include blood pressure, core body temperature, respiration rate, blood oxygen saturation and much more [2, 3]. In addition to in-hospital use, wireless monitoring is applicable for use in home-care and remote-care monitoring where acquired health data can be transmitted using telecommunications technologies [4, 5]. The convergence of advanced technologies applied to medical monitoring has great potential to decrease health care cost, improve patient care, and improve our understanding of disease processes. Toward the advancement of wireless health monitoring, however, a first and necessary step is always the development of appropriate instrumentation.

Instrumentation for the biomedical application of wireless intraocular pressure (IOP) measurement has received considerable research attention [6–15]. IOP measurement is used to monitor abnormal pressure that occurs with glaucoma disease. The term "glaucoma disease" is used to generally describe a collection of specific disease mechanisms that result in poorly controlled intraocular pressure. In a healthy eye, pressure is physiologically regulated at approximately 10–20 mmHg above ambient atmospheric levels; in a diseased eye, pressure can reach up to 50 mmHg above ambient [16,17]. Indicators for disease development include both diurnal pressure variations and elevated average pressures over several days [18]. Worldwide, glaucoma is the second leading cause of blindness and, due to an aging population, it is the leading cause of blindness in developed countries [19]. While research into wireless IOP measurement has produced several promising instrumentation efforts, none have successfully met all of the challenges.

1.1 IOP Measurement

Clinical measurement of IOP is currently done with applanation tonometry. Applanation tonometry works by measuring both the deflection and the applied force used to flatten the corneal tissue (either through direct contact or air-puff pressure application). The indirectness of this measurement technique introduces considerable patient-to-patient variability, primarily due to individual differences in corneal tissue [20–22]. Tonometry methods can have up to 4 mmHg variation between patients and variation of several mmHg between different tonometry techniques [20]; absolute accuracy of any particular tonometry technique is usually verified on mouse studies. The main shortcoming of tonometry techniques, however, is not inaccuracy

but an inability to obtain sufficient samples over time to monitor diurnal pressure variation and average-pressure variation over several days, both of which are risk factors for disease.

Implanted directly in the eye, a wireless pressure sensing microsystem could provide accurate pressure measurement. As it can occur outside of a clinical setting, an implanted monitoring device could also take frequent measurements. An idealised IOP measurement system is shown in Fig. 1.1. The system consists of external (reader) electronics that both transmits power and receives data, and internal implant electronics at the IOP measurement instrument (tag)¹. The implant electronics performs the pressure measurement operation and communicates the result back.



Figure 1.1: Diagram of eye with preferred instrument location shown. The reader both powers the implant and receives data. The data is transmitted to a computer where it can be viewed and stored.

An implanted device for IOP measurement was first suggested by Collins [23] in 1967. In the intervening 45 years, engineering research has pursued both passive electronic [8,10,11], and active electronic solutions [6,13–15,24,25], as well as strain based [26] and optical [27] methods. At the time of writing, commercial development has proceeded only in an external, contact-lens based, indirect measurement system; a commercially available implanted wireless IOP monitoring instrument remains

¹The terminology of reader/tag are associated with radio-frequency identification (RFID).

unavailable.

The key challenge of developing an implanted IOP measurement instrument is the reduction of the instrument size and power requirements. To preserve eye tissue for later surgeries required during disease management, a very small implant is desired. Ideally, the IOP measurement instrument size would be on the order of a cubic millimeter.

1.2 Fully Integrated IOP Measurement

Conceptually, an ultra-small IOP measurement instrument could be constructed using integrated circuit (IC) technologies. A monolithic IC instrument would offer a small form factor and integral packaging for coating with a suitable biocompatable sealant.

Figure 1.2 shows a functional block diagram of an external reader and IOP measurement implant device. The implant is comprised of pressure-sensing circuitry, power rectification and regulation and an integrated antenna for wireless-power reception. As it provides a communication linke, wireless power transfer is the preferred method for powering biomedical implants [28]; the implant is shown with coupled-inductor coils allowing the transfer of power and as well as communication. Communication between coupled coils occurs by load modulation which is achieved by varying the implant coil impedance. The impedance variation is reflected through the coupled coils and recorded at the reader electronics. In Fig. 1.2, the load modulation implementation is shown with a switch in parallel with the coil. The parallel switch changes the inductor coil load as required to transmit digitized data.



Figure 1.2: Functional block diagram of an ideal IOP measurement instrument consisting of an implant and a reader. Communication is accomplished with load modulation shown with the transmitter and coil switch.

1.2.1 Size Constraints

Because integrated circuit technologies are extremely compact, a fully integrated instrument could be within the millimeter-scale required for medical implantation. With chemical-mechanical polishing, the implant could additionally be made as thin as 60 μ m [29]. Such a compact instrument would be ideally suited for a non-invasive implant for IOP measurement.

1.2.2 Power Constraints

While integrated circuit technologies suit the size constraints of IOP measurement, the millimeter-scale size constraint makes obtaining sufficient power difficult.

Wireless power-transfer for powering biomedical implants can occur with nearfield inductive transfer or with far-field radiative transfer. Near-field inductive power transfer offers more energy [30] than far-field power transfer, but this energy may also heat tissue or interferre with surrounding electonics and must be limited. For inductive near-field power transfer, the power-transfer link is typically operated at 13.56 MHz within the industrial, scientific and medical (ISM) band worldwide and exposure levels are regulated through the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) in the United States (see Appendix C). The relatively low frequency of 13.56 MHz avoided tissue loss believed to occur strongly at frequencies much higher than 10 MHz, but generally resulted in large implant antenna. The trade-off between tissue loss and power reception has recently been given more attention with the result that operation in the GHz range may be optimal [31, 32], allowing for reduction in the implant antenna size and operation at higher frequencies.

To the best of the authors knowledge, at the time of writing, there have been no reported cases of fully integrated biomedical implants. A fully integrated implant is one which operates with all circuitry, including the power reception system and antenna coil implemented in integrated circuit technologies. Investigations into wireless power transfer to millimeter-scale coils have resulted in overall power transfer efficiencies on the order of 0.06–0.8% [33, 34] through roughly 10–15 millimeter of tissue. The power supply system comprised of the antenna, rectifier and load are highly coupled and reported system optimisation is usually based on a preset criteria, such as obtaining a 1.2 V power supply common in RFID systems.

Because many power scavaging systems, including weakly coupled inductive links, intrinsically supply power at low voltage, there is increasing recognition that sensor-interface circuits must target low-voltage operation over performance [28]. For this purpose, ultra low-voltage and low-power circuit techniques are actively being researched [35–39]. While analog circuitry commonly benefits from operation at higher voltages, there is increasing success in operation in the low voltage region [40] [41]. Data conversion at low-voltage, low-power and low-frequency (in particular) is an area that has little research [36] compared to other forms of data conversion, such as high–accuracy or high–speed conversion, and is a technique highly applicable to low frequency biomedical applications such as IOP measurement.

While fully integrated power-supply systems are being explored for size and power limits, rapid advances are being made in ultra-low voltage analog circuit operation. The answers to such questions as how much power is required to measure elevated IOP, and how much power may be obtained with a millimeter-scale implant, are both areas of active research. A review of power transfer to integrated circuit coils, and biocompatability of operation, is provided in Appendix C.

The following section discusses the range of instrumentation, including the power supply voltage and operating power, currently applied to implantable IOP measurement.

1.3 Prior Work

Due to the fact that there are many ways to achieve the same instrumentation objective and different methods to implement power reception, wirelessly-powered pressure-sensing microsystem reports in general are highly disparate. An overview of instrumentation efforts for IOP measurement can be found in Appendix A. The following paragraphs review the most compact IOP measurement instruments reported using integrated circuit technologies:

Stengel et al, 2001 [24] was an important advancement for IOP measurement. A single integrated circuit (IC) was used for pressure measurement, data storage and calibration operations. The integrated circuit housed the capacitive sensor and measurement electronics and was fabricated in a 1.2 μ m CMOS technology. The CMOS die (2.6 mm x 2.6 mm) was flip-chip bonded with a 10.5 mm diameter coil antenna and powered wirelessly in the inductive near-field with a frequency of 13.56 MHz. A resolution of 0.73 mmHg was obtained over a pressure range² from 600–975 mmHg. The CMOS pressure sensing circuitry required 210 μ W from a 3 V supply. Details of the link performance were not published. Due to the large inductor coil, surgical implantation required replacement of the natural lens.

Irazoqui et al., 2010 [13,25] created an IOP measurement system using external micro-electro-mechanical-system (MEMS) capacitive sensors. The system used far-field radiation with communication at 2.4 GHz and power at 3.65 GHz. The far-field link was facilitated with an approximately 30 mm long whip antenna, intended to be wrapped around the pupil along the iris resulting in a 16 mm diameter loop. The system required 200 μ W at 1.5 V, with the oscillator circuits requiring 160 μ W and the reference and regulators requiring 40 μ W. A further 1.5 mW was required for intermittent data transmission. A resolution of 0.5 mmHg was obtained.

Wise et al., 2011 [14] reported a highly-integrated IOP measurement instrument combining several technologies, including an external MEMS sensor, CMOS integrated circuits, a miniature solar cell and a thin-film lithium rechargeable battery. The analog circuitry utilised a $\Sigma\Delta$ capacitance-to-digital converter requiring 7 μ W

²Typical atmospheric pressure is 760 mmHg.

at 3.6 V. Stored data was transmitted on demand with a carrier generating oscillator and amplifier consuming 46 mW. This system obtained 0.5 mmHg resolution, and was energy autonomous (the solar cell satisfied all power needs) at an unspecified lower resolution. The output was calculated from 500k single-bit output data samples from the $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator; the single-bit output data rate was 50 kHz. Without stating the instrument's exact dimensions, the report describes the volume as "cubic millimeter".

Otis et al., 2011 [15] reported the use of a novel low-power reference voltage and a MEMS capacitive pressure sensor to implement a relaxation oscillator technique to measure IOP. For the oscillator, an operating power of 1.74 μ W was required at 1.5 V. The band-gap reference and regulators required a balance of 0.56 μ W. The instrument was powered in the far-field at 2 GHz, with a 10 mm diameter printed circuit board (PCB) coil antenna. Backscatter communication was used. The instrument measured temperature and capacitance, and was capable of a pressure resolution of 0.9 mmHg.

1.3.1 Summary

Size and power requirements represent the key challenge in developing an implantable IOP measurement instrument. Where wireless power transfer is used, such power must not expose the patient to additional health concerns.

While the earliest work [24] transferred power inductively at 13.56 MHz to a 10.5 mm diameter antenna coil, it did not report radio-frequency (RF) energy exposure levels. The far-field power link reported in [13, 25] met the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) occupational RF energy exposure levels at 3.65 GHz, but ignored eye-specific health research showing well verified development of hot spots in eye tissue above 600 MHz [42–44]. Tissue radiation exposure was calculated at 2.6 mW/cm² in [15], lower than than the permissible level of 6.6 mW/cm² at 2 GHz, but this report also ignored the development of hot spots above 600 MHz. In [14], active power transfer was eliminated completely resulting in a compact solar powered instrument. This technique, however, necessitated a communication link that required 46 mW power consumption at the implant; the health impact of thermal transfer from this communication, and the need for eventual battery replacement were not addressed.

Reports reviewed above are summarised below in Table 1.1. While voltage and power levels have decreased since 2001, levels remain relatively high compared to advances in analog circuit design at low-voltage and low-power.

Work	Supply (V)	Power (µW)	Time (s)	Energy	Resolution (mmHg)	Instrument Size
[24]	3.00	210	n/a	n/a	0.7	ø10.5 mm
[13, 25]	1.50	160	0.001	$0.16 \ \mu J$	0.5	ø16 mm
[14]	3.60	7	10	$70 \ \mu J$	0.5	$pprox 1 \text{ mm}^3$
[15]	1.50	1.74	n/a	n/a μ J	0.9	ø10 mm

Table 1.1: Tabulated summary of reported IOP measurement systems sensing circuitry. Power reported in [24] is for full system rather than sensing circuitry alone.

1.4 Overview of Thesis

This research envisions the possibility of a monolithic, fully-integrated IOP measurement instrument suitable for use with RFID-style wireless-power transfer to a millimeter-scale IC coil, as shown in Fig. 1.3. For the purposes of this project, it is estimated that biocompatable wireless-power transfer at roughly 450 MHz to a millimeter-scale coil inductor will provide only a few μ W to the IOP measurement implant circuitry. This dissertation addresses the development of ultra low-voltage, low-power pressure sensing circuitry for the application.

The document proceeds as follows. Chapter 2 reviews pressure-sensing and lowpower data-conversion. Chapter 3 describes the system-level design of a capacitanceto-digital converter using $\Sigma\Delta$ modulation. The low-voltage, low-power circuit-level design of the modulator is presented in Chapter 4. Experimental results are given in Chapter 5. Conclusions and future work are described in Chapter 6.



Figure 1.3: Block diagram of a minimalistic IOP measurement instrument including an integrated circuit coil, a voltage multiplying rectifier and low-voltage, low-power pressure sensing circuitry.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE SURVEY

In the last chapter, IOP measurement for monitoring abnormal pressures associated with glaucoma disease was described. This Chapter presents a literature review for circuit techniques for pressure sensing and low-voltage, low-power data conversion.

2.1 Instrument Sensing Needs

In a healthy eye, pressure is physiologically regulated at approximately 10–20 mmHg above ambient atmospheric levels; in a diseased eye, pressure can reach up to 50 mmHg above ambient [16, 17]. Risk factors and indicators for disease development include diurnal pressure variation and average pressures obtained over several days [18], neither of which are obtained by infrequent measurement in a clinical setting. Resolution of the pressure to at least 2 mmHg is desired; pressure variations

of 2 mmHg is sufficient for disease research and drug compliance monitoring [45]. The industry-standard IOP measurement technique, Goldmann applanation tonometry, is subject to error from corneal thickness and elasticity variation and other effects [46] and has been shown to have errors as large as 4 mmHg [20]. Detection of approximately 2 mmHg over a 50 mmHg range corresponds to approximately 5 bits of resolution. With sampling desired at an hourly or sub-hourly rate, the pressure variation measurement is essentially a DC signal.

2.1.1 Sensor Selection

While the required pressure resolution of 2 mmHg over a range of 50 mmHg is relatively low, the actual resolution of the circuitry depends on the sensitivity of the sensor¹ used. There are two forms of pressure sensing elements commonly implemented in semiconductor, resistive variation sensors (with piezoresistive response) and capacitive variation sensors.

Piezoresistive sensors work by strain mechanisms which vary the likelihood of electrons to be raised into the conduction band and varies conductive carrier mobility. Capacitive sensors vary the capacitance by controlling the distance of two conductors, typically through deflection of a conductive membrane. Because the response is proportional to deflection, rather than variation of carrier number and mobility due to deflection-induced stress, capacitive pressure transducers are roughly an order of magnitude more sensitive than similarly constructed piezoresistive devices [47–51]. In addition, peak sensitivity of piezoresistive sensors results in relatively

¹As the output variation is already an electrical quantity, a capacitor transducer is also a capacitive sensor. In the literature, both terms may be used. In this document the term sensor will apply to the transducer.

low (10's k Ω) impedance which necessitates a large quiescent operating currents. Since the capacitive transducer requires no quiescent current, capacitive pressuresensing circuits can require less power compared to piezoresistive pressure-sensing circuits. In addition, capacitive sensors have the advantage of better temperature stability, less drift and lower sensitivity to packaging stress [52]. The primary disadvantage of capacitive sensors is the increased complexity in the sensor readout electronics.

2.2 Capacitance Measurement

The first thing a capacitive sensor readout circuit must do is to convert the naturally high output-impedance of a capacitor to a measurand with a low output-impedance. Traditionally this is accomplished with a capacitance to voltage C/V converter circuit.

Figure 2.1 shows methods to convert capacitance to voltage. A capacitance-tovoltage conversion (C/V) can be obtained using switched-capacitor (SC) circuits [53– 56]. Alternatively, C/V conversion can be accomplished more simply by obtaining a buffered version of a capacitively divided voltage using the a floating gate method [57], or by tracking the voltage of a charging or discharging capacitor. In the former case, two distinct input voltages can determine the capacitive ratio. In the latter case, a variable capacitance can be determined in many ways: controlled timing and end-of-cycle voltage measurement, or differential voltage measurement between a fixed and variable capacitor [24, 58].

In a C/V conversion stage, the accuracy of the conversion is limited by the analog circuitry. With a SC implementation of a C/V conversion stage, analog
circuit error-correction techniques such as correlated double sampling (CDS) can be applied. Correlated double sampling is a technique commonly used in SC circuits to reduce amplifier offset and low-frequency noise. The technique operates by sampling amplifier offset during a clock phase when the amplifier is not in use, and then subtracting this value at a later time. Because offset and low-frequency noise have longer time constants than typical system sampling frequencies, there is a high correlation between the previously sampled offset and the offset at the time of removal [59]. In addition, SC C/V conversion stages can be implemented with stray-insensitive circuit structures. Stray insensitive SC circuit structures are robust to voltage-dependent stray capacitance at the front-end [53].

As a alternative to C/V conversion, a capacitance-to-current (C/I) circuit can be used. This can be constructed easily by placing a variable capacitor at the output of a voltage buffer tracking a charge/discharge voltage from a reference capacitor [60]; the current of the variable capacitor is then proportional to the capacitor ratio. For data storage or transmission, the output of the C/V (or C/I) circuit must be processed to either a digital or a quasi-digital output, such as PWM or pulse-frequency-modulation (PFM).

Direct conversion from capacitance-to-frequency (C/F) is also possible [58, 61–64]. As it is usually implemented with a relaxation oscillator, this technique has the advantage of simplicity but is well known to be sensitive to analog circuit parameters [65]. Depending on the implementation, relaxation oscillators can also be sensitive to stray capacitance, power supply and temperature. To reduce sensitivity to power supply, temperature and other influences, a differential approach is often used



Figure 2.1: Various forms of converting a capacitance to a low output-impedance measurand, including: a) a capacitive divider with voltage buffer (a voltage follower is shown); b) a variable capacitor charged with a fixed reference current where the output of the comparator provides a pulse width modulated PWM signal (reset of the capacitor is required); c) an implementation of a C/I converter where the charging current I_{out} is dependent on the variable capacitor; c) a SC C/V converter where the output $V_{out} = V_{ref}C_1/C_2$ is available at the end of the clock phase ϕ_2 .

where the analog circuit parameter, such as current, is used to charge both a sensor and reference capacitance allowing the variation to cancel as the difference signal is observed. Stray insensitive SC based oscillators have been used to improve the performance of C/F conversion [66, 67]. A relaxation oscillator C/F readout circuit has been implemented with a SC C/V conversion stage, followed by a voltage-input relaxation oscillator, allowing for both robustness to stray capacitance and front-end error correction possible with SC circuits [68].

Limitations Circuit error at the C/V (or C/I) conversion stage is often the limiting factor in obtaining high-accuracy capacitance measurement. Even the simplest implementation of a voltage buffer, a single MOS transistor configured as a voltage follower, may contribute to error due to variation in threshold voltage and channel length modulation [57, 60, 69]. In SC circuitry, switch thermal-noise, clock-feedthrough and charge-injection as well as amplifier thermal noise can all adversely impact performance. With off-chip capacitive sensors, readout circuitry is subject to error due to stray capacitance. Readout circuits that use counting methods with a higher frequency clock face additional resolution limits due to limited clock frequency and accuracy.

Observation of accuracy limitations due to analog circuit error lead to the use of a SC $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator for the measurement of capacitive ratio [70,71], and also for capacitive-sensor readout circuitry [72]. The $\Sigma\Delta$ technique is well known to be robust to analog circuit impairment and is commonly used for high accuracy analog-to-digital conversion (ADC). Using a stray-insensitive switched-capacitor implementation, the modulator front-end is easily suited for use with a capacitive sensor. The $\Sigma\Delta$ technique is now commonly used in capacitive readout circuits [54,71–78] as a capacitance-to-digital (C/D) converter.

In addition to the $\Sigma\Delta$ converter, the successive-approximation-register (SAR) data converter has been used as a C/D converter by incorporating the capacitive sensor into a charge re-balancing (CR) front-end using a SC feedback digital-to-analog converter (DAC) [79, 80].

2.3 Low Power Data Conversion & Sensing

Both the SAR and the $\Sigma\Delta$ technique, as well as the lesser used cyclic converter technique, are well known for low-power operation and have been applied in biomedical sensing applications. In some cases, system-level constraints of an application can be used to determine the particular converter type; applications with a large number of multiplexed inputs, for instance, may choose the SAR topology to avoid $\Sigma\Delta$ decimation filter delay.

While there is general understanding of the overlap in application-space of various forms of A/D conversion (i.e. both SAR and $\Sigma\Delta$ are suitable to low-power, low-frequency applications), there is little research on the differences between the conversion techniques within the overlap space. One report from a prominent researcher in the field of SC circuits studied the power effectiveness between the SAR, Cyclic and $\Sigma\Delta$ converters implemented in SC circuitry and specifically applied to low-power capacitive-sensor readout circuits; it was found that, despite the need for oversampling, the $\Sigma\Delta$ technique has the highest power efficiency overall² [81]. No related reports were found.

²The analysis was completed on the analog circuitry along, without consideration of the digital filter power requirements.

The work reported in [81] was follow-up research after a SAR ADC had been converted for use as CDC. The capacitive sensor was incorporated into the SAR ADC as the MSB capacitor. Reported difficulties included the high parasitic capacitance of the MEMS sensor and overall reduction of capacitor matching in the SAR structure. Due to these difficulties, the resolution of the CDC system (comprised of the ADC plus MEMS capacitive sensor) was two bits lower than the resolution of the SAR ADC alone [82].

2.3.1 Low-power Reports

A survey into reported work shows there are several recent reports of low-power ADC's and capacitive readout circuits:

Low-power ADC's in the biomedical range of a few Hz to a few kHz, frequently use either the SAR or the $\Sigma\Delta$ conversion technique.

For an inductively-coupled wirelessly-powered human-body sensor system, a 10 bit SAR suitable for operation on a 50 kHz bandwidth was reported to consume 2.2 μ W from a 1.7 V supply [83]. For neural sensing, an adaptive resolution SAR using a 50 kHz bandwidth was reported to consume between 0.23 μ W to 0.90 μ W from 1.2 V for 3-8 bit resolution [84]. Using MOS transistors working in weak-inversion, a second-order SC $\Sigma\Delta$ data converter applied to the biomedical signal range of 25 Hz, obtained 66 dB (11 bits) resolution consuming 0.14 μ W from a 1.2 V supply [85]. For a pacemaker application with a bandwidth of 120 Hz, a third-order SC $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator using subthreshold inverters for operational transconductance amplifiers was reported with a resolution of 72 dB (12 bits) consuming 0.73 μ W

from a 1.5 V supply [86]. Also using subthreshold inverter amplifiers in a SC $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator, 56 dB (9.2 bits) resolution for 100 kHz bandwidth was reported using 0.8 μ W from a 1 V supply [87].

Low-power capacitive readout circuits for the purpose of biomedical sensing applications, are often reported as part of wirelessly-powered system designs. Power consumption and system design are driven by the needs of the application.

Using an SC C/V stage followed by an 11-bit cyclic ADC, a capacitive readout circuit designed for wireless monitoring of mouse blood pressure was recently reported with a resolution of 0.1 mmHg and a power consumption of 18 μ W from a 2 V supply [88, 89]. The ADC data rate was 2 kS/s and the sensor capacitance had a nominal value of 2 pF with a sensitivity of 0.7 fF/mmHg. This sensitivity required the circuit resolution to better than 70 aF for 0.1 mmHg resolution. The C/V converter used CDS to reduce front-end circuit error and noise. With 18 μ W operation and 2 kS/s, the measurement cycle is 0.5 ms with 9 nJ per conversion.

Several of the lowest power capacitive readout circuits are reported for application in IOP measurement. The capacitive readout circuitry for the IOP measurement system reported in 2011 [14], used a single-order $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator based on SC current-steering. Single bit output was available at a rate of 50 kS/s and the power consumption was 7 μ W from a 3.6 V supply. The measurement was ratiometric, comparing the variable capacitor to a fixed capacitance, which offered reduced sensitivity to clock and power supply variation. The IOP measurement reported in 2010 [13], uses a PWM technique. Two matched nano-amp current sources are used to charge a MEMS sensor capacitor and a reference capacitance. The voltage at each charged capacitor is used to trip a schmitt trigger; the time between the two trigger events is used to form a variable pulse width which is then measured by counting with a higher frequency clock. The nominal value of the capacitive sensor is 5.3 pF and the circuitry power consumption was 160 μ W operating power. While this was a high operating power, the measurement cycle was reportedly 1-millisecond resulting in an energy consumption of only 160 nJ for the measurement operation.

RFID-suitable sensor tags for environmental monitoring has produced several low-power wireless systems reports³. The systems have traditionally been used for monitoring temperature [90–95], but recent reports have included more sophisticated circuitry such as a low-noise chopper-stabilized amplifier together with an 8-bit SAR ADC intended for biosignal amplification [96]. For capacitive sensing, an RFID ready sensor tag has been reported with a second-order SC $\Sigma\Delta$ readout circuit [97]. The modulator achieved 81.9 dB (13.65 bits) consuming 11.8 μ W at 1.2 V. A lower resolution of 11.2 bits was obtained at 0.8 V, power consumption at this voltage was not reported. The capacitive sensor had a nominal value of 3 pF with ±1.5 pF variation. Also for RFID systems, a 12 bit SAR operating with with 6.25 kS/s was reported using 0.85 μ W from a 1.2 V supply [98].

2.3.2 Application and Comparison

This section discusses low-power, low-frequency capacitive sensing, describes the commonly used ADC figure of merit (FOM) and provides a tabulation of low-power, low-frequency ADC reports.

³RFID suitable sensor tags are communication ready using off-the-shelf commercial RFID readers and often have unique identification numbers to be implemented in clusters.

Application Particular to biomedical sensing is the low-frequency range of the signal. The frequency range of common physiological signals is below 10 kHz and many applications exist within the frequency range of 0 - 100 Hz [99].

Low-power capacitive sensing circuitry is diverse and the implementation often depends on system-level constraints. Performance and power requirements depend strongly on the application and the signal characteristics, including the signal bandwidth, often making direct comparisons difficult. Further, when the rate of conversion is very low, a significant portion of the power consumption can arise from static, or leakage, current. At 10 kHz switching, for instance, leakage current on a near minimum sized inverter with a fan out of four can exceed 50% of the total power consumption [100].

As previously discussed, the two structures most commonly used for lowfrequency data conversion are the SAR and the $\Sigma\Delta$. These techniques both require several operational cycles more than the Nyquist rate of operations, hence their suitability and frequent use in conversion of low-frequency signals. Power and voltage within low-power SC $\Sigma\Delta$ modulation has been reduced by the use of low-power subthreshold inverter amplifiers. The subthreshold inverter used as a dynamically-biased amplifier was researched during the early development of switched-capacitor circuits in the 1980's [101–103]. At the time of writing, this technique had not yet been applied to capacitive sensing.

ADC Figure of Merit A commonly used figure of merit (FOM) for analog to digital conversion is a function of the power, bandwidth (BW) and effective number

of bits (ENOB) as follows,

$$FOM = \frac{Power}{2 \times BW \times 2^{ENOB}}.$$
(2.1)

This FOM has been widely applied in the comparison of ADC performance. However, obtaining an additional bit requires an incremental amount of power that depends on the architecture which means the FOM should be applied with caution. The FOM can be used reliably to compare similar architectures, or similar resolutions only.

As previously stated, when the rate of conversion is very low, a significant portion of the power consumption can arise from static, or leakage, current making the FOM less applicable to applications with widely ranging frequency of operations. Lowpower, low-frequency ADC represents a diversion from the more well-researched consumer-use data converter applications, such as audio converters. Within lowfrequency ADC are instrumentation applications, but these are often are very high (16 - 24 bit) resolution which differ from biomedical sensing needs. Table 2.3.2 shows comparative data on reports of analog to digital converters designed for low-frequency applications.

Report	[104]	[82]	[85]	[99]	[86]	[100]
Year	2003	2006	2008	2009	2009	2012
Technology [µm]	0.18	0.8	0.5	0.35	0.35	0.13
Voltage [V]	0.5	2.5	1.2	1	1.5	1 & 0.4
Power $[\mu W]$	0.85	3	0.140	0.23	0.73	0.053
Architecture	SAR	SAR	$\Sigma\Delta$	SAR	$\Sigma\Delta$	SAR
Data Rate kS/s	4.1	0.8	0.05	1	0.24	1
Signal BW [Hz]	2000	400	25	500	120	500
SNDR [dB]	43.3	56	61	63	65	56
FOM [pJ/step]	1.8	7.2	2.7	0.2	2.1	0.095

Table 2.1: Low-power, low-frequency analog-to-digital converters. The data rate shows rate of full resolution output for SAR and $\Sigma\Delta$. The reported $\Sigma\Delta$ modulators did not include power requirements for digital filtering.

2.4 Summary

The challenge of low-power capacitive readout circuitry is similar to the challenge of low-power ADC design. For low-power ADC, as well as for capacitive readout circuitry, SC circuits have gained popularity. Implementation with SC circuitry enables front-end analog circuit error-correction for increased accuracy. Research into the power differences between the SAR, Cyclic and $\Sigma\Delta$ converters implemented in SC circuitry for the specific purpose of low-power capacitive sensor readout circuits, has shown the $\Sigma\Delta$ technique has the highest power efficiency overall⁴, despite the need for oversampling [81].

From the literature, there are several circuit methods that can be applied toward development of a low power capacitive readout circuit. With both low-power and low-voltage operation possible, use of subthreshold inverters is of interest. Use of

⁴The analysis was completed on the analog circuitry along, without consideration of the digital filter power requirements.

a subthreshold inverter amplifier has recently come back into research interest for low-power data conversion.

For a wirelessly-powered IOP measurement instrument, low-power consumption *and* low-voltage operation are both important. Also relevant is the total energy per conversion. The energy per conversion in recent IOP measurement reports varied from 160 nJ to 70 μ J; the time taken for these measurements was 1 ms and 10 s at power levels of 160 μ W and 7 μ W respectively. To achieve an operating power suitable to a millimeter-scale IC coil antenna, a measurement time of several seconds and a higher energy per conversion may be an acceptable trade-off.

CHAPTER 3

CAPACITANCE TO DIGITAL CONVERTER DESIGN

This Chapter describes the system-level design of the capacitance-to-digital converter. First, the options for sensing circuit architecture are discussed in Sec. 3.1. Next, the commercial capacitive sensor purchased for system integration is described in Sec. 3.2. The second-order $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator design used in the capacitance-to-digital converter is described in Sec. 3.3. The charge-sensing input stage of the modulator is described in more detail in Sec. 3.4 and the expected circuit performance is discussed in Sec. 3.5.

3.1 Sensing Circuit Architecture

As discussed in the previous chapter, capacitive sensing can encompass several different circuit techniques and implementations including direct conversion at the front-end of a switched-capacitor analog-to-digital converter. Analog-to-digital converters suitable to low-power, low-frequency operation are the SAR and $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator. These converter forms require several internal cycles for each conversion, and have been shown to be implemented with very low-power. The $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator is well known to be robust to operation with with low-gain amplifiers [105]. Low-gain amplifiers are anticipated with the low-voltage operation desired for this project. In addition, the single-bit $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator is suitable for the purpose of implantation with single-bit data transferred out of the wireless implant; the single-bit data stream of the $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator alleviates need for data package management, reducing the overall ancillary circuit support. In the case of capacitive sensing using switchedcapacitor circuits, research has indicated that, despite the need for oversampling, the $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator is more power efficient than the SAR [81]. For these reasons, the $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator was chosen for the project. At the time of this decision and design of the modulator, the $\Sigma\Delta$ modulation technique had not yet been applied to IOP measurement. To reduce the likelihood of so called "dead zones" where the modulator is unresponsive to changes in DC inputs, second-order modulation was selected; first order modulators with DC (inactive) inputs are most highly prone to dead zones [106, 107]. The likelihood of dead-zones is increased with leaky integrators which can result from the use of low-gain amplifiers as is anticipated in this project.

3.2 Commercial MEMS Capacitive Sensor

Fully-integrated CMOS capacitive pressure sensors have been demonstrated in other reports [24], but because of technology constraints they are unavailable for this project. A commercial capacitive MEMS pressure sensor (E1.3N, microFAB Bremen) has been purchased for the system development. The sensor physical dimensions are (1.2 mm x 0.6 mm) in length and width respectively, including bond-pad area for wire bonding. The sensor has a height of 0.5 mm. At atmospheric pressure, the nominal static capacitance is approximately 6 pF. The sensitivity in the pressure range of interest is 0.6 fF/mmHg. To observe pressure changes of 2 mmHg, it is required to resolve 1.2 fF. The full-scale sensor output response for approximately 50 mmHg applied pressure difference is 30 fF.

3.3 Capacitive Sensing $\Sigma \Delta$ **Modulation**

This section describes the capacitive-to-digital converter $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator. The general operation of a second-order $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator is described in Appendix D. A single-bit $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator loop attenuates the in-band contribution of large quantization errors at the comparator. Closed-loop feedback of a $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator is constructed with integrators and the loop is well known to be very robust to low-gain amplifiers. For second-order modulation, increased in-band quantization noise power is less than 1 dB if the amplifier DC gain is comparable to the oversampling ratio [105].

The purpose of the $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator is to encode the DC pressure signal and minimize the impact of the quantizer noise at the receiver. While the quantizer noise is minimized by the loop noise-shaping transfer function, the modulator front-end circuit noise is transferred unattenuated to the output. The front-end circuit noise will be addressed in Chapter 4.

To modify a $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator to be a capacitive-sensor the front-end capacitors, normally switched to a varying voltage, may be replaced with sensor capacitances switched to a fixed voltage [72]. While the modulator loop itself generally does not require modification, some structures have modified the loop for the purpose. A $\Sigma\Delta$ modulation for high accuracy on-chip capacitive ratio testing was reported in [70] where a bilinear stage [108] was used at the second integrator.



Figure 3.1: Second-order $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator modified with a bilinear transform at the second integrator.

The use of the bilinear stage in [70] avoids insertion of the feedback voltage into the second integrator. In this project, the reference-feedback voltage is expected to be the power-supply voltage. Front-end sampling only of the feedback-voltage allows the loop to avoid sampling variations if the power-supply voltage is varying; the sampled input-charge is taken at similar time-points, other variations due to power-supply variation are introduced solely through second-order effects.

3.3.1 Improvements for Power Reduction

While the capacitive sensing modulator in [70] is capable of determining a capacitiveratio to high-accuracy, the front-end design is such that charge from the full inputcapacitance is sampled and introduced to the modulator. As shown in Fig. 3.2, the input capacitors C_1 and C_2 are compared with each other, but each introduced full sampled charge to the integrator. To maintain the properties of the loop, the integration capacitance is required to be $1/a_1$ times the larger of C_1 , or C_2 or $1/a_1(C_1+C_2)$ if the input capacitors are similar in size. With large sensor capacitors, this would produce a large power consumption at the first integrator.

To reduce power consumption, the loop was modified so that only a difference charge is introduced to the modulator. Capacitors C_1 and C_2 are sampled to the reference voltage, V_{ref} , but only the differential charge is introduced into the summing junction as shown in Fig. 3.3. This charge is balanced with the introduction of a third capacitor for sampling, C_s . The sampling capacitor C_s supports the feedback signal path and is designed to exceed the expected span of the difference capacitance $\Delta \mathbf{C} = (C_1 - C_2)$ where C_1 is the sensor capacitor and $C_2 \approx C_1$ is a reference capacitor. In general, the sensitivity of capacitive sensors is low and the static capacitance far exceeds the dynamic capacitance, $\Delta C \ll C_{1,2}$. Using the differential approach, the modulator circuitry may be designed to be responsive to the scale of the dynamic capacitance is required to be $\frac{1}{a_1}C_s$ where $C_s > \Delta C$ to ensure that the modulator input range is not exceeded.



Figure 3.2: $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator used for capacitive-ratio measurement. Capacitors C_1 and C_2 are compared to each other with the difference between the two capacitors represented in the output bit-stream average value.



Figure 3.3: Modified low-power $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator used for capacitive sensing. The difference capacitance $\Delta C = C_1 - C_2$ is compared to C_s and result is represented in output bit-stream average value. The capacitor C_s is required to span the range of the expected difference capacitance and C_{int1} is scaled to C_s . The capacitor C_s can be made much smaller than either C_1 or C_2 which represent the static capacitance of the sensor.

3.3.2 Integrator Gain Scaling

The modulator loop fully implemented with capacitive-ratio gain scaling is shown Figure 3.4. This section will determine the capacitive ratio relations which control the loop equations and the integrator gain scaling.



Figure 3.4: Modified modulator shown with capacitor scaling elements.

The first integrator takes charge from the input capacitor, C_s , and the difference capacitance between the reference and varying capacitors, $\Delta C = (C_1 - C_2)$ as follows,

$$v_{o1}(n+1) - v_{o1}(n) = y(n)V_{ref}\frac{C_s}{C_{int1}} + V_{ref}\frac{\Delta C(n)}{C_{int1}},$$
(3.1)

where $v_{o1}(n)$ is the output sample of the first integrator and y(n) is the output sample of the modulator taken at the n^{th} clock cycle. The value y = 0 reverses the charge sampling polarity compared with the value y = 1. The term $y(n)V_{ref}$ is used for the analysis. Without loss of generality, let $V_{ref} = 1$ for the analysis.

The second integrator takes charge from both the previously integrated value of

 v_{o1} , with the use of a sample and hold, and the current value,

$$v_{o2}(n+1) - v_{o2}(n) = \frac{C4}{C_{int2}}v_{o1}(n) - \frac{C3}{C_{int2}}v_{o1}(n+1)$$
(3.2)

This enables the second integrator to obtain content from both the input signal and output y, as is required for stable modulation. Substituting Eq. 3.1 into Eq. 3.2 and simplifying,

$$v_{o2}(n+1) - v_{o2}(n) = \left[\frac{C_4}{C_{int2}} - \frac{C_3}{C_{int2}}\right] v_{o1}(n) - \frac{C_3}{C_{int2}} \left[y(n)\frac{C_s}{C_{int1}} + \frac{\Delta C(n)}{C_{int1}}\right].$$
(3.3)

The z-transform of the second integrator output is,

$$V_{o2}(z) = \frac{1}{z-1} \left[\left(\frac{C_4}{C_{int2}} - \frac{C_3}{C_{int2}} \right) V_{o1}(z) - \frac{C_3 C_s}{C_{int2} C_{int1}} Y(z) - \frac{C_3}{C_{int2}} \frac{\Delta C(z)}{C_{int1}} \right].$$
(3.4)

And the z-transform of the first integrator is,

$$[v_{o1}(n+1) - v_{o1}(n)] \to V_{o1}(z) = \frac{1}{z-1} \left[Y(z) \frac{C_s}{C_{int1}} + \frac{\Delta C(z)}{C_{int1}} \right].$$
 (3.5)

Rewriting Eq. 3.4 produces,

$$V_{o2}(z) = \left[\frac{C_4 - C_3}{C_{int2}} \frac{1}{(z-1)^2} - \frac{C_3}{C_{int2}} \frac{1}{(z-1)}\right] \frac{\Delta C}{C_{int1}} \\ + \left[\frac{(C_4 - C_3)}{C_{int2}} \frac{C_s}{C_{int1}} \frac{1}{(z-1)^2} - \frac{C_3 C_s}{C_{int2} C_{int1}} \frac{1}{(z-1)}\right] Y(z)$$
(3.6)

The modulated output Y(z) can be expressed as the output of the second integrator

plus the comparator quantization noise,

$$Y(z) = V_{o2}(z) + E(z)$$
(3.7)

where E(z) is the transformed quantization error. Thus,

$$Y(z) = \left[\frac{C_4 - C_3}{C_{int2}(z-1)^2} - \frac{C_3}{C_{int2}}\frac{1}{(z-1)}\right]\frac{\Delta C}{C_{int1}} \\ + \left[\frac{(C_4 - C_3)C_s}{C_{int2}C_{int1}(z-1)^2} - \frac{C_3C_s}{C_{int2}C_{int1}}\frac{1}{(z-1)}\right]Y(z) \\ + E(z).$$
(3.8)

This can be further simplified to:

LHS =
$$Y\left((z-1)^2 - \left(\frac{C_4 - C_3}{C_{int2}}\right)\frac{C_s}{C_{int1}} + \frac{C_3C_s}{C_{int2}C_{int1}}(z-1)\right)$$

RHS = $\left[\frac{C_4 - C_3}{C_{int2}} - \frac{C_3}{C_{int2}}(z-1)\right]\frac{\Delta C}{C_{int1}} + E(z)(z-1)^2.$ (3.9)

Differentiation of the quantization noise is obtained by setting the LHS equal to only a delay as follows,

$$\left(z^2 + z\left(\frac{C_3C_s}{C_{int2}C_{int1}} - 2\right) + \left(1 - \frac{C_s}{C_{int1}}\frac{C_4}{C_{int2}}\right)\right) = z^2.$$
 (3.10)

The capacitive ratio C_s/C_{int1} is the gain of the first integrator to the input sampling capacitor, C_s . The ratio C_s/C_{int1} is now expressed as k_1 . Ratios C_3/C_{int2} and C_4/C_{int2} , the gains of the second integrator to capacitors C_3 and C_4 respectively, are expressed as k_3 and k_4 . Eq.3.10 represents an under specified system of two

equations with three unknowns,

$$k_3k_1 = 2$$
 (3.11)

$$k_1 k_4 = 1. (3.12)$$

In this system, one unknown may be freely chosen. The first integrator gain is set to $k_1 = 1/2$ which provides a reasonable integration range. This sets the following values for all integrator gains:

$$k_1 = 1/2 \tag{3.13}$$

$$k_3 = 4$$
 (3.14)

$$k_4 = 2.$$
 (3.15)

Note that while the ratio of k_3 to k_4 is important, the actual gain at the second integrator is unimportant as it is followed by a single bit comparator. Because the single bit comparator is a highly non-linear element with dynamic gain, the integrator proceeding it can have arbitrary gain. For low power and reduced integrator output swings, the gain values at the second integrator have been reduced: k_3 and k_4 are set to 1/2 and 1/4 respectively which represent 1/8th of the gain values determined above.

With the selected gain values, the modulated output can be expressed as,

$$Y(z) = \left(\frac{2-4z}{z^2}\right)\frac{\Delta C}{C_{int1}} + \left(\frac{z-1}{z}\right)^2 E(z)$$
(3.16)

The noise transfer function (NTF) is second order differentiation and the signal

transfer function (STF) is expressed by,

$$STF(z) = 2z^{-2} - 4z^{-1}.$$
 (3.17)

Using the complex number representation of z,

$$STF(z) = 2 \left[\cos(2 \times 2\pi f/f_s) - j \sin(2 \times 2\pi f/f_s) \right] - 4 \left[\cos(2\pi f/f_s) - \sin(2\pi f/f_s) \right].$$
(3.18)

For frequencies f much lower than the sampling frequency,

$$STF(z) = 2z^{-2} - 4z^{-1}$$

= 2 [1 - j4\pi f/f_s] - 4 [1 - j2\pi f/f_s]
= (2 - 4) - j (8\pi f/f_s - 8\pi f/f_s)
= -2, (3.19)

and the modulator output reduces to,

$$Y(z) = -2\frac{\Delta C}{C_{int1}} + \left(\frac{z-1}{z}\right)^2 E(z).$$
(3.20)

Because of the relation $C_s = C_{int1}/2$, the modulator output can also be stated as

$$Y(z) = -\frac{\Delta C}{C_s} + \left(\frac{z-1}{z}\right)^2 E(z).$$
(3.21)

With the appropriate filtering the differentiated quantization noise can be removed

and a measure of the variable capacitor C_2 can be obtained as follows,

$$C_2 = C_1 + C_s \times E(Y) + e$$
 (3.22)

where e represents any remaining error.

The mean value of the modulated output represents the input capacitance change. By using the sensor specifications, varying values of C_2 can be related back to changes in intraocular pressure change.

3.3.3 Simulation Results

The modulator is simulated with a full-scale AC input voltage at 4 Hz as shown in Fig. 3.5. The simulated power spectral density of modulator is shown in Figure 3.6. The PSD demonstrates 40 dB per decade noise shaping as expected from the second order modulator.

The integrator output range scales with the input signal magnitude. Histogram plots of the integrator outputs for a full scale (FS) AC input signal are shown in Figure 3.7. In the case of a full scale input signal, the first integrator output exceeds the full scale range necessitating a power supply larger than the feedback reference. Alternatively, the output range can be reduced by further decreasing the integrator output noise on the overall noise performance.

During capacitive sensing the differential capacitance $\Delta C = (C_1 - C_2)$ is expected to be small compared to the sampling feedback capacitor C_s which ensures



Figure 3.5: Modulator shown in AC input test mode. The input signal is sampled on a capacitor equal in value to C_s . Integrator gain scaling capacitors are shown.



Figure 3.6: Simulated power spectral density for scaled modulator. The result is shown for a 4 Hz input signal at full-scale magnitude.



Figure 3.7: Histogram plots for integrator outputs v_{o1} (top) and v_{o2} (bottom) with FS AC input signal. The range is scaled to FS.

the modulator should experience minimal integrator output swing. Without substantial input from ΔC , the modulator is expected to oscillate between logical high and logical low. In this circumstance the integrator output range will lie between $\frac{1}{4}V_{DD}-\frac{3}{4}V_{DD}$ which leaves $\frac{1}{4}V_{DD}$ for the inverter amplifier V_{DS} . The decision was made to leave the integrator gains unchanged. As discussed in Section 3.4.1 below, the modulator feedback voltages were independently controlled, allowing for the reduction of the integrator output swing relative to the power-supply voltage.

3.4 Fully-differential Circuit Implementation

To reduce circuit level impairment, the modulator is implemented in fully-differential circuits. The fully-differential modulator is shown in Fig. 3.8. With four phase clocking, a capacitive MEMS sensor and reference MEMS capacitor pair is able to service the fully differential front end. The circuit level implementation is discussed in more detail in Chapter 4.

The MEMS capacitor and reference are used to service fully-differential circuitry with a four phase clock; the front-end sampling occurs twice during each full integration cycle so that each side may process charge from the MEMS capacitor.

3.4.1 Input Stage

This section discusses the capacitive-sensing input stage in more detail.

The capacitive-sensing input stage uses a MEMS sensor (C_2) and reference MEMS capacitor (C_1) to implement a difference-charge sampling proportional to $\Delta C = C_1 - C_2$. A simplified single-ended, first-order modulator is shown in Fig. 3.9.



Figure 3.8: Modulator shown with fully-differential circuit implementation. A MEMS sensor and fixed MEMS reference capacitance is used to service the fully-differential implementation with a four phase clock. Reference voltages are sampled only at the front-end.



Figure 3.9: Simplified single-ended, first-order, capacitive-sensing modulator with differential capacitive sampling.

The modulator equivalent input voltage, input range and polarity, offset voltage control and circuit calibration are discussed below.

Equivalent Input Voltage The discrete time integrator is non-inverting to C_1 and inverting to C_2 . If Y = 1, the integrator is inverting to C_s ; if Y = 0, the integrator is non-inverting to C_s . The integrator output is described by,

$$V_{o1} = \frac{(C_1 - C_2)}{C_{int}} V_{ref} \pm \frac{C_s}{C_{int}} V_{ref},$$
(3.23)

where the polarity of the last term depends on the value of Y. Charge into the summing junction is described by,

$$q(Y=1) = (C_1 - C_2)V_{ref} + C_s V_{ref}$$
(3.24)

$$q(Y=0) = (C_1 - C_2)V_{ref} - C_s V_{ref}.$$
(3.25)

This charge input is identical to a standard voltage input structure with feedback voltage $\pm V_{ref}$ sampled onto capacitor C_s . The equivalent input voltage is,

$$V_{in} = \frac{(C_1 - C_2)}{C_s} V_{ref}.$$
(3.26)

From this, the output of the capacitive sensing modulator is indistinguishable from that of a voltage input modulator with an input voltage described by Eq. 3.26. As it uses the same front end sampling scheme and has the same conditional charge input, the second-order modulator has the same equivalent input voltage. For fixed values

of V_{ref} and C_s , the dynamic range of the input signal is determined by the variation of $\Delta C = (C_1 - C_2)$.

Range and Polarity The modulator can process either positive or negative capacitive difference signals. The magnitude of an equivalent voltage input signal for 2 fF capacitive difference with $V_{ref} = 250$ mV and $C_s = 250$ fF is given by,

$$V_{in} = \left(\frac{2\mathrm{fF}}{250\mathrm{fF}}\right)250\mathrm{mV} = 2\mathrm{mV}.$$
(3.27)

Independent Input Voltages The reference voltages V_{refC1} and V_{refC2} are brought off-chip separately from the input sampling capacitor voltage reference V_{ref} . This allows for a voltage input test-mode and for DC offset correction in the case of sensor capacitance mismatch as discussed below.

A voltage input option replaces C_1 and C_2 with two on-chip matched capacitors, C_m with values equal to $C_{1,2}$ shown in Fig. 3.10. The equivalent input voltage then is,

$$V_{in} = \frac{(V_{refC1} - V_{refC2})C_m}{C_s} = (V_{refC1} - V_{refC2}).$$
 (3.28)

Gross mismatch in the sensor and reference capacitor, C_1 and C_2 , can be additionally be offset by an applied differential DC input voltage.

Calibration The calibration mode introduced in [70] has been implemented in the design of the capacitive sensing modulator. Calibration eliminates charge sampling from the difference capacitance $\Delta C = (C_1 - C_2)$. During calibration, charge is



Figure 3.10: Simplified first-order single-stage modulator shown with independent input voltages.

sampled on C_s only and the digital output should ideally oscillate between a logical one and zero. Accumulation of integrated charge due to non-ideal effects will cause the output to vary from the ideal value. The difference between the ideal result and the actual result during calibration can be used to remove the DC accumulation of non-ideal effects during normal operation.

3.5 Signal to Quantization Noise Ratio

Quantization noise enters the signal path at the comparator. Input referred, the noise is shaped by second-order differentiation. For second-order modulation, the in-band mean square noise power is [106]

$$E(V_{qrms}^2) \approx \left(\frac{\pi^4}{5 \times \text{OSR}^5}\right) e_{rms}^2$$
 (3.29)

where e_{rms}^2 is the mean square noise power of the comparator acting as a single-bit quantizer and OSR is the modulator oversampling ratio. Assuming an AC input signal with magnitude is described by Eq. 3.26, the signal-to-noise ratio due to quantization noise, SNR_q , is,

$$SNR_q = \frac{\left(\frac{\Delta C}{C_s} V_{ref}\right)^2 \times 5 \times \text{OSR}^5}{2 \times \pi^4 \times e_{rms}^2}.$$
(3.30)

Assuming a white-noise model with uniform distribution for the single-bit quantizer, $e_{rms}^2 = \Delta^2/12$ and $\Delta = V_{DD}$. With the reference scaled to the comparator power supply $V_{ref} = V_{DD}/2$ the SNR_q is independent of V_{DD} . A plot of the

signal to quantization noise ratio versus oversampling ratio for a capacitive input signal, $\Delta C = 2$ fF and a sampling capacitor, $C_s = 250$ fF is given in Fig. 3.11. For an oversampling ratio of 64, an SNR_q of 40 dB is possible.



Figure 3.11: Signal to quantization noise ratio, SNR_q , for $\Delta C = 2$ fF and $C_s = 250$ fF.

3.5.1 Comment on Signal to Noise Ratio

The quantization signal-to-noise ratio is typically not designed as the limiting factor in $\Sigma\Delta$ modulation. Input-referred front-end circuit noise, which transfers directly to the modulated output along with the signal, is usually the performance limiting noise source. Front-end circuit noise forms a white-noise floor which is generally higher than the shaped-quantization noise in the bandwidth of interest.

3.6 Summary

This chapter described the system-level design of the capacitance-to-digital converter. The converter was based on a $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator using a bilinear second-stage. The bilinear stage enabled front-end charge sampling only, avoiding the insertion of the feedback voltage into the modulation. The modulator loop was modified to support a differential-capacitor ($\Delta C = C_1 - C_2$) front-end structure for low-power operation. The mean-value of the modulator output is proportional to the differential capacitance, ΔC , and can be used to estimate varying capacitive change induced by pressure change. Fully-differential circuitry is used to implement the modulator, reducing circuit error. A simplified first-order, single-ended modulator was used to demonstrate the equivalent input voltage and the signal range and polarity. The signal to quantization-noise ratio was determined. Front-end circuit noise, expected to be the performance limiting factor, is discussed in the next chapter.

CHAPTER 4

LOW-VOLTAGE LOW-POWER CIRCUIT DESIGN

This Chapter describes the circuit level design of the modulator. First, the selected CMOS technology process is discussed in Sec. 4.1. Next, the inverter amplifier chosen for low-voltage, low-power circuit operation is described in Sec. 4.2. An overview of the switched-capacitor modulator implemented with the inverter amplifiers is given in Sec. 4.3. A detailed design of the modulator subcircuits is presented in Sec. 4.4. A design summary is given in Sec. 4.5 and system-level simulation results are given in Sec. 4.6. The layout-level details of the integrated circuit fabrication are provided in Sec. 4.7. The wire-bond of the integrated circuit die with the MEMS sensors is described in Sec. 4.8. Finally, a summary is given in Sec. 4.9.

4.1 CMOS Process Selection

The long-term goal of the project included wider-group work for a full monolithic implementation of a pressure sensing microsystem together with an IC inductor coil for wireless-power reception. For this reason, the modulator was implemented in the IBM 0.13 μ m CMOS technology. The IBM 0.13 μ technology provides a range of transistors for circuit design purposes as well as high-quality RF metal layers for later implementation of an IC coil inductor.

The IBM 0.13 μ m technology has three thin-oxide core-transistor N/PMOS pairs and two thick-oxide I/O-transistor N/PMOS pairs. The core-transistors are available in standard, low-power and low-threshold options. The low-power nfet (lpnfet) has approximately twice the threshold-voltage of the regular threshold transistor (nfet) and approximately 1/100 the leakage current. Leakage current is drain-source current flow which occurs by subthreshold conduction, discussed in the following sections.

The IBM 0.13 μ m technology also has well-matched metal-insulator-metal (MIM) capacitors and vertical-natural capacitors (VNCAP) which are capable of implementing very small capacitance values. Both the MIM capacitors and the VNCAP capacitors are useful in low-power SC circuits; the VNCAP can be used where capacitor values less than the minimum value of the MIM capacitor is required and where matching is a lesser concern.

4.2 Inverter Amplifier

The inverter amplifier has been used for low-voltage, low-power circuit design [86, 87]. The inverter amplifier acts as a dynamically biased amplifier and has previously been researched within the early development of SC circuits [101–103]. Due to the potential of low-voltage and extremely low-power operation, the inverter amplifier was selected for this project.

4.2.1 Subthreshold Operation

An inverter with it's input gates biased to the midpoint of the power supply has the properties of an amplifier as shown in Fig. 4.1. Assuming the transistor transcon-



Figure 4.1: Inverter showing small signal amplifier characteristics.

ductance $gm_N = gm_P = g_m$ and transistor output resistances $ro_P = ro_N = r_o$ the inverter amplifier low-frequency gain is described by

$$A_o = -g_m \times r_o. \tag{4.1}$$
And the inverter amplifier gain-bandwidth is described by,

$$GBW = \frac{g_m}{\pi C_L} \tag{4.2}$$

where C_L is the total load capacitance at the amplifier output.

Depending on the transistor region of operation, the amplifier transconductance and output resistance vary. For the strong inversion, or saturation, region the MOS transistor transconductance and output resistance follow

$$g_{m_{si}} \propto \sqrt{I_{DSQ_{si}}}$$

 $r_o \propto rac{1}{I_{DS_{si}}}$

In the weak inversion region, the MOS transistor transistor transconductance and output resistance follow

$$g_{m_{wi}} \propto I_{DSQ_{wi}}$$
 $r_o \propto \frac{1}{I_{DQ_{wi}}}$

where $I_{DQ_{si}}$ and $I_{DQ_{wi}}$ are the quiescent drain-source current in strong and weak inversion respectfully. The weak inversion region is also referred to as the subthreshold region. Strong and weak inversion will be explained later.

The general trend of the MOS transistor over the regions of strong and weak inversion are shown in Fig. 4.2. As the output-resistance is the same in either region, and the weak-inversion region provides the highest transconductance per unit current, the weak-inversion region also achieves the highest gain for the least



Figure 4.2: Amplifier operating region open-loop gain and gain-bandwidth shown versus bias current.

amount of current. While the overall transconductance is low in weak inversion (due to low current) causing a decreased GBW for a fixed capacitive load C_L , the gain per unit current is highest in weak inversion. As the operation shifts further toward lowest current operation, or deep subthreshold, the GBW is decreased but the gain remains constant.

The operation of an amplifier in a SC circuit requires high-gain (to accurately transfer charge) and sufficiently high gain-bandwidth to satisfy the closed-loop integrator time-constant for settling the charge transfer. In an amplifier which has a preset bias-current, these needs are in contradiction with each other. In the inverter amplifier, however, there is no preset amplifier bias-current. The inverter-amplifier can be used as a dynamic amplifier responding in different operating regions depending on the bias conditions applied during that phase of operation.

Within SC circuits at a clock phase when the integrator is not actively integrating, the inverter-amplifier can have a controlled gate-voltage applied. For consistency with the input sampling switches, the gate-voltage setting is typically analog ground, $V_{CM} = V_{DD}/2$ which is the reference for input charge sampling. During the clock phase when the gate-voltage is applied, the gate-voltage setting of $V_{DD}/2$ offers control of the amplifier subthreshold-current $(I_{DS_{wi}})$ and small-signal properties such as GBW and A_o . During the clock phase when the inverter amplifier responds in integration, however, the gate-voltage is floating and is influenced by the integrator capacitive feedback loop. As discussed in Sec. 4.2.3 below, the gate-voltage is boosted at the start of integration and larger drain-source current results providing the inverter-amplifier with a temporarily higher GBW. As the integration completes, the inverter amplifier gate-voltage stabilises and returns to V_{CM} . In this manner, the inverter amplifier starts the integration phase with increased GBW and ends with nominal GBW and A_o set from the gate-voltage V_{CM} . Provided the final settling is sufficient, non-linearity in settling, incurred due to a departure from amplifier linear-settling behavior, is not a concern in SC circuits.

4.2.2 Drain Current and Current Noise

The gate-voltage setting of $V_{DD}/2$ controls the amplifier current for the majority of time and largely determines the inverter-amplifier power consumption. In the weak-inversion, or subthreshold, region the drain-source current of the MOS transistor is generally described by [109]

$$I_{DS_{wi}} = (W/L)I_{Do} \exp \frac{v_{GS}}{nkT/q}$$
(4.3)

where W/L is the transistor width-length ration, v_{GS} is the gate-source voltage and kT/q is the thermal voltage. The factor n is given by,

$$n = \frac{C_{BC}}{C_{GC}} + 1 \tag{4.4}$$

where C_{BC} is the bulk-channel capacitance and C_{GC} is the gate-channel capacitance. These controlling capacitances have a large impact in subthreshold operation; because there is no effective channel, electron transport is strongly influenced by capacitances C_{BC} and C_{GC} which act on either side. These capacitances control the rate of change of current with respect to changes in gate-source voltage. Subthreshold transconductance is described by

$$g_{m_{wi}} = \frac{\partial I_{DS_{wi}}}{\partial v_{GS}} = \frac{I_{DS_{wi}}}{nkT/q}.$$
(4.5)

For the remainder of this document, the subscript for weak-inversion will be omitted in favor of the general term g_m for transconductance and the inverter-amplifier is understood to be operating in the subthreshold region.

The subthreshold region has different conduction modes which give rise to linear-behavior or saturation-behavior within the subthreshold region [110]. Saturation behavior, for instance, results in a subthreshold current with little to no dependence on the drain-source voltage; linear-behavior results in current with a linear relationship to the drain-source voltage. The current described in Eq. 4.3 assumes the transistor is operating in subthreshold-saturation [109, 110] with V_{DS} approximately equal to or greater than a few kT/q. The voltage kT/g is referred to as the thermal voltage and is equal to approximately 26 mV, thus a drain-source

voltage of roughly 100 mV is required for the transistor to have saturation behavior in subthreshold.

Subthreshold current in a MOS transistor is caused by minority-carrier diffusion in the depleted channel region under the gate. Subthreshold charge transport in an NMOS transistor is comprised of thermally-energetic electrons which originate in the source-region and make their way across the energy barrier from source to channel, then, by virtue of a locally high electron concentration, diffuse into the drain region *as well as* current generated by electrons in the drain-region crossing the drain-channel barrier and diffusing into the source-region. The energy barrier is lowest at the source, giving rise to a dominant electron transport from the source to drain; provided V_{DS} is at least equal to few kT/q, the diffusion current from the drain is negligible and the current is described well by Eq. 4.3.

White-noise associated with the current I_{DS} derive from the same processes that generate I_{DS} ; thermally excited generation and the diffusive transport which have inherent uncertainties. The white-noise of the subthreshold current can either be thought of as thermal-noise or shot-noise as these noise mechanisms are the same [111]. The noise is described by

$$\overline{I_{DS}^2} = 2qI_{DS}\Delta f \tag{4.6}$$

where q is the charge of an electron, and Δf is the bandwidth. To use the noise term in circuit design, it is convenient to express it in terms of the design parameter g_m as follows,

$$\overline{I_{DS}^2} = 2nkTg_m\Delta f \tag{4.7}$$

In a SC integrator, the inverter-amplifier thermal noise is sampled when the integrator switch opens at the completion of integration. At this time the transistor should be at the nominal bias conditions set by the gate-voltage of $V_{DD}/2$; for noise purposes, this current value should be set as low as possible. Noise sampling in the SC modulator circuit is discussed in more detail in Sec. 4.4.1.

4.2.3 Dynamic Settling Behavior

The settling behavior of the subthreshold inverter amplifiers used in the modulator is not the same as with an amplifier using a fixed-slew quiescent current. In response to a SC integrator gate-voltage glitch, the inverter amplifier provides increased charge/discharge current as shown in Fig. 4.3 which *improves* settling response. This is contrary to a standard transconductance amplifier where bias transistors can be pushed into triode and must recover in order to operate properly.

In the sample phase, ϕ_1 , of Fig. 4.3 the input capacitor, C_s , is shown sampling a zero-voltage input; in the integration phase, ϕ_2 , the inverter amplifier responds in an inverting manner to the sampling of $(V_{DD} - V_{DD}/2) = V_{DD}/2$ at C_s . Also shown in Fig. 4.3 is the inverter amplifier in a unity-gain configuration sampling onto C_h ; this will be discussed in the following section. From ϕ_2 of Fig. 4.3 at the start of integration the voltages $V_{C_s} = 0$ and $V_{C_h} = 0$ and the amplifier has not yet responded. At this time, the sampled voltage V_{DD} is transferred directly to the gates of the inverter amplifier. In response, the PMOS transistor enters cutoff and the NMOS transistor is strongly driven to balance the integration. As the integration completes, the charge is balanced and the summing junction returns to virtual ground. The current boost that occurs during the start of integration is a non-linear response to a large transient gate voltage. Charge balancing that occurs during integration returns the gate-voltage to the virtual ground value and the amplifier to linear operation where it can complete linear settling toward the final settled value. Transient settling in SC circuits does not affect accuracy provided that settling is allowed to complete to the final required settled value.



Integrate: ϕ_2 start

Figure 4.3: Inverter amplifier dynamic settling. At the start of the integration phase, ϕ_2 the amplifier has not yet responded to the sampled charge and the full voltage V_{DD} is transferred to the gates of the inverter, boosting current response in a transient manner.

4.2.4 Design Objectives

Other work [41, 86, 87] suggests operation of the inverter amplifier at the point where the gain has achieved a maximum value and where the gain-bandwidth is not substantially reduced, which is at an operating point in between the weak and strong inversion regions. This project, however, has the objectives of very low-voltage, low-power operation and very low-frequency operation is acceptable.

Figure 4.4 shows a plot of the current response vs. gate-voltage for low-power and regular NMOS transistors with the same W/L ratio. As seen on the plot, the low-power transistor enters subthreshold operation at a much higher gate-voltage than the regular transistor. In the plot shown, a nominal gate voltage of 250 mV $(V_{DD}/2)$ produces a drain-source current, I_{DS} , of roughly 5 nA; during a transient settling event, where the gate voltage would be boosted to V_{DD} , the drain-source current is dramatically increased to just over 1 μ A, an increase of over two orders of magnitude. At the start of integration, the inverter amplifier acts with a boosted current and gain-bandwidth that can be $100 \times$ larger than that obtained with the nominal gate-voltage at mid-supply. In general, in the subthreshold region of the low-power transistor, a gate-voltage increase of 100 mV is sufficient to increase the drain-source current by a $10 \times$ factor.

To benefit from the substantially reduced leakage current, inverter amplifiers for this project were implemented with low-power transistors available in the technology. Due to operation with MEMS capacitors, the inverter amplifier is subject to widely varying capacitive loads. Capacitive loading and the selection of the transistor gain-bandwidth are discussed in more detail in Sec. 4.4.7.



Figure 4.4: Simulated NMOS drain-source current vs. gate voltage. Results are shown for low-power and regular NMOS transistors of the same W/L ratio (top curve shows regular threshold transistor response). Current reduces sharply as the transistor enters the subthreshold region. For the low-power transistor operating in subthreshold, a gate-voltage increase of approximately 100 mV is sufficient to increase the drain-source current by an order of magnitude.

4.2.5 Virtual Ground

The inverter is a single-input amplifier which does not provide a virtual ground node. A poorly controlled, or absent, virtual ground node can cause significant errors in switched-capacitor circuits. Referring to the top diagram of Fig 4.5, the charge transferred to the integrating capacitor during ϕ_2 is proportional to $(V_{in} - V_A)$ where V_A is the voltage at the input node of the amplifier. The voltage V_A satisfies the following relationship,

$$V_A + V_{Cint} = -A_o(V_A - V_{offset})$$

$$V_A = A_o V_{offset} / (1 + A_o) - V_{Cint} / (1 + A_o)$$

$$V_A \approx V_{offset}$$
(4.8)

where A_o is the open-loop gain of the inverter amplifier and V_{offset} is the inverter offset voltage. Because the offset voltage varies with several factors including gate noise, the charge transfer is impaired. Cancellation of this offset voltage and establishment of a virtual ground is required.

When the inverter is in a closed-loop configuration with its input gate connected to the output voltage (phase ϕ_1 at the bottom diagram of Fig. 4.5),

$$V_o = -A_o(V_A - V_{offset}) = V_A$$
$$V_A(1 + A_o) = A_o V_{offset}$$
$$V_A \approx V_{offset}.$$
(4.9)

Sampling the offset voltage in this configuration forms the basis of constructing

a virtual ground. During ϕ_1 , the holding capacitor C_h samples and holds V_{offset} relative to analog ground ($V_{CM} = VDD/2$). During clock phase ϕ_2 the inverter loop closes around the integrating capacitor C_{int} . As discussed above, the gate voltage would be forced to the offset voltage V_{offset} . Since the offset voltage is already held on C_h , the voltage at the summing junction of the offset-corrected integrator is forced to analog ground, V_{CM} , thereby providing an error-corrected virtual ground for charge integration.



Figure 4.5: Inverter amplifier in integrator configuration with no input offset correction (top) and with input offset correction (bottom).

4.2.5.1 Correlated Double Sampling

The establishment of a virtual ground in the inverter amplifier implements correlateddouble-sampling. As was discussed in Chapter 2, correlated-double-sampling is a technique used in SC circuits to reduce amplifier offset and low-frequency noise. The technique operates by sampling amplifier offset at a phase when the amplifier is not in use, and then subtracting this value at a later time. Because offset and lowfrequency noise have longer time constants than typical system sampling frequencies, there is a high correlation between the offset sample taken and the offset at the time of removal. This technique and others are described in more detail in [59].

In this project, with low-voltage operation and without the ability to stack transistors for additional gain, an important benefit of correlated-double-sampling is an effective increase in the amplifier gain. With correlated-double-sampling, the effective value of the offset becomes V_{os}/A_o where A_o is the nominal amplifier gain, and the effective amplifier gain becomes A_o^2 [70, 112]. The gain enhancement can be understood by considering that the charge transfer is made close-to-ideal through the action of improvements to the virtual ground, as would occur were a higher gain amplifier used. This is an advantage to using switched-capacitor circuits in the low-voltage environment.

4.2.6 Output Common-mode Control

In the case of the inverter amplifier, there is no means to control the output commonmode directly at the output. The operation of the two transistors of the inverter amplifier are both fully controlled by the power-supply and gate voltages. Inverter amplifier output common-mode control is accomplished through integration of charge in the normal course of integrator operation; the integrated charge represents the control signal between the common-mode set voltage and the common-mode output voltage. First, the common-mode set voltage is sampled on two capacitors, then each integrator output is sampled against this charge. If the sum of the integrator output voltages is less (greater) than twice the set voltage, the integrator responds in an inverting manner by raising (lowering) the output voltage. By directing commonmode feedback charge into the integrator inputs, the common-mode control can operate over the entire output range of the integrator output.

4.3 Modulator Circuit Level Overview

This section provides an overview of the modulator using inverter amplifiers; later sections discuss the detailed design of the sub-circuitry.

The fully-differential modulator previously shown in Fig. 3.8 is now shown implemented with inverter amplifiers in Fig. 4.6. This section proceeds as follows. First, the inverter amplifier supporting circuitry and the pseudo-differential nature of the signal path are discussed. Next, integrator and comparator operation during different clock phases is described. Finally, the timing diagram is given for the modulator.

4.3.1 Pseudo-differential Implementation

The signal path for the modulator is not fully-differential, but rather is pseudodifferential with individual integrators supporting each side of the fully-differential signal path. Four phase clocking is used throughout in the modulator operation. The differential signal is supported with a single capacitive MEMS sensor and matched MEMS dummy capacitor at the front-end (C_1 and C_2). Front-end sampling operations are completed with clock signals, ϕ_A , ϕ_B , ϕ_C , ϕ_D as defined in Fig. 4.6. All capacitors are switched between the reference voltage and analog ground for a stray-insensitive structure.



Figure 4.6: Switched capacitor $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator designed for low-power capacitive sensing with operational transconductance amplifiers implemented with subthreshold inverters. All capacitors are switched between the reference voltage and analog ground for a stray insensitive structure. By using a four-phase clock, the fully-differential signal path is supported with a single capacitive sensor and matched dummy capacitor.

Each inverter amplifier in the modulator is supported with common-mode feedback circuitry using charge injection at the summing junction of the integrator through capacitors C_{cm} . Using common-mode control through charge injection at the summing junction removes control circuitry from the amplifier output, simplifying the circuitry and expanding the output operating range. Each inverter amplifier is also supported with offset cancellation using correlated double sampling with capacitor C_h . The inverter amplifiers are implemented with low power transistors available in the technology. The switches are implemented with regular technology transistors.

In this circuit with a pseudo-differential signal path, correlated-double-sampling also assists by ensuring that each side of the pseudo-differential path has a reliable and consistent virtual ground. The controlled setting of the virtual ground removes a source of error normally present in pseudo-differential circuits where there may be differences between the positive and negative signal paths.

4.3.2 Four Phase Clock & System Timing

This section describes the operation of the integrators and comparator during the four clock cycles. The switch-level circuit and timing diagram are shown at the end of the section.

First Integrator For the first integrator, the four-phases of the system clock are allocated for the following operations. During ϕ_1 the common-mode correction charge is integrated. During ϕ_2 , the crossed input path is integrated so that int1a responds to charge sampled on ΔC , and int1b responds to charge sampled on C_s .

During ϕ_3 the integration is switched off, the inverter closed-loop output voltage is sampled on C_h and the common-mode set voltage ($V_{CM} = V_{DD}/2$) is sampled onto the common-mode correction capacitors C_{m1} . Finally, during ϕ_4 the direct input path is integrated so that int1a responds to charge sampled on C_s , and int1bresponds to charge sampled on ΔC .

Between sampling events, appropriate changes are made to the polarity of the switches at the input sampling capacitors so that the charge injection is differential in nature to the pseudo-differential signal path.

By the end of ϕ_4 the integrator has completed integration of both the input and feedback signal in a fully-differential manner as well as completed necessary support functions such as common-mode control and sampling of the closed-loop offset.

Note that because the signal integration occurs in two different phases, ϕ_2 and ϕ_4 , the pseudo-differential common-mode output is unbalanced during ϕ_3 . During this phase, the common-mode circuit samples the common-mode set point, but does not sample the integrator outputs. The common-mode output balances to the correct value only at the end of ϕ_4 after both integrators have received charge from C_s and ΔC . After the ϕ_4 clock cycle, the circuit is able to sample the amplifier output voltages to then integrate charge to make the necessary adjustment during ϕ_1 .

Second Integrator For the second integrator, the four phases of the system clock are allocated as follows. During ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 the integration is switched off. The inverter closed-loop voltage is sampled during both ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 . During ϕ_2 the common-mode set voltage is sampled onto the common-mode correction capacitors C_{m2} . During ϕ_3 the common-mode correction charge is integrated. During ϕ_4 the sampled charge on both C_3 and C_4 is integrated. As discussed in the context of the modulator transfer function in Chapter. 3.3, the second integrator relies on having both the present and previous value of the first integrator output. For this, the output of the first integrator is sampled and held during it's valid output time ϕ_4 . During the next cycle of ϕ_3 , the previously held value is sampled onto C_4 . During the integration phase of the second integrator, ϕ_4 , charge from the previous value of the first integrator is obtained from C_4 ; charge from the current voltage of the first integrator is obtained from C_3 .

Comparator The comparator is preceded by a sample-and-hold stage for the output of the second integrator. To avoid clock glitch, the sampling action completes slightly in advance of the completion of the integration clock cycle ϕ_4 . The comparison is then activated on the falling edge of ϕ_4 .

4.3.3 Input Signal Swing

Front-end sampling at V_{refC1} , V_{refC2} and V_{ref} occurs twice during the four-phase integration cycle.

Each side of the pseudo-differential signal-path processes sampled-charge with adjusted polarity. The adjusted polarity is achieved by switching the inverting and non-inverting integration between C_1 and C_2 . For the positive signal path, the integration is non-inverting to C_1 and inverting to C_2 such that charge injected is proportional to $(C_1 - C_2)$; for the negative signal path, the integration is inverting to C_1 and non-inverting to C_2 such that the charge injected is proportional to $(C_2 - C_1)$. In this manner, the pseudo-differential circuitry processes charge proportionate to $2 \times (C_1 - C_2)$. This use of inversion to support the signal path allowed the use of two MEMS capacitive sensors (one rendered pressure-insensitive as a reference capacitor) to service the differential signal path.

In the case of pressure input, the reference voltages V_{refC1} and V_{refC2} are fixed at V_{DD} producing a differential charge injection of $(V_{DD} - V_{CM}) \times 2 \times (C_1 - C_2)$. In voltage mode, however, an AC voltage input is applied between V_{refC1} and V_{refC2} with peak values of V_{DD} and V_{SS} allowing for additional input signal swing.

In voltage mode, the charge is sampled on matched on-chip capacitors C_m . For the positive signal path, the integration is non-inverting to V_{refC1} and inverting to V_{refC2} such that charge injected is $C_m \times ((V_{refC1} - V_{CM}) - (V_{refC2} - V_{CM}))$; for the negative signal path, the integration is inverting to V_{refC1} and non-inverting to V_{refC2} such that the charge injected is $C_m \times ((V_{refC2} - V_{CM}) - (V_{refC1} - V_{CM}))$. The total differential charge is

$$q = C_m \times 2 \times ((V_{refC1} - V_{CM}) - (V_{refC2} - V_{CM}))$$
(4.10)

With $V_{refC1} = V_{DD}$ and $V_{refC2} = V_{SS} = 0$, the differential charge is given by

$$q = C_m \times 2 \times ((V_{DD} - V_{DD}/2) - (0 - V_{DD}/2))$$
(4.11)

$$= C_m \times 2 \times V_{DD} \tag{4.12}$$

In the opposite case, where $V_{refC1} = V_{SS} = 0$ and $V_{refC2} = V_{DD}$, the injected charge is $q = -C_m \times 2 \times V_{DD}$. Thus the input voltage signal swing is between $\pm 2 \times V_{DD}$ for a peak value of $2 \times V_{DD}$. Each side of the pseudo-differential signal path processes a $2 \times V_{DD}$ signal swing, leading to signal truncation at the integrators. Although C_s is slightly larger than C_m , the increased voltage signal swing will introduce increased distortion in the modulator output.

The voltage input mode of the modulator was designed for test operation only, the modulator was optimally designed to process charge proportionate to a small differential capacitance. The small signal expected from the variable charge path $\Delta C = (C_1 - C_2)$ provides the least amount of integrator accumulation. In addition, switching the variable capacitance between only two voltages provides inherent linearity. In general, however, differences between the static properties of the MEMS capacitors C_1 and C_2 will also introduce difference charge into the integration. With constant operating conditions, however, any difference charge should only result in a constant differential input offset charge. If static charge injection is large, this may interfere with proper modulator operation.

4.3.4 Modulator Timing Diagram

The modulator circuit diagram together with a timing diagram are shown in Fig. 4.7. The system clock is a positive edge detector used to control the pulsewidth and frequency of a four-phase clock generator circuit. Due to observed failures over process variation, a four-phase clock generator was implemented off-chip. Data is available after each cycle of ϕ_4 , which occurs at a rate of $f_{sys}/4$. The modulator sampling frequency is thus $f_s = f_{sys}/4$.



Figure 4.7: Modulator clocking scheme showing system clock, four-phase clocks and integrator clocks.

4.4 Modulator Subcircuit Design

This section describes the design constraints of the modulator including thermal noise considerations with a least-power design constraint, input switch settling, common-mode feedback control, capacitor charge-loss and voltage-droop, integrator settling and amplifier gain-bandwidth.

The modulator was designed with a nominal clock rate of $f_s = 1600-6400$ Hz and nominal power supply voltage of $V_{DD} = 500-600$ mV. A clock rate of $f_s = 1600$ Hz allows approximately 160 μ s pulsewidth for each of the four sampling clock phases, ϕ_1 , ϕ_2 , ϕ_3 and ϕ_4 ; a clock rate of $f_s = 6400$ Hz allows approximately 40 μ s for each of the sampling phases.

4.4.1 Thermal Noise

First, the thermal noise from the sampling switches and the inverter amplifier will be considered. Then, noise in the two phases of the integrator will then be determined. Finally, to determine a thermal noise signal-to-noise ratio (SNR), total noise power will be compared to signal power at the sampling capacitor. Where required, the input signal voltage equivalent defined in page 40 will be used.

Input Switch Input sampling occurs as shown in Fig. 4.9 shown on page 82. The input switch operates in triode with a noise-power spectral density (PSD) given by,

$$S_{vtR_{on}}(f) = 4kTR_{on} \tag{4.13}$$

in units of V^2/Hz . When attached to a sampling capacitor, C, this transistor switch on-resistance white-noise source is low pass filtered and ceases to be white noise. The mean square value of the low-pass filtered noise is given by,

$$E(V_{tR_{on}}^2) = \frac{4kTR_{on}}{4\tau}$$
(4.14)

where $\tau = R_{on}C$ is the filter time-constant $(f_{3dB_{sw}} = 1/2\pi\tau)$.

As described in Sec. 4.4.3, the switch should settle to a specified accuracy within the sampling clock phase. For sufficient input settling to occur $f_{3dB_{sw}}$ is typically larger than the sampling frequency f_s . Sampling at a frequency lower than the noise bandwidth causes aliasing. Aliasing folds down higher frequency noise into the bandwidth of sampling. Folding of high-frequency noise causes the total wide-band mean square noise given by Eq. 4.14 to be represented in within the bandwidth of sampling. Due to folding down of high-frequency noise, samples taken at f_s are highly uncorrelated and the noise can be considered very nearly white. A single sided PSD can be formed by,

$$S_{vto} = \frac{E(V_{tR_{on}}^2)}{f_s/2} = \frac{S_{vtR_{on}}/4\tau}{f_s/2} = \frac{S_{vtR_{on}}}{2\tau f_s}.$$
(4.15)

Observe that the PSD has been increased by $1/2\tau f_s$ above that from the white-noise of the switch prior to sampling. While the PSD has been increased, low-pass filtering after modulation removes much of the noise.

Inverter Amplifier The inverter amplifier has two transistors biased in subthreshold. The drain current-noise PSD of a transistor operated in subthreshold is proportional to the current and is given by [113],

$$S_{ito}(f) = 2kTg_m \tag{4.16}$$

in units of A^2/Hz . For simplification, the MOS parameter *n* is set to 1 and the current is assumed to the same in each transistor¹. The generalization is made that g_m describes the overall amplifier transconductance. Total input referred voltage noise due to channel current noise processes in the inverter amplifier is given by,

$$S_{vta} = 4\mathrm{kT}/g_m = 8\mathrm{kT}/g_m \tag{4.17}$$

in units of $V_{\rm rms}^2/{\rm Hz}.$

Sampled Noise in Integrator Configuration For convenience, the first part of the following analysis assumes a single input capacitor integrator with a two phase clock. This section uses the noise analysis technique set out in [114].

The sampling capacitor is denoted by C_s . Input sampling occurs during ϕ_1 and integration occurs during ϕ_2 . At the end of the sampling phase, the mean square value of the sampled switch noise is

$$E(V_{cs}^2)_{\phi 1_{sw}} = \frac{2 \times 4 \mathrm{kTR_{on}}}{4\tau} = \mathrm{kT/C_s}$$
 (4.18)

where $\tau = 2R_{on}C_s$ due to two transistor switches. At the end of the sampling phase, charge is held on the sampling capacitor and the integration phase begins.

At the end of the integration phase, noise results from both the sampling switch

¹This assumption is accurate when the amplifier is in not in slew.

and the amplifier and is given by [114],

$$V_{cs}(s) = \frac{V_{tnRon}(s) - V_{vta}(s)}{1 + s\tau}$$
(4.19)

where V_{tnRon} represents noise due to switch on-resistance and V_{vta} represents amplifier noise. With three transistor switches on during integration, the time-constant for the transfer function of the noise onto the sampling capacitor is given by,

$$\tau = (3R_{on} + 1/gm)C_s. \tag{4.20}$$

The mean square noise due to the on-resistance of the switches during the integration phase ϕ_2 is given by

$$E(V_{cs}^2)_{\phi_2 sw} = \frac{3 \times 4 \text{kTR}_{\text{on}}}{4\tau} = \frac{kT}{C_s} \left(\frac{1}{1+1/x}\right)$$
(4.21)

where $x = 3R_{on}gm$. Note that noise due to the input sampling switch during the sampling phase and the integration phase differ due to the number of switches and a difference in the low pass filter pole. The mean square noise from the amplifier at the end of ϕ_2 is,

$$E(V_{cs}^2)_{\phi_2 amp} = \frac{4kT/g_{m_{N,P}}}{4\tau}.$$
(4.22)

Assuming that $gm = 2 \times g_{m_{N,P}}$ as discussed in Sec. 4.2, then

$$E(V_{cs}^2)_{\phi_2 amp} = \frac{2kT}{C_s} \frac{1}{(1+x)}.$$
(4.23)

By the end of the integration phase, total noise power at the sampling capacitor from

both the sampling phase and the integration phase is given by,

$$E(V_{cs}^2)_{\phi_2+\phi_1} = \frac{\mathrm{kT}}{C_s} \left(1 + \frac{1}{1+1/x} + \frac{2}{1+x} \right) = \frac{\mathrm{kT}}{C_s} \left(2 + \frac{1}{1+x} \right).$$
(4.24)

Least Power Design For this project least power is desired. For the least power solution, the assumption is made that $x \ll 1$ (or $gm \ll 1/R_{on}$) meaning that the amplifier transconductance is minimal. The mean square voltage noise power then becomes,

$$E(V_{cs}^2) = \frac{3kT}{C_s}.$$
 (4.25)

Note that a *least noise* design is obtained from the design choice of $x \gg 1$ or, equivalently, $gm \gg 1/R_{on}$, corresponding to a large amplifier bandwidth and switch dominated noise. The design trade-off for decreased power is increased noise.

Additional Input Switches Each input switched capacitor contributes noise. This is most easily analysed with charge noise. The mean square voltage noise in Eq. 4.25 can be converted to a mean square charge noise by,

$$E(Q_{cs}^2) = 3kTC_s. \tag{4.26}$$

Ignoring the reduction in noise due to two switches instead of three during integration of the common-mode feedback control charge, the total charge noise into each integrator over a four-phase clock cycle is given by,

$$E(Q_{total}^2) = 3kT \left(C_1 + C_2 + C_s + 2 \times C_{cm1} \right).$$
(4.27)

From this, it is possible to work out the signal to noise ratio of the modulator. The single-ended peak input equivalent voltage that would be sampled on C_s was given in Eq. 3.26 and is restated here for convenience:

$$V_{in_p} = \frac{\Delta C}{C_s} (V_{DD}/2).$$

Assuming a sinusoidal input with peak value of V_{in_p} , the signal power is given by,

$$V_{in_{rms}}^2 = \frac{\left(\frac{\Delta C}{C_s}(V_{DD}/2)\right)^2}{2}.$$

The signal charge power is obtained by using the relation Q = CV,

$$Q_{in_{rms}}^2 = \frac{(\Delta C(V_{DD}/2))^2}{2}$$

The single sided noise spectrum is spread out in frequency from 0 Hz to $f_s/2$ and the in-band, mean-square noise is reduced by the oversampling ratio. The resulting thermal signal-to-noise ratio, SNR_t , is given by,

$$SNR_t = \frac{Q_{in_{rms}}^2 \times \text{OSR}}{3\text{kT}\left(C_1 + C_2 + C_s + 2 \times C_{cm1}\right)}$$
(4.28)

where $Q_{in_{rms}}^2$ is the input signal power expressed in terms of charge. Capacitors C_1 and C_2 dominate the total capacitance. Figure 4.8 shows SNR_t versus the oversampling ratio for $\Delta C = 2$ fF, $C_1 = C_2 = 6$ pF, $C_s = 250$ fF and $C_{cm1} = 100$ fF. These results indicate that a resolution of 2 fF is possible with an OSR as low as 16.



Figure 4.8: Simulated SNR_t from thermal sources versus the oversampling ratio. Results are shown as determined by the single-ended analysis of Eq. 4.28.

4.4.2 Noise Simulation

Because the noise sources are bias dependent and the noise transfer function is periodically time-varying, periodic steady-state and periodic-noise simulation is necessary to simulate the input referred noise. At the time of tape-out, however, attempts to simulation the periodic-steady-state (PSS) operation and to calculate periodic-noise at the first integrator did not converge. Since the tape-out, the first integrator has been successfully simulated for periodic-noise and the input referred noise is higher than than indicated by the prior thermal noise analysis.

4.4.2.1 Periodic Noise Simulation

The first integrator of the modulator was simulated for periodic-steady-state operation with SpectreRF using voltage-mode input with on-chip matched capacitors.

Results are shown for a 100-fold periodic-noise simulation with two different operating conditions:

 V_{DD} = 500 mV, f_s = 3200 Hz

Device	Param	Noise Contribution	% Of Total
/Iint1/I8/TNinv	id	1.58344e-05	21.98
/Iint1/I115/TNinv	id	1.54326e-05	20.88
/Iint1/I8/TPinv	id	1.51927e-05	20.23
/Iint1/I115/TPinv	id	1.48071e-05	19.22
/Iint1/I1/T1	id	9.33431e-06	7.64
/Iint1/I17/T1	id	9.16128e-06	7.36
Spot Noise Summar	y (in V/s	sqrt(Hz)) at 10 Hz	
Sorted By Noise C	ontribut	ors	

Total Input Referred Noise = 0.015581

V_{DD} = 600 mV, f_s = 6400 Hz

Device	Param	Noise Contribution	% Of Total
/Iint1/I8/TNinv	id	6.21411e-06	22.05
/Iint1/I115/TNinv	id	5.98369e-06	20.45
/Iint1/I8/TPinv	id	5.91226e-06	19.96
/Iint1/I115/TPinv	id	5.69393e-06	18.52
/Iint1/I1/T1	id	3.40699e-06	6.63
/Iint1/I17/T1	id	3.34049e-06	6.37
Spot Noise Summary (in V/sqrt	(Hz)) at 10 Hz	
Sorted By Noise Contr	ributors		
Total Input Referred	Noise = (0.000773083	

As expected, the thermal noise is dominated by the n-type and p-type transistors at the inverter amplifier, TNinv and TPinv. With a fully-differential full-scale input signal this results in a maximum SNR range of:

$$SNR_{t_{max}} = 20 \times \log_{10} \left(\frac{(1200 - 1000 \text{mV})/\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{25 \text{Hz}} \times (0.7 - 15.6) \text{mV}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}} \right) = 47 - 19 \text{dB} \quad (4.29)$$

Circuit noise is expected to be the dominant performance limitation, especially at low voltage and sampling rates. Transistors in the inverter amplifiers at the first integrator comprise the largest noise sources in the modulator. The sampled noise is highly variable with operating voltage V_{DD} and sampling frequency f_s ; over the operating range of V_{DD} = 500–600 mV and f_s = 3200- 6400 Hz, noise limited performance varied between 47–19 dB. **In Context of IOP Measurement Instrument** In the application of an IOP measurement instrument, the modulated output is expected to be highly oversampled, providing an opportunity to reduce the impact of white-noise sources. Resolution of the IOP is desired to be at least 2 mmHg, corresponding to approximately 5 bits over a full-scale pressure range of 0–50 mmHg. In the presence of noise-limited performance of the modulator circuitry, total noise may be reduced by taking a longer sample.

4.4.3 Analog Switches

To mitigate the impact of charge injection, fully-differential circuitry is used throughout the modulator and summing junction switches are opened in advance of sampling switches. To avoid excessive leakage current that can occur with low-threshold transistors, regular-threshold transistors were selected for use in all switches. To avoid increased threshold voltage that can occur from short channel effects, the transistor length was chosen to be four times the process minimum length. For reliability reasons, a minimum width that supported two contacts to the drain/source diffusion was selected. These constraints resulted in a transistor size of at least,

$$W/L_{sw} = \frac{0.8\mu \mathrm{m}}{0.48\mu \mathrm{m}}.$$
 (4.30)

Other factors to consider in the design of the analog switches include the onresistance and settling error.

In the capacitive sensing mode of the modulator, there are two input voltages in the modulator design. In this circumstance, the on-resistance linearity of the switches is not a concern provided there is full settling. The input capacitors are switched between analog signal ground at $V_{DD}/2$ and the reference at V_{DD} . While this input signal range is best processed with the PMOS transistor, full transmission gate switches are used to reduce clock feedthrough charge injection. To best minimize clock feedthrough, the PMOS and NMOS transistors are the same size.

On Resistance When a transistor is used as a switch to charge a capacitor as shown in Fig 4.9, the conductance varies over the charging period. Current in the MOS transistor channel is described generally by

$$I_{DS}(t) = \mu c_{ox}(W/L) \left[(V_{GS}(t) - V_T(t)) - V_{DS}(t)/2 \right] V_{DS}(t).$$
(4.31)

Assuming a constant threshold voltage, taking the partial derivative of I_{DS} with respect to V_{DS}

$$\partial I_{DS}(t) / \partial V_{DS}(t) = g_{ON}(t) = \mu c_{ox}(W/L) \left[(V_{GS}(t) - V_T) - V_{DS}(t) \right]$$
(4.32)

is the conductance of the MOS transistor switch as a function of the varying voltages applied to it's terminals, as well as it's physical properties. The on-resistance is the inverse of the conductance

$$R_{on} = 1/g_{on}(t) = \frac{1}{\mu c_{ox}(W/L) \left[(V_{GS}(t) - V_T) - V_{DS}(t) \right]}.$$
 (4.33)

It is necessary to consider two different cases, one when the capacitor is charging and another when the capacitor is discharging.



Figure 4.9: CMOS transmission gate circuit used to charge and discharge a capacitor.

- **Charging** From Fig. 4.9, when the input voltage $V_{in} = V_{DD}$ is larger than the voltage on the capacitor $V_{out} = V_{DD}/2$ the capacitor is charged. With a supply voltage $V_{DD} = 500 \text{ mV}$ and a nominal threshold voltage of $\approx 225 \text{ mV}$ for both transistors, the NMOS transistor is not capable of processing this voltage range. The PMOS transistor has a gate voltage of $V_{SS} = 0$ and source voltage of $V_{DD} = 500 \text{ mV}$, available at V_{in} . At the start of charging, $V_{DS} = V_{in} V_{out} \approx V_{DD}/2$ which reduces the conductance according to Eq. 4.32. At the end of the charging period, the PMOS source voltage is still $V_{DD} = 500 \text{ mV}$, but now $V_{DS} = 0$ which giving a higher conductance. Thus, when the capacitor is charging, the on-resistance of the transmission gate switch decreases.
- **Discharging** From Fig. 4.9, when the input voltage $V_{in} = V_{DD}/2$ is less than the voltage on the capacitor $V_{out} = V_{DD}$, the capacitor is discharged. Again, with a supply voltage $V_{DD} = 600 \text{ mV}$ and a nominal threshold voltage of 225 mV for both transistors, the NMOS transistor is not capable of processing this voltage range. The PMOS transistor has a gate voltage of $V_{SS} = 0$. The PMOS has a source voltage of $V_{DD} = 600 \text{ mV}$, available at V_{out} . At the start of charging $V_{DS} = V_{in} V_{out} \approx V_{DD}/2$ which reduces the conductance

according to Eq. 4.32. As the discharge occurs, the source voltage steadily decreases. At the end of the charging period, $V_{DS} = 0$ again which increases the conductance, but the source voltage is now $V_{DD}/2$ which reduces the conductance. Thus the on-resistance of the transmission gate switch does not necessarily decrease over the charging period as it did during charging.

Figures. 4.10 and 4.11 show the on-resistance of a regular threshold transmission gate switch W/L=0.8 μ m/0.48 μ m when charging and discharging a capacitor. The on-resistance is shown versus the charge or discharge progress. Results are shown for both $V_{DD} = 500$ mV and $V_{DD} = 600$ mV over the process corners, including the extreme (functional) corners. The maximum on-resistance is 550 k Ω for $V_{DD} = 500$ mV and 180 k Ω for $V_{DD} = 600$ mV.

Settling Error at Input Switches For single time-constant settling,

$$V_{out} = V_{in} \left(1 - \exp^{\frac{-\Delta t}{\tau_{R_{on}}}} \right), \tag{4.34}$$

where Δt is the time available in the sampling phase and $\tau_{R_{on}}$ is the time-constant formed by the sampling capacitor and the input switch on-resistance.

For 12-bit settling performance, the capacitive sensor and dummy capacitor should settle to 12 bits. Setting V_{in} equal to the full-scale input step, and allowing V_{out} to be within 1 LSB of the full-scale step results in,

$$V_{DD}/2\left(1-\frac{1}{2^{12}-1}\right) \le V_{DD}/2\left(1-\exp^{\frac{-\Delta t}{\tau_{R_{on}}}}\right),$$
 (4.35)



Figure 4.10: Schematic-level circuit simulation of transmission gate on-resistance for charging from $V_{DD}/2 = 250$ mV to $V_{DD} = 500$ mV (top) and discharging from $V_{DD} = 500$ mV to $V_{DD}/2 = 250$ mV (bottom).



Figure 4.11: Schematic-level circuit simulation of transmission gate on-resistance for charging from $V_{DD}/2 = 300$ mV to $V_{DD} = 600$ mV (top) and discharging from $V_{DD} = 600$ mV to $V_{DD}/2 = 300$ mV (bottom).

which reduces to,

$$\frac{\Delta t}{\tau_{R_{on}}} \ge \ln(2^{12} - 1) \approx 8.3. \tag{4.36}$$

With two switches in the charge/discharge path of the capacitors,

$$\tau = 2R_{on}C. \tag{4.37}$$

The worst case corner settling performance is shown below for the nominal value of C = 6 pF at the capacitive sensor and dummy capacitor.

Power Supply	Maximum R_{on}	$\Delta t / \tau_{R_{on}}$ (40 μ s)	$\Delta t / \tau_{R_{on}} (160 \mu s)$
500 mV	550 k Ω	6	24
600 mV	185 k Ω	18	72

The sampling frequency target is $f_{sys} = 6400 \text{ Hz}$ ($f_s = 1600$) which allows roughly 160 μ s settling per clock phase. At $V_{DD} = 500 \text{ mV}$ the input switch settling at the worst case process corner is slightly less than the that required for 12-bit settling performance; in the case of $V_{DD} = 600 \text{ mV}$ there is ample switch settling.

4.4.4 Output Common-mode Control

The output common-mode output of the inverters forming the pseudo-differential signal path is controlled by directing charge into the integrator inputs as follows. First, the common-mode set voltage is sampled on capacitors C_{cm} as shown in Fig. 4.6. Next, each inverter integrator output is sampled against this charge. If the sum of the integrator output voltages is less (greater) than twice the set voltage, the integrator responds in an inverting manner by raising (lowering) the output
voltage. By directing common-mode feedback charge into the integrator inputs, the common-mode control can operate over the entire output range of the integrators.

The common-mode capacitors sample between the set voltage and the integrator output. In one phase, the inverters source or sink the required amount of charge to make up the difference voltage; in the next phase, the common-mode voltage sources or sinks the appropriate charge. To reduce the overall power, the common-mode capacitors are sized quite small, 100 fF for the first integrator and 50 fF for the second integrator.

The trade off for small common-mode capacitors is a low common-mode feedback gain and slower common-mode transient recovery. The gain of the output common-mode control is equal to the ratio of the common-mode capacitor to the integrating capacitor. The first integrator has a common-mode gain of approximately 1/5, while the second integrator has a gain of 1/4. Figure 4.12 shows the first integrator common-mode transient response from V_{DD} .

4.4.4.1 Impact of Capacitor Mismatch

Mismatch errors associated with the capacitor technology impact the commonmode control gain (when mismatch occurs with the integrating capacitor) and the accuracy of the common-mode sensing (when mismatch occurs between the common-mode sampling capacitors). For the first integrator, the common-mode capacitor is implemented in VNCAP and will be poorly matched to the integrating capacitor which is implemented in the MIM technology.

For the sizes chosen, three-sigma mismatch between the common-mode sampling capacitors at the first integrator is expected to be less than $\approx 1\%$. At the



Figure 4.12: Schematic-level circuit simulation of the common-mode feedback transient at the first integrator. The integrator outputs (top) and the integrating clock for the common-mode correction (bottom) are shown. Both integrator outputs start at V_{DD} = 500mV. At point A, the correction is substantial whereas at point B the correction is minor as the common-mode is brought close to $V_{DD}/2$ within eight clock cycles of common-mode integration.

first-stage integrator, no reliable estimate may be made on the matching quality between the common-mode sampling capacitors and the integration capacitance. At the second integrator, both the common-mode and integrating capacitors are implemented in VNCAP and an assessment may be made on the relative quality of the matching between the common-mode sampling capacitors and with the integration capacitance. Mismatch between the common-mode capacitors and between the common-mode and integrating capacitors at the second-stage integrator is expected to be less than $\approx 2\%$.

Overall, common-mode transients are settled within several clock cycles as shown in Fig. 4.12 and are not expected to be a large source of error for this project where a large number of output samples will be averaged.

4.4.5 Charge Loss & Voltage Droop

A voltage held on a capacitor will discharge to substrate ground through any available resistive path according to the following relation,

$$V_c(t) = V_c(0)(e^{-t/RC})$$
(4.38)

where $V_c(t)$ is the capacitor voltage over time, $V_c(0)$ is the initial value of the capacitor voltage and RC is the time-constant of discharge.

In the modulator design, capacitors as small as 50 fF at the common-mode feedback circuitry must hold their sampled voltage for tens of microseconds. A 50 fF capacitor, discharging through a 1 G Ω resistor undergoes a full time-constant

of signal loss ($\approx 30\%$) in 50 μ s. To mitigate the impact of voltage droop, pseudodifferential circuitry is used. Impairment due to charge loss and voltage droop is expected in the modulator at low clock rates.

4.4.6 Integrator Settling

With the inverter transistors operating in deep subthreshold, the inverter amplifier bandwidth is expected to be low. Low amplifier bandwidth can adversely impact system performance by incomplete settling. The impact of incomplete settling can be understood by modeling the integration phase as a step input.

Assuming a single-pole amplifier response and a standard voltage input integrator, the output voltage is given by

$$V_o = \frac{C_s}{C_{int}} \left(V_{in} - V_{ref} \right) \left(1 - \exp^{\frac{-\Delta t}{\tau_{int}}} \right)$$
(4.39)

where $(V_{in} - V_{ref})$ is the step input voltage, C_s and C_{int} are the input sampling and integrating capacitors, τ_{int} is the 3 dB time-constant of the integrator and Δt is the available settling time in the integration phase. The integrator closed-loop response time-constant is given by,

$$\tau_{int} = \frac{1}{\beta_{fb} \left(2\pi \times f_u\right)} \tag{4.40}$$

where $\beta_{fb} = C_{int}/(C_{int} + C_s)$ is the closed-loop feedback factor and f_u is the unity-gain frequency of the amplifier. To settle to $(1 - \exp^{-N})$ of the final value, the amplifier gain-bandwidth must satisfy

$$f_u \ge \frac{N}{\beta_{fb} \left(2\pi \times \Delta t\right)}.\tag{4.41}$$

Historically, switched-capacitor circuits solved the problem of inadequate resistor matching in integrated filters. For accurate pole and zero placement for integrated filters, 0.1% settling was a common design goal. This level of settling required the integration clock phase to be roughly seven times the closed-loop time-constant which became a switched-capacitor design rule-of-thumb.

For the capacitive sensing $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator described in this report, however, the integrator linear settling requirements are not well constrained. Firstly, the inverter amplifier settling behavior is dynamic and the amplifier does not have constant unity-gain frequency over it's response. Secondly, low-performance $\Sigma\Delta$ modulation is extremely robust to gain errors² and linear settling error can be lumped into integrator gain error. Impact of distortion due to incomplete and non-linear integrator settling is typically addressed at the 16-bit performance level which is higher than the project design objectives.

4.4.7 Amplifier Gain-bandwidth & Open-loop Gain

The gain-bandwidth of the inverter amplifier is a function of the capacitive load, the inverter power supply voltage (V_{DD}) , the transistor threshold voltage and the transistor size. The amplifier open-loop gain is determined by the small signal properties of the inverter transistors, namely the transconductance and the output impedance. This section calculates the expected capacitive load in the various integrator configurations and determines requirements for the amplifier gain-bandwidth.

The inverter integrator with parasitics and load capacitance is shown in Fig. 4.13

²The poles of a single bit modulator are dynamic. For stable modulator designs, excessive gain errors on the order of $\geq 20\%$ can eventually cause the modulation to become unstable but small gain errors do not otherwise interfere with modulator loop performance.

in both the sampling phase (top) and integrating phase (bottom). The integrator total



Figure 4.13: Simplified single-ended integrator shown with input and output parasitic capacitances in both integrating (top) and sampling (bottom) phases.

load capacitance, C_L , is given by,

$$C_L = \frac{C_{pi}C_{int}}{C_{pi} + C_{int}} + C_{load} + C_{po}$$

$$(4.42)$$

in the sampling phase, and

$$C_L = \frac{(C_{pi} + C_s)C_{int}}{(C_{pi} + C_s) + C_{int}} + C_{load} + C_{po}$$
(4.43)

in the integration phase. In the sampling phase, the input parasitic capacitance (C_{pi}) is composed of common-mode (C_{cm}) and holding capacitor (C_h) bottom plate parasitic capacitance to substrate as well as switch parasitic capacitances. In the integrating phase, there is additional parasitic capacitance from the input sampling

capacitance. The output parasitic capacitance (C_{po}) is composed of the integrator MOS transistor parasitic capacitance as well as integrating capacitor (C_{int}) bottom plate parasitic capacitance and switch parasitic capacitance to substrate. The output load capacitance (C_{load}) varies depending on the timing of the following stage and the common-mode feedback capacitors.

For calculation of total load capacitance and capacitive feedback factors, individual parasitic capacitances were modeled with Cadence CAPTAB analysis at the typical process corner. Parasitic capacitance due to routing was ignored. Tables 4.2 and 4.1 show the estimated total load capacitance and integrator feedback factor respectively for each inverter during each clock phase. The largest capacitive load is on *int1b* during clock cycle ϕ 4 and has a value of 850 fF. The worst case feedback factor of β_{fb} =0.04 is when the MEMS capacitors, C_1 and C_2 , are switched into integrator *int1b* during the clock cycle ϕ_4 , and on *int1a* during the clock cycle ϕ_2 .

	$C_L(\phi_1)$	$C_L(\phi_2)$	$C_L(\phi_3)$	$C_L(\phi 4)$
int1a	450f	540f	n/a	550f
int1b	450f	240f	n/a	850f
int2a	n/a	n/a	260f	290f
int2b	n/a	n/a	260f	290f

Table 4.1: Estimated integrator capacitive loads during various clock cycles.

The amplifier gain-bandwidth was designed to be $5 \times$ larger than the switching rate at the nominal system clock and worst-case loading. The nominal system clock is $f_s = 3200$ Hz and the integrator switching rate is $4 \times f_s$. To avoid short channel impact on the threshold voltage, the inverter amplifier transistor length was chosen as four times the minimum size. Fig. 4.4.7 shows the inverter amplifier gain-

int1a int1b	$\frac{\beta_{fb}(\phi_1)}{\frac{C_{int1}}{2 \times C_{cm1} + C_{int1}} = 0.7}$ $\frac{C_{int1}}{2 \times C_{cm1} + C_{int1}} = 0.7$	$\frac{\beta_{fb}(\phi_2)}{\frac{C_{int1}}{C_1 + C_2 + C_{int1}} = 0.04}$ $\frac{C_{int1}}{\frac{C_{int1}}{C_s + C_{int1}}} = 0.67$
int2a	n/a	n/a
int2b	n/a	n/a
	$eta_{fb}(\phi_3)$	$eta_{fb}(\phi$ 4)
int1a	$egin{array}{c} eta_{fb}(\phi_3) \ { m n/a} \end{array}$	$\frac{\beta_{fb}(\phi 4)}{\frac{C_{int1}}{C_s + C_{int1}}} = 0.67$
int1a int1b	$\frac{\beta_{fb}(\phi_3)}{n/a}$ n/a	$\frac{\beta_{fb}(\phi 4)}{\frac{C_{int1}}{C_s + C_{int1}} = 0.67}$ $\frac{\frac{C_{int1}}{C_1 + C_2 + C_{int1}}}{C_1 + C_2 + C_{int1}} = 0.04$
int1a int1b int2a	$\frac{\beta_{fb}(\phi_3)}{n/a}$ $\frac{n/a}{\frac{C_{int2}}{2 \times C_{cm2} + C_{int2}}} = 0.67$	$\frac{\beta_{fb}(\phi 4)}{\frac{C_{int1}}{C_s + C_{int1}} = 0.67}$ $\frac{1}{\frac{C_{int1}}{C_1 + C_2 + C_{int1}}} = 0.04$ $\frac{1}{\frac{C_{int2}}{C_3 + C_4 + C_{int2}}} = 0.57$

Table 4.2: Estimated integrator feedback factors during various clock cycles.

bandwidth over process with a low-power transistor sizing of W/L = 10μ m/0.48 μ m in the CMOS 0.13 μ m technology. The amplifier gain-bandwidth is exponentially responsive to the inverter power supply voltage V_{DD} . At $V_{DD} = 500$ mV, the amplifier gain-bandwidth is sufficient for $5 \times 4 \times f_s \approx 63$ kHz at the typical process corner. This value was decided to be sufficient due to the variability of process and the lack of strict constraints on integrator settling.

Fig. 4.15 shows the inverter amplifier open-loop gain versus power supply voltage over process. As a single-stage amplifier, the open-loop gain was approximately 36 dB. The amplifier open-loop gain was unresponsive to inverter power supply voltage V_{DD} over the range of interest for the project.

4.4.8 Digital Supporting Circuits

This section describes the modulator digital supporting circuitry which includes the comparator, modulator control logic and the output level shifting buffer.

4.4.8.1 Comparator

Without the requirement for high-speed operation, the comparator did not have large design constraints. The comparator uses a latched cross-coupled pair input and an SR-latch output. The comparator was simulated to $V_{DD} = 250$ mV where it showed a worst-case delay over process variation of only $t_d = 0.5 \ \mu$ s, which is insignificant compared to a total settling time of approximately 80 μ s with a modulation clock of $f_s = 3200$ Hz. For flexibility during test, the comparator power supply was brought out individually to a package pin.



Figure 4.14: Schematic-level circuit simulation of inverter gain bandwidth versus power supply for $C_L=0.9$ pF and W/L=10 μ m/0.48 μ m using the CMOS 0.13 μ m technology low-power transistor. The inverter was biased in the middle of the supply.



Figure 4.15: Schematic-level circuit simulation of the inverter amplifier open-loop gain versus power supply voltage for W/L= 10μ m/ 0.48μ m using the CMOS 0.13μ m technology low-power transistor.

4.4.8.2 Digital Control Logic

Control logic for the modulator includes clock signals the front-end sampling signals, ϕ_A , ϕ_B , ϕ_C , ϕ_D , ϕ_{cscm} and ϕ_{cdcm} , as well as integrator control signals, ϕ_{int1} , ϕ_{int2} . A buffer stage was used to increase the signal fan out in advance of the switches at the modulator, and to provide logical compliments for fully differential switching.

Note that the four-phase clock signals, ϕ_1 , ϕ_2 , ϕ_3 and ϕ_4 were not implemented on chip. These signals were brought in from off-chip, supplied to minimal sized gates at the logic control block, and buffered for use within the digital logic block. The four-phase clock used within the digital logic block was fed through to the buffer block and then provided on to the SC signal path.

The digital logic control block and buffer block were simulated together for worst-case delay over process and voltage. At voltages as low as 250 mV, the worst-case delay on the slowest corner was approximately 450 ns.

4.4.8.3 Output Level-shifting Buffer

The level shifter uses a cross-coupled pair to bring the output voltage up to the level of V_{DDIO} . The level shifted output voltage is buffered to be capable of driving 50 pF off-chip loads using power from V_{DDIO} .

The level-shifting buffer was simulated over process with voltages V_{DD} as low as 300 mV and V_{DDIO} at 1.2 V. Under these conditions, the level shifter was operational over process with an input pulse width of 160 μ s ($f_s = 1600$) but failed on the slowest corner at a pulsewidth of 80 μ s ($f_s=3200$). With the output voltage of the level shifter reduced to $V_{DDIO} = 500$ mV, the circuit was functional with pulsewidths as

low as 10 μ s.

The level shifter was also simulated to voltages as low as $V_{DD} = 250$ mV. In this circumstance, both the input and the output power-supply voltages were set to 250 mV. At 250 mV, the level-shifting buffer failed on only the slowest corner at a pulsewidth of 160 μ s.

4.5 Design Summary

Previous sections described details of the modulator design. This section discusses the modulator operation in low-voltage and how the output bit-stream is used for pressure measurement. For the discussion, the switch-level circuit diagram of the modulator first shown on page 64 is repeated here in Fig. 4.16 for convenience.

There are several summary points to be made regarding the design. First, the SC signal path shown in Fig. 4.16 has no obvious limit to low-voltage operation. Decreasing the power-supply voltage impacts the operating performance of the MOS transistor circuit elements, but the operating region of each transistor is unchanged. The SC signal path consists of switches operating in the triode region, and inverter amplifiers operating in the subthreshold region. Decreasing the power-supply voltage impacts the switch on-resistance, and thereby impacts the settling accuracy of the switches, and also impacts the gain-bandwidth of the inverter amplifiers, which impacts the integrator settling.

Settling errors, however, have minimal impact on the operation of the circuitry. The input switches are switched between only two voltages preserving inherent



Figure 4.16: Switch-level diagram of the $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator for design summary discussion. Shown is the SC signal path; not shown are the digital logic block and buffers.

linearity; incomplete switch settling translates to an input gain error. Likewise, incomplete integrator settling presents as a gain-error in the integration, which may impair the closed-loop noise-shaping $\Sigma\Delta$ loop. Impairment in noise-shaping can cause "leakage" of quantization noise into the low-frequency region. This becomes problematic if the noise-floor is sufficiently low that leaked quantization-noise exceeds other noise sources to become the dominant noise source.

Settling errors can be mitigated with an increased settling time. At a particular power-supply voltage, however, the impact of settling errors may reside below the performance requirement. In this circumstance, increasing the settling time will have adverse effect on the total-energy required to sample; for a fixed number of single-bit samples, increasing the settling time increases the sample time and energy. Increased sample time also increases the likelyhood that voltage-droop may interfere with normal circuit operation.

Beyond the SC signal path are the comparator, the digital logic control and the buffers. Operating as subthreshold digital circuitry, these are impacted primarily by increased delay. The comparator is comprised of a regenerative-latch input stage followed by an SR-latch, both of which are robust to low-voltage operation given sufficient time. The comparator was simulated to $V_{DD} = 250$ mV where it showed a worst-case delay over process variation of only $t_d = 0.5 \ \mu$ s, which is insignificant compared to a total settling time of approximately 160 μ s with a modulation clock of $f_s = 1600$ Hz. Likewise, the digital control and output buffers combined showed a worst-case delay of 450 ns on the slowest corner at 250 mV. The level-shifting buffer circuitry was robust to low-voltage operation provided the input and output power-supply voltages were both brought down.

Modulator as Pressure Sensing Instrument The purpose of modulation is to encode DC pressure signals for telemetry to bring the data out of the ocular environment. The $\Sigma\Delta$ noise-shaping minimizes the impact of single-bit quantizer noise; the quantization noise is shaped through differentiation and thereby pushed into the high-frequency region. Front-end circuit noise is, on the other hand, transferred directly to output. To estimate DC pressure changes, the modulated bit-stream is received with a mean-value filter. The averaging process obtained by the mean filter can be considered in either the time-domain or the frequency-domain, as follows:

Time Domain in the time-domain, the mean-estimate is formed from an N-bit sample of the single-bit output,

$$mean = \frac{\sum_{1}^{N} x_i}{N} \tag{4.44}$$

where x_i are the logical values of the single-bit data output. The variance of the mean-estimate is the sum of the variances of each individual term in the summation, divided by the sample length squared

$$\sigma_{mean}^2 = \frac{\left(\sum_i^N \sigma^2\right)}{N^2} = \frac{\sigma^2}{N},\tag{4.45}$$

where σ is the variance of the population of the single-bit data.

Provided variance of each single-bit x_i is random and finite and the sample size N is sufficiently large, the central limit theorem provides that the mean-estimate follows a Gaussian-normal distribution. Under these conditions, the variance of the

samples of the mean-estimate is also a random variable with well defined statistics³. The standard deviation of the mean-estimate is σ/\sqrt{N} and becomes smaller as the mean-estimate sample-size increases.

Frequency Domain in the frequency domain, the thermal-noise power or the amplitude spectral density can be used together with the effective-noise-bandwidth of the mean-estimate filter to determine the uncertainty in the mean-estimate. From page 78, the pseudo-differential input-referred spot-noise at 10 Hz was found to be $S_{V_t}(10Hz) = 0.015V/\sqrt{Hz}$ for the operating conditions of $V_{DD} = 500$ mV and $f_s = 3200$ Hz. The low-frequency noise consists primarily of aliased white-noise and is assumed to be very nearly white.

By using the relationship q = CV, the noise-amplitude spectral density can be converted to a charge-amplitude spectral density or a capacitance-amplitude spectral density. Using the nominal values of sampling capacitance $C_s = 250$ fF and sampling voltage $V_{DD}/2 = 0.250$ V, the capacitive-amplitude spectral density is,

$$S_C(10Hz) = 250 \times \frac{0.015}{0.250} = 15 \frac{\text{fF}}{\sqrt{Hz}}.$$
 (4.46)

Taken over a predetermined bandwidth, the capacitive-amplitude spectral density produces a capacitive uncertainty which can be related back to a pressure uncertainty. Taking an average of N=10,000 samples, say, creates low-pass filter with an effective noise bandwidth of $f_o = 1/NT$. At $f_s = 3200$ Hz, T = 312 μ s and an

³The variance of the mean-estimate samples follow the χ^2 -distribution scaled by the multiplying factor of $\sigma^2/(n-1)$ with n-1 degrees of freedom, where σ^2 is the variance of the population of mean-estimates and n is the number of samples taken of the mean-estimate. Samples of the variance associated with the mean-estimate will themselves have a mean value which estimates the variance of the mean-estimate population; the variation of the sample variance is described by χ^2 statistics.

N=10,000 sample mean-estimate filter creates a noise bandwidth of 0.32 Hz causing a capacitive-error of approximately 8.5 fF. The sensitivity of the E1.3N capacitive sensor is expected to be 0.6 fF/mmHg. Charge from the MEMS sensor is injected into the modulation in a differential manner, so that the differential signal for a 1 mmHg pressure variation is 2×0.6 fF, or 1.2 fF differentially. This results in an uncertainty of 8.5 fF/(1.2 fF/mmHg) = 7 mmHg; taking N=100,000 the uncertainty may be reduced to $1/\sqrt{10}$ of this value, or 2.2 mmHg.

Summary As the power-supply voltage is decreased, the modulator will experience settling errors. These errors may become substantial, or may be swamped by circuit noise. Circuit noise in the modulator was designed to be power limited, with the dominant sampled noise being the inverter amplifiers; for low voltage operation, the inverter amplifier is expected to have restricted bandwidth and will contribute the dominant noise to the sampled input.

In pressure sensing, the design is ratiometric, meaning that the output bit-stream is related to the capacitive input ratio between C_s and $\Delta C = (C_1 - C_2)$. Thus the *signal* is not dependent on signal-swing range within the power-supply voltage and V_{DD} may be decreased to suit low-power operation needs. The actual operating value of V_{DD} depends on settling needs and is strongly dependent on process parameters.

4.6 System-Level Simulation

The previous sections described the design of sub-circuits required for the modulator. This section describes system-level simulations on the full modulator. The full modulator was simulated for ability to measure capacitance and for power consumption. Due to prohibitively long simulation times, as explained below, the modulator was not simulated extensively for circuit-level impact on system performance.

4.6.1 **Power Consumption**

With the modulator operating at V_{DD} = 500 mV and f_s = 3200 Hz, the total modulator power consumption (excluding the level shifting output buffer) varied over process from 41 nW to 298 nW, with a typical process value of 95 nW.

In the design of the modulator, the inverter amplifiers operate with a nominal gate-voltage of $V_{GS} = V_{DD}/2$. For this reason, the design implemented the inverter amplifiers with low-power transistors (lpnfet and lppfet). The selection of low-power transistors at the inverter amplifier substantially reduced the power consumption; a modulator power consumption of approximately 8μ W was required with the use of regular threshold transistors. The trade-off for using low-power transistors is a reduced inverter amplifier speed which was accounted for in the design.

The simulated power consumption versus power-supply voltage is shown in Fig. 4.17. The modulator was tested for power consumption over the voltage range of V_{DD} = 300–800mV; for the regular threshold transistor NMOS/PMOS pair, the sum of the threshold voltages was approximately 950 mV. Over the voltages tested, the power consumption increases exponentially with increasing power-supply voltage.

Simulated power consumption for the modulator at $V_{DD} = 500 \text{ mV}$, $f_s = 3200$ and typical-process corner, is shown in Table. 4.3 broken down by functional circuit blocks⁴. The functional blocks within the design are: a) the digital logic control

⁴The generation of the four-phase clock was not completed on-chip. Rather, the four-phase clock



Figure 4.17: Schematic-level simulation of modulator power consumption versus operating voltage. Results are shown for V_{DD} = 300 mV–800 mV and f_s = 3200 Hz.

block; b) buffers for the control signals to the switches; c) the switched-capacitor signal path; and d) the comparator. The comparator is used to compare the output of the final integrator stage. The buffers provides increased fan-out and an inverted-logic signals for complementary switch control. The digital logic control block determines the SC signal path switch control signals from the four-phase clock inputs and the modulated output. From the functional block break-down of power consumption, the digital logic control block consumes the largest amount of power.

In addition to establishing all necessary switch controls for the SC signal path, the digital logic control block also inserted consistent gate-delays for various signals to preserve relative timing. The digital logic control block contained the highest inputs were brought to near minimum-sized gates at the package level and then buffered internally.

Functional Block	Power (nW)
Logic control	37.3
Buffer	25.5
Total SC path	12.4
-stage 1 integrators	5.9
-stage 2 integrators	5.9
Comparator	20.9

Table 4.3: Schematic-level simulation of modulator power consumption for V_{DD} = 500 mV and typical-process corner. The total power in the SC signal path was dominated by the power at the integrators. Each integrator consumed approximately 1/2 of 5.9 nW, or 2.95 nW. The largest power consumption was at the digital logic block.

transistor count of all the functional blocks in the modulator; the logic block used 80 NAND-gates, 11 minimum-sized buffers and 4 increased ($4\times$) fan-out buffers. In order to test the SC signal path and modulator core circuits with predictable timing as the power-supply voltage was decreased, the digital logic block was implemented in with regular-threshold transistors (nfet and pfet). At the expense of additional leakage current and power, regular threshold transistors at the digital logic control block ensured that gate-delay was less sensitive to process variation and was predictably short.

To reduce the power consumption of the digital logic control block, low-power transistors may be used. The IBM 0.13 μ m technology advises that a 100× reduction in leakage current may be expected between the regular and low-power transistors. For a 0.13 μ m technology inverter delay can ranged between 0.16 ns–0.45 ns [115] for regular transistors and low-power transistors. With the highest clock rates of $f_s = 6400$ Hz, the time between individual clock phases is approximately 40 μ s. With clock pulse widths on the order of 40 μ s, the modulator could be tolerate to increased control logic throughput delay, provided that relative timing of the switch control signals is preserved.

Controlled relative timing is critically important in SC circuits in order to avoid imbalancing sampled or integrated charge. Delay in digital circuits when operating in subthreshold varies exponentially with variations in threshold voltage; timing in digital logic operated in deep subthreshold is increasingly sensitive to process variation and variations in threshold-voltage due to a decreased V_{GS} . Ultra lowvoltage digital circuit design is an area of active research [115–122], including increased robustness to process variation [117, 123]. For ultra low-power digital logic, increased delay and substantially decreased power is possible. One technique is to stack additional transistors in order to achieve a local body-effect, increasing the transistor threshold-voltage and decreasing sub-threshold channel leakage, as is described in [115]. Such modifications to digital logic circuits can substantially increase throughput delays, from 0.45 ns to 4 μ s on an inverter, but also substantially decrease power consumption, from 10 nW to 5 pW at 10 kHz operation.

4.6.2 Capacitive Detection

Fig. 4.18 shows the results of simulation of the modulator to estimate capacitance C_2 as determined according to Eq. 3.22 on page 37. The modulator was simulated at the schematic level with UltraSim and operating conditions of $V_{DD} = 500$ mV and $f_s = 3200$. The results show that even with only 1000 points taken for the mean estimate, the modulated output was able to be related back to the input capacitance.

The same simulation for larger capacitance at C_1 and C_2 (\approx 6 pF) produced no meaningful results for fF capacitance variation with sample sizes of only 1000 single-bit data points.

4.6.3 Simulation Time

The switched-capacitor circuitry in this research used low sampling rates. The time between individual clock phases is 40 μ s at a modulator clock rate of f_s = 6400 Hz. Because of the nature of circuit simulators, which must converge the differential equations to the specified accuracy at the internal time step, simulation for accurate



Figure 4.18: Schematic-level circuit simulation showing C_2 versus capacitive difference $\Delta C = C_1 - C_2$. Actual values of C_2 used in the simulation sweep are shown by the solid line. Simulated results are obtained with 1000 samples of the single-bit output. Results show the mean value of the modulated output can be related back to the varying capacitance.

performance of the overall system was problematic.

Simulation to obtain long samples of single-bit data was completed using the chip-level FASTSpice simulator, UltraSim. At $f_s = 6400$ Hz, 160 milliseconds of simulation was required to obtain 1000 single-bit data samples. Simulations with Ultrasim using an analog simulation mode and a high accuracy setting (comparable to Spectre "conservative"), took just over 25 minutes to complete; capacitive sweeps with 20 points took 8.5 hours to complete. To complete the same sweep with 100k single-bit data samples would take 35 days.

It is important to note that the Ultrasim simulator is not as accurate as Spectre. The UltraSim FASTSpice simulator is intended for chip-level operational verification and digital block performance checks, but not necessarily for accurate performance of individual analog circuit blocks contained within the larger chip. In this project in particular, the analog circuitry has integrators which can accumulate error and make the overall result much less reliable.

The approach taken with simulation prior to tape-out was to verify analog subcircuit performance over process and expected supply voltage variation, and to verify the system level operation through FASTSpice simulations.

4.7 Integrated Circuit Fabrication

This section describes the integrated circuit layout and capacitive element sizes. A list of layout pad names and their description is provided in Appendix E.

4.7.1 Top Level Layout

The core area of the modulator is 775 μ m x 445 μ m. The layout is shown together with the bonding concept for attachment to the two MEMS sensors in Fig. 4.19. The die (AS1) was taped-out using a tile of 2000 μ x 1000 μ m. Due to additional bond-pads required for voltage and pressure-bonding options, the layout was pad limited. Care was taken in the top-level layout to handle the analog signals and references (on the leftmost side) away from digital power supplies and clock signals (on the rightmost side). The digital output buffer and level shifter, V_{DDIO} , was expected to be the largest signal aggressor and was placed at the lower right side of the die near the digital control logic generation and clock input pads. To minimize the loop area of the inductive path for output driving currents, the current return path (V_{SS}) was placed directly beside V_{DDIO} .

The digital control logic was laid out by hand with repeated cells that provided ease-of-placement rather than compactness. The voltage references, V_{ref} , V_{refC1} , and V_{refC2} were routed in thick metal traces seen directly under the integrators; where free space was available nearby, the reference voltage metal traces were bypassed. The modulator digital control distributed to the SC signal path crossed the reference voltage lines in perpendicular fashion at a single location after the first integrator. Care was taken to distribute the integrator clocking such that delays were matched. Layout and timing of critical delays, such as sampling at the final integrator and activation of the comparator, were carefully inspected and verified with chip-level extracted simulation.

4.7.2 Capacitor Values

This section describes the values of the capacitors selected for the SC signal pathway. Inherent in the design, the modulator had a variable power supply voltage and variable amplifier performance. This generated few constraints to determine capacitive element sizing. Where no constraint was available, values were chosen as small as reasonable to limit power consumption. Values were decided to be reasonably small if they were implementable without compromising reliability and the values sufficiently exceeded nearby parasitic element values.

At the first integrator, C_s and C_{int1} are implemented with matched metalinsulator-metal (MIM) capacitors. Capacitors past the first integrator were primarily implemented in the vertical natural capacitor, VNCAP, realised by inter-metal direct and fringing capacitance. Capacitor sizes of less than C = 100 fF were only supported by VNCAP in the technology.

$$\begin{array}{ll} C_s & 250~{\rm fF} \\ C_{int1a,b} & 500~{\rm fF} \\ C_{cm1} & 110~{\rm fF} \\ C_{cm2} & 50~{\rm fF} \\ C_h & 100~{\rm fF} \\ C_{S/H} & 200~{\rm fF} \\ C_{3a,b} & 100~{\rm fF} \\ C_{4a,b} & 50~{\rm fF} \\ C_{int2a,b} & 200~{\rm fF} \end{array}$$

Table 4.4: Implemented capacitor values in SC signal path.

A sample-and-hold capacitor implementing a delay to C_4 is implemented in VNCAP at approximately 200 fF. Voltage mode input is implemented with a bondoption with pad c1a connected to cm1a, c2a connected to cm2a and cdb connected to cmdb. Matched on-chip MIM capacitors of $C_m = 210$ fF are used to implement the voltage input mode.

4.7.3 Bypass Capacitors & Layout Dummy Elements

Power supplies V_{DD} and V_{DDCOMP} are bypassed at the integrated circuit core with 16 pF and 10 pF MIM capacitors capacitors respectively. At the integrators, further bypassing is done with VNCAP where space allows. At each integrator, V_{DD} and V_{CM} are bypassed with approximately 0.35 pF.

Dummy elements where provided in the layout to improve matching. Wherever sensitive capacitor and transistor matching were required, dummy elements were used to extend the layout environment uniformity and improve element matching.

In addition, there were several bypass-capacitors distributed over the layout area. Both the common-mode voltage, V_{CM} , and the integrator power supply voltage, V_{DD} , were bypassed at several locations around the circuit layout. Insufficient bypassing can introduce distortion to the signal path. Common-mode capacitors, for instance, draw charge proportionate to the integrator output swings. This is signal dependent charge draw and can introduce harmonic distortion if the common-mode voltage is not insufficiently bypassed.



Figure 4.19: Diagram of die level prototype, AS1-MEMS, consisting of the integrated circuit die AS1 wire-bonded with two MEMS capacitive sensors. One capacitive sensor will be rendered insensitive to pressure by application of a sealant.

4.8 MEMS Capacitive Sensor Wire-bond

To test the modulator with pressure input, the integrated circuit die AS1 is designed to be wire-bonded with two E1.3N MEMS sensors. After wire-bonding, one MEMS is rendered insensitive to pressure with the application of epoxy. Figure 4.19 shows a diagram of the AS1 die is shown bonded with to-scale mock sensors. The wire-bond implements the die level prototype, AS1-MEMS. The wire-bond is implemented inside the cavity of 40-pin ceramic dual in-line IC package (DIP).

4.9 Summary

This chapter described the low-voltage, low-power circuit-level design of the $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator capacitance-to-digital converter.

To achieve low-voltage, low-power operation the modulator was implemented with inverter amplifiers operating in deep subthreshold. Within this chapter, the operation of the modulator was described during each cycle of the four-phase clock. A pseudo-differential signal path was used with a four-phase clock. The inverter amplifiers required output common-mode control through input charge injection. Correlated-double-sampling was used to establish a virtual-ground node. Because the virtual-ground is controlled at both branches of the signal path, the use of correlated-double-sampling also improves the operation of the pseudo-differential signal path.

Subcircuit design was completed with consideration of a varying power-supply voltage and sample-clock frequency; the design of the modulator subcircuits was done in such a way as to be tolerant to varying test conditions. Circuit noise analysis was completed with periodic-noise simulations on the first integrator. At an operating voltage of V_{DD} = 500 mV and sampling frequency of $f_s s$ = 3200 Hz, the circuit thermal noise levels anticipated a peak performance of SNR_t = 19 dB in voltage mode and roughly 7 mmHg pressure uncertainty in N=10,000 sample mean-estimate.

The design choices made in this project favored low-power operation over lownoise operation. Whereas other work has used the inverter amplifiers in weak inversion to preserve speed of operation [86], this work operated the inverter amplifiers in deep subthreshold. The majority of the modulator input noise is derived from the transistors of the inverter amplifiers. It is anticipated that long samples of the single-bit output will decrease the impact of thermal noise and allow improved resolution pressure resolution.

CHAPTER 5

EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

This chapter describes the results of experimental testing on the modulator.

5.1 AS1 Die Bond Options

For voltage testing, the integrated circuit die, AS1, was bonded into a voltage input option, with on-chip capacitors. The voltage input bonding is shown in Fig. 5.1. For pressure testing, the AS1 die was hybrid bonded with two MicroFAB E1.3N MEMS pressure sensitive capacitive sensors, as shown in Fig. 5.2. The prototype hybrid-bond instrument is named AS1-MEMS.

Die Identification For this work, several different die were tested. The tested die are distinguished in this report by DX, where X represents the unit number.



Figure 5.1: AS1 die shown bonded for voltage input testing. Bond lines are shown crossing AS1 connecting the input sampling switches to onboard matched capacitors.

5.2 Test Setup

Testing of the AS1 die, and the AS1 bonded to MEMS capacitors, was completed using the printed circuit board AS1TB1. The AS1TB1 board is described in more detail in Appendix. G.

For pressure testing, an air-tight chamber was built using a Pelican case enclosure. Reference pressure and temperature were measured using a Bosch Sensortec BMP085 high-precision pressure and temperature sensor. Pictures of the pressure test set-up, including the pressure chamber and test board AS1TB1 can be seen in Sec. 5.3.3 on page 139.

Test board AS1TB1 provides the required input signals for the modulator. The modulator requires four non-overlapping clock phases scaled to the power supply of the device under test, the power supplies V_{DD} , V_{DDCOMP} and V_{DDIO} , a mid-supply voltage $V_{CM} = V_{DD}/2$ used for analog ground, and a fully-differential input voltage signal. The fully-differential input voltage signal was provided using an ADC-driver at the test board AS1TB1. The power supply V_{DDCOMP} supplies the comparator



Figure 5.2: AS1 die bonded for pressure input testing with two MEMS capacitive sensors. One MEMS sensor is rendered insensitive to pressure with the application of application of epoxy.

only; the power supply V_{DD} supplies all other circuitry required for modulation (digital logic and buffers, as well as the full SC signal path). The power supply V_{DDIO} supplies the level-shifting output buffer only. The output buffer brings the modulated output off chip. The buffered modulated output was collected using an Adruino Uno microcontroller and stored on a computer for analysis.

Power consumption is calculated from measured voltage and current. Current is measured using jumpers at V_{DD} and V_{DDCOMP} on the AS1TB1 board. To measure current, a Keithley 6487 Picoammeter is placed in series using one of the jumpers.

Each current measurement was obtained using an average of 100 individual readings. The collection and averaging analysis of 100 individual samples was facilitated by Keithley 6487 built-in functions.

5.3 Measurement Results

Whereas pressure-input testing evaluates the prototype pressure sensing instrument for IOP measurement, voltage input testing provides performance measures of the modulator.

5.3.1 Voltage Mode Operation

In voltage mode, the modulator was tested with both AC and DC input signals. Important performance measures are the effective number of bits (ENOB) and the power consumption.

5.3.1.1 AC Input

The AC testing of the modulator was conducted with a voltage input signal frequency of 4 Hz. The modulator sampling frequency, f_s , and the power-supply voltage were varied. For spectral analysis of the wide-band $\Sigma\Delta$ output, a Hann window [124, 125] was used on the data as described in Appendix H. The SNR and SNDR were calculated from the power spectra of the single-bit output using a "brick wall" filter approach¹ at a bandwidth of 25 Hz.

¹A brick wall filter has full transmission in the passband and complete attenuation in the stop band.
Table 5.1 shows a summary of the modulator peak performance for AC testing. The selected test power supply voltages (275 mV, 300 mV, 500 mV and 600 mV) were chosen to bracket the design value of 500 mV and to capture the lowest surviving operating voltage. If it was observed to improve performance at severely reduced power supply voltages, the reference voltage was lowered to below the power supply voltage. At 600 mV the modulator achieves a peak SNDR of 25.5 dB (3.9 ENOB) with a power consumption of 125 nW. At 300 mV, the modulator achieves a peak SNDR of 18.7 dB (2.8 ENOB) with a power consumption of 125 nV. At 300 mV, the modulator of only 23 nW. Decreasing the voltage to 275 mV, the modulator SNDR decreased to 15.2 dB (2.2 ENOB) with a power consumption of 21 nW.

The ADC FOM, which is traditionally applied to the comparison of analog to digital converters, was used with the modulator as a method of comparing performance with varying operating conditions of voltage supply and clock frequency. Of the values tested, the best FOM was obtained at 300 mV where the modulator obtained a peak SNDR of 18.7 dB (2.8 ENOB) with a power consumption of 23 nW. Between 300 mV and 275 mV, distortion increased and worsened the SNDR without a commensurate reduction in power, resulting in a worsening of the FOM. Also as the power-supply voltage increased to 600 mV, the FOM worsened. At increased voltages, the amount of leakage power consumed in the digital control block exceeds the performance improvement available from increased input signal swing and the FOM is thus decreased.

Performance This section discusses issues related to the modulator performance, including process variation, reduced integrator swing, lowest operating voltage and

AC Test Results					
Device	D7	D4	D4	D4	D4
Supply voltage	250 mV	275 mV	300 mV	500 mV	600 mV
Power	17.9 nW	21 nW	23 nW	52 nW	125 nW
Vref	250 mV	200 mV	200 mV	500 mV	600 mV
BW	25 Hz	25 Hz	25 Hz	25 Hz	25 Hz
f_{sys}	3200 Hz	6400 Hz	6400 Hz	12800 Hz	25600 Hz
f_s	800 Hz	1600 Hz	1600 Hz	3200 Hz	6400 Hz
OSR	16	32	32	64	128
Peak SNR	9.3 dB	16.0 dB	20.2 dB	23.5 dB	29.5 dB
Peak SNDR	8.1 dB	15.2 dB	18.7 dB	23.5 dB	25.5 dB
ENOB	1.0	2.2	2.8	3.6	3.9
FOM	178 pJ/step	91 pJ/step	66 pJ/step	85 pJ/step	167 pJ/step

Table 5.1: Modulator AC voltage performance summary. The FOM was defined in Equation 2.1 on page 23 and is used here to compare performance at differing operating conditions. The frequency of the sampling clock was varied with the power supply.

performance versus input frequency.

Process Variation The modulator performance is subject to process variation between tested units. Figure 5.3 shows the peak SNR and SNDR versus input voltage for three units D5, D6, D7. Due to harmonic distortion, the peak SNDR is generally lower than the SNR. The SNR is related to the average value of the noise floor which, although affected by process, is fairly consistent between the units. The SNDR, on the other hand, is related to available integrator range which is impacted by system offset voltages and which can have a high variability between units.

Reduced Integrator Swing By lowering the reference feedback voltage, V_{ref} , the integrator output swing requirements are reduced and the harmonic distortion is



Figure 5.3: Experimental test results for SNR and SNDR versus input voltage for D5, D6 and D7 operating at $V_{DD} = V_{DDCOMP} = 400 \text{ mV}$ with $f_s = 1600 \text{ Hz}$. The power consumption was 35.5 nW, 42.5 nW and 38.0 nW for D5, D6 and D7 respectively.

decreased. The SNR and SNDR versus input signal is shown in Fig. 5.4 for D8 with $V_{DD} = 275 \text{ mV}$ and $f_s = 1600 \text{ Hz}$. While the SNR remains similar throughout the input range, the SNDR was slightly improved when $V_{ref} = 200 \text{ mV}$ compared with $V_{ref} = 275 \text{ mV}$ plotted on the same graph. The PSD for $V_{in} = -13 \text{ dBFS}$ is shown in Fig. 5.5 for both $V_{ref} = 275 \text{ mV}$ and $V_{ref} = 200 \text{ mV}$. Here, noticeable impairment to the NTF and STF is observed with $V_{ref} = 275 \text{ mV}$, as well as mildly increased harmonic distortion.



Figure 5.4: Experimental test results for SNR and SNDR shown for D8 with V_{DD} = 275 mV and f_s = 1600 Hz. Results are shown for two different values of the reference feedback voltage, V_{ref} = 275 mV and V_{ref} = 200 mV. Power consumption was 23 nW in both cases. The SNDR improves slightly when V_{ref} is reduced.

The presence of second-order distortion in the PSD indicates poor operation of the pseudo-differential signal path. In all cases, even at $V_{DD} = 275$ mV, the correlated double sampling circuit is believed to be working; power spectral density formed with energy scaling shows no indication of 1/f noise. At V_{DD} = 275 mV, the modulation NTF is seen to be impaired at high frequencies.

Lowest Operating Voltage The modulator was operational at $V_{DD} = 250 \text{ mV}$ with a reduced performance, and failure typically occurred around $V_{DD} = 230 \text{ mV}$. At $V_{DD} = V_{ref}$, the SNR was 9.3 dB, the SNDR was 8.1 dB and the ENOB = 1.0 with a power consumption of 17.5 nW (D7). Results were similar for D6 (ENOB 0.9, 18.7 nW) and D8 (ENOB = 0.3, 19 nW).

Performance at Various Frequencies Figure 5.6 shows the SNR and SNDR versus input frequency for D8 operating at $V_{DD} = V_{ref} = 275$ mV and $f_s = 1600$ Hz. For this test, harmonic distortion terms continue to be collected beyond 25 Hz. The SNR and SNDR are identical indicating that the performance measures are noise dominated. The SNR and SNDR remain relatively stable over the input signal bandwidth; the standard deviation for both SNR and SNDR is just over 1 dB which does not exceed expected variation in the calculation technique.



Figure 5.5: Experimental test results for power spectral density for D8 with $V_{DD} = 275 \text{ mV}$ and $f_s = 1600 \text{ Hz}$. The PSD is shown for $V_{in} = -13 \text{ dBFS}$ with the two different conditions $V_{ref} = 275 \text{ mV}$ (grey) and $V_{ref} = 200 \text{ mV}$ (black). The higher value of V_{ref} led to slightly increased distortion and impairment in the modulation noise shaping, as seen at the highest frequencies.



Figure 5.6: Experimental test results for SNR and SNDR versus input frequency for D8 with $V_{DD} = V_{ref} = 275 \text{ mV}$, $f_s = 1600 \text{ Hz}$ and the fully-differential input signal near full-scale at $V_{in} = 422 \text{ mV}$. Mean and standard deviation of the measures are indicated on the plot. The SNR and SNDR remain relatively stable over the bandwidth from 1–25 Hz.

Power Consumption This section assesses the relative contributions of static and dynamic power consumption in the modulator operation at various frequencies. An objective of this project is to explore the lowest operating power and voltage. It is of interest to understand limitations to the perceived benefit of decreased speeds within the designed circuitry.

Static and Dynamic Power The modulator power consumption is due to both static and dynamic current. For the purposes of this document, static current is defined as current consumed other than current required to integrate or sample onto capacitors. In the modulator, static current is caused by transistor subthreshold leakage at switches and logic, and subthreshold leakage current associated with the inverter amplifiers.

By design, the inverter amplifiers operate with a nominal gate-voltage set near $V_{DD}/2$. Transistors in the inverter amplifier are implemented with low-power transistors available in the technology; all other transistors in the circuit are regular threshold MOS. In simulation, the dominant power consumption occurred at the digital logic control block and overall power consumption followed a characteristic exponential response with increasing voltage.

By disconnecting capacitors C_1 and C_2 from the input signal path, the modulator is placed in a calibration mode. In calibration mode, the output oscillates between logical high and logical low (10101010); power is concentrated at $f_s/2$ and dynamic power is at it's maximum. At this time, the circuit includes sampling capacitor C_s but not C_1 and C_2 (which have been disconnected). Modifying the clock rate can affect the relative proportions of static and dynamic current requirements. At lower voltages, below roughly V_{DD} = 400 mV, the calibration-mode ceased to function and although the output was very active the oscillation was no longer exactly "0101010".

Figures 5.7 and 5.8 show power consumption for V_{DD} and V_{DDCOMP} versus the modulator sampling frequency, f_s . The impact of dynamic power on V_{DD} is most observable past approximately $f_s = 1600$ Hz. The current at V_{DDCOMP} is for the comparator alone and is relatively insensitive to frequency over the range. Both currents scale with power supply, but V_{DD} is a stronger function of supply.



Figure 5.7: Experimental test results showing power consumption at V_{DD} versus modulator operating frequency f_s for unit D4.



Figure 5.8: Experimental test results showing power consumption at V_{DDCOMP} versus operating frequency f_s for unit D4.

Power versus frequency for several values of V_{DD} is also shown in Figure 5.9. Extrapolating the curve to $f_s = 0$ Hz provides an estimate of the leakage power. At $V_{DD} = 400$ mV and $f_s = 3200$ Hz, the leakage power estimate represents approximately 80% of the total operating power. A plot of the estimated power at $f_s = 0$ Hz versus the power-supply voltage, V_{DD} , is shown in Fig. 5.10. The power consumption versus power-supply shows an exponential character consistent with the expected voltage dependent response of subthreshold leakage power.



Figure 5.9: Experimental test results showing power consumption at V_{DD} versus frequency f_s for D4, and showing zero-frequency intercept at each supply voltage. The zero-frequency intercept power provides an estimate of leakage power consumption.



Figure 5.10: Experimental test results showing the zero-frequency intercept power versus the power-supply voltage, V_{DD} , for unit D4. The power consumption has characteristic exponential increase with increasing V_{DD} .

The results shown are not exhaustive; the integrated circuits were tested by hand and the data collection was not automated. The key observation is that trade offs need to be considered for the circuit within in the application. While a lower clock speed will result in a minimal operating power, lower clock rates have a diminishing return because a the majority of power consumption is static power. For fixed sample lengths, low clock speeds result in longer sample times and fast clock rates result in shorter sample times. Design limitations, however, impact performance at both ends of the frequency spectrum. At slow speeds, voltage droop may impact circuitry, such as the common-mode feedback in the pseudo-differential signal path, and impact comparator operation through poorly controlled common-mode content at the second integrator. At high speeds, performance can be adversely impacted by incomplete switch settling.

The dominant power consumption in modulator was subthreshold leakage power at the digital logic control block. To ensure consistent relative-timing over process variation, this block was implemented in regular threshold transistors. The powersupply voltage has the a strongest impact on the modulator total operating power; decreased instrument operating frequency had a lesser impact. To reduce the power consumption of the digital blocks it is of interest to explore alternative powerreducing logic structures with reduced sensitivity to process variation [117, 123].

5.3.1.2 DC Input

The modulator was tested for response to DC input at various supply voltages. For testing, a DC differential input voltage was applied to the input $V_{refC1} - V_{refC2}$. The DC input voltage was measured with a handheld multimeter at an earlier point in the circuitry. The modulator single-bit output was collected and a mean-estimate was obtained. The mean-estimate was used as the instrument output response to DC input voltage.



Figure 5.11: Experimental test results showing single-bit mean-estimate versus DC input voltage for D9. The data average is obtained from the mean-estimate of 265,000 single-bit samples. The expected result, which would produce an average of 0.5 for a 0 V input, is shown with a solid line. Data was obtained with $V_{ref} = V_{DD}$.

The mean-estimate was fitted to a straight line for each of the power-supply

voltages tested. The results are shown in Table 5.2. While the results shown are for mean-estimates obtained with 265,000 single-bit data points, these results were substantially unchanged from mean-estimates obtained from single-bit data samples as short as 5,000.

Modulation dead-zones are most noticeable near zero input and were most significant at V_{DD} = 350 mV. The best linearity was obtained at V_{DD} = 275 mV but this also coincided with the largest offset from the expected transfer function.

N=265k	V_{DD}	Slope	Offset	RMS Residual
	350 mV	1.062	0.472	0.034
	300 mV	0.926	0.442	0.023
	275 mV	0.982	0.433	0.018

Table 5.2: Parameters for straight line fit of response to DC input. The best fit resulted with $V_{DD} = 275$ mV, but this also coincided with the largest offset. The largest dead zone occurred with $V_{DD} = 350$ mV.

Overall, the modulator response to DC input was very rough and the showed several dead-zones, where the modulator was unresponsive to input changes. The large fitting residuals, an indicator of poor response due to dead zones, is on the order of tens of millivolts. As discussed on page 42, a lack of response to stimulus on the order of millivolts would correspond to a capacitive insensitivity of an similar amount of fF. Specifically for V_{DD} = 350 mV, the DC test results indicate a potential capacitive insensitivity as high as 48 fF using the observed residual value of 23 mV. The modulator had relatively minor variation in slope and offset in the DC input response with variation in supply voltage V_{DD} .

5.3.2 Summary

Voltage testing of the modulator provided a general performance overview. The AC performance indicators of the modulator, SNR and SNDR, were dominated by the circuit noise floor and the modulator ENOB ranged from 3.9-1 over a power-supply voltage variation from $V_{DD} = 600$ mV-275 mV. The modulator was operational at voltages as low as $V_{DD} = 250$ mV with power consumption on the order of 20 nW. The following section presents the results of pressure mode testing.

5.3.3 Pressure Mode Operation

The prototype IOP measurement instrument, AS1-MEMS, was created by wirebonding the AS1 die with two MicroFAB E1.3N MEMS pressure sensitive capacitive sensors. The wire-bond was done inside the 40-pin DIP package cavity. One MEMS capacitor was rendered insensitive to pressure with the application of epoxy². The AS1TB1 board and the the AS1-MEMS instrument were placed inside a pressure testchamber. The pressure chamber was constructed from a Pelican brand water-sport utility case. The Pelican case was fitted with Swagelock valves for the controlled insertion (removal) of air for pressure increment (decrement) with a 60 mL plastic syringe. A hermetically-sealed circular connector is used to bring electrical signals into and out of the chamber as shown in Fig. 5.12. The Pelican case pressure-release valve (black valve on the case front in the top image) was sealed internally with epoxy to allow positive pressure within the case. The test environment is discussed in more detail in Appendix G.

The pressure sensitivity of MicroFAB E1.3N MEMS capacitive pressure sensors in the pressure range of interest is 0.6 fF/mmHg. The E1.3N also has temperature sensitivity of 0.6 fF/°C [15]. The pressure chamber is instrumented with a BOSCH BMP085 high-precision pressure and temperature sensor with data obtained over an I²C interface controlled by an Arduino Uno microcontroller. Pressure and temperature data from the BMP085 is collected and place into the file footer of each sample taken from the AS1-MEMS. The resolution capability of the BMP085 is 0.0075 mmHg. Over a range of 525 – 825 mmHg, the BMP085 has an accuracy of ± 0.15 mmHg and $\pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C when operating at a nominal temperature of 25°C.

²LePage Speed Set Epoxy was used



Figure 5.12: Experimental test setup, showing Pelican brand case made into a pressure test chamber. Inside the chamber, AS1-MEMS is shown on the test board AS1TB1. A hermetically sealed circular-connector is used for electrical inputs and outputs seen on the left hand side of the top image. Air is admitted or released with a 60 mL HSW syringe using the nylon tubes seen on the right hand side of the top image. Swagelock valves are used to maintain pressure conditions, or allow air transport. The bottom image shows D12 with the lid held ajar with Kapton tape.

Chamber temperatures observed during testing of AS1-MEMS ranged from 25 - 27 °C with high consistency over any given testing period; temperature variation over any specific test was much less than 0.1 °C. The BMP085 was located approximately 1.5 inches away from the AS1-MEMS inside the chamber.

Data Handling A mean-estimate is formed from an N-bit sample of the single-bit output,

$$mean = \frac{\sum_{1}^{N} x_i}{N}$$
(5.1)

where x_i are the logical values of the single-bit data output. The variance of the mean-estimate is the sum of the variances of each individual term in the summation, divided by the sample length squared,

$$\sigma_{mean}^2 = \frac{\left(\sum_{i}^{N} \sigma^2\right)}{N^2} = \frac{\sigma^2}{N}$$
(5.2)

where σ is the variance of population of single-bit data.

Provided that the sample size N is sufficiently large and the variance of each single-bit x_i is finite and random, the central limit theorem provides that the mean-estimate follows a Gaussian-normal distribution. Under these conditions, the variance of the samples of the mean-estimate is also a random variable with well defined statistics. The standard deviation of the mean-estimate is σ/\sqrt{N} and becomes smaller as the mean-estimate sample-size increases. Thus the mean-estimate is an unbiased estimator of the population mean.

The experimental test results were used to plot the error in the mean-estimate



Figure 5.13: Experimental test results showing error in the mean-estimate versus the number of data points taken, compared with the final mean-estimate value. Results are shown with Hann Window filtering (top) and without (bottom). The mean-estimate value used for the comparison was obtained with N=50k windowed data points. Points of extremely low error result of the estimate occasionally converging to the final estimate value. Overall, the curves indicate that the error settles rapidly and there is diminishing return past approximately N = 5–10k data points.

versus the number of data points used in the mean-estimate in Fig. 5.13. The results are similar with and without windowing of the data but, due to reduced sensitivity on the most recent bits obtained, windowing produced a smoother variation in response. Both results showed a diminishing return for averages much longer than approximately N = 5-10k in length.

The sample length determines the length of time required for sampling and thereby the energy consumed. The performance and energy trade off is of research interest. To preserve equal weighting on each data point, an unwindowed meanestimate was selected to represent the instrument output. It is important to note that while an unwindowed mean-estimate applies an equal weighting to each data point, it may also result in increased sample-to-sample variation particularly in the presence of modulation tones.

Instrument Performance The AS1-MEMS was tested over the pressure range from 700 mmHg to 770 mmHg.

Figures 5.14 through 5.17 show the AS1-MEMS mean-estimates from single-bit data samples varying in length from 10k to 1M. Results are shown for unit D12 operated with $V_{DD} = 325$ mV, $f_s = 1600$ Hz and a power consumption of 30 nW. The mean-estimate increased monotonically with increasing pressure and the response was linear. The instrument error was calculated as the integral non-linearity, or maximum deviation from a straight line fit, over the tested pressure range. The results were not substantially changed with the use of windowed data.

The AS1-MEMS error, sample-time and energy are summarised in Table 5.3 below. The sample time is determined by the number of data points obtained divided by the single-bit data rate. The error is defined as the worst-case deviation from the

linear fit over the pressure range. The desired pressure resolution for this project, approximately 2 mmHg, was achieved with a sample-length of 100k obtained over approximately one minute for a total energy usage of 1.88 μ J.

Data Points	Time (seconds)	Energy (μJ)	Error
10k	6.25	0.18	\leq 7.6 mmHg
50k	31.25	0.93	\leq 3.2 mmHg
100k	62.50	1.88	\leq 2.1 mmHg
1M	625.00	18.80	\leq 3.0 mmHg

Table 5.3: Tabulation of experimental test results for AS1-MEMS instrument showing the number of single-bit data points taken, the total sample time, energy and pressure-resolution error.

Test Chamber Leakage At high test pressures, the test-chamber demonstrated observable pressure loss over the longest sample time. Figure 5.18 shows the meanestimate as it varies over time during sampling for N = 1M samples at 770 mmHg. The middle plot shows consecutive mean-estimates formed with 10,000 single-bit data samples; the bottom plot shows the same data with a 9-point moving average filter applied. Readings from the reference pressure sensor were recorded at the start of sampling (stored in the file header), and again at the end of sampling (stored in the file header). At the start of sampling, the chamber pressure was 770.5 mmHg; at the end of sampling, the pressure was 767.4 mmHg for a measured pressure loss of 3.1 mmHg over the approximate 10 minutes of sampling. Using the linear fit parameters shown in the bottom plot, and taking the initial recorded pressure of



Figure 5.14: Experimental test results showing AS1-MEMS instrument response for a 10,000 single-bit samples. The plotted mean and standard deviation were formed from 10 samples. Each sample was comprised of a mean-value estimate of N=1,000 single-bit data. The standard deviation was fairly consistent over the range of pressure. The maximum deviation from the fit line was approximately 7.6 mmHg.



Figure 5.15: Experimental test results showing AS1-MEMS instrument response for 50,000 single-bit data points. The plotted mean and standard deviation were formed from 10 samples. Each sample was comprised of a mean-value estimate of N=5,000 single-bit data. The standard deviation was fairly consistent over the range of pressure. The maximum deviation from the fit line was approximately 3.2 mmHg.



Figure 5.16: Experimental test results showing AS1-MEMS instrument response for 100,000 single-bit data points. The plotted mean and standard deviation were formed from 10 samples. Each sample was comprised of a mean-value estimate of N=10,000 single-bit data. The maximum deviation from the fit line was less than 2.1 mmHg.



Figure 5.17: Experimental test results showing AS1-MEMS instrument response for 1,000,000 single-bit samples. The plotted mean and standard deviation were formed from 100 samples. Each sample was comprised of a mean-value estimate of N=10,000 single-bit data. At higher pressures, the standard deviation increased at high pressure due to tank leakage. The maximum deviation from the fit line was approximately 3.0 mmHg.

770.5 mmHg as the y-intercept (b=0.444284), the linear fit model y = a * x + b predicts a final chamber pressure of 768. 1 mmHg, estimating a pressure loss of 2.4 mmHg.

The application of a 9-point moving average filter applied in the bottom plot of Fig. 5.18 revealed an unexpected low-frequency oscillation on the order of 6 mHz in the N = 1M data sample. Oscillations on this scale are present in all samples taken over the pressure test range pressures. Figure 5.19 shows results for the AS1-MEMS instrument response during chamber leakage at various pressures. The cause of the mHz oscillations is unknown. It may be caused by electronic noise or interference, from voltage or pressure-change induced oscillations on the MEMS membrane or from pressure variation due to room pressure fluctuations. The Pelican-case pressure chamber was not entirely rigid and may have been able to transmit external pressure changes into the chamber. During testing, the pressure chamber was located on a desk which was above a regular heating vent and was also adjacent to an external window, offering the possibility of convective drafts.

For the oscillations occurring at 770 mmHg, the peak-to-trough variation of the oscillation is on the order of 1.5 mmHg. While it was anticipated that variance in the mean-estimate could be decreased with increased sample lengths, oscillations of this scale present throughout the data prevent resolution improvement by averaging. The variance of a mean-estimate of a random variable regularly follows a χ^2 distribution, but the oscillation present in the data is deterministic and cannot be further reduced. The middle plot on Fig. 5.17 from 700–730 mmHg demonstrates the decreased variance in the standard deviation of the mean-estimate for 1 M sample length; at pressures below roughly 730 mmHg, the standard deviation is fairly consistently at

0.6 mmHg which is approximately 1/2 of the peak-trough variation of the observed oscillation.

The energy-scaled PSD of the modulator output at 770 mmHg is shown in Fig. 5.20. The data was zero-padded to increase the resolution to approximately 0.00012 Hz. A Blackman Harris window was used on the data prior to spectral analysis, to better distinguish adjacent tones in the spectrum. At the lower frequencies it is not possible to resolve any particularly strong tones within the noise of the FFT. The noise floor of the PSD is easily seen at -40 dB/ \sqrt{Hz} . With a power supply voltage of V_{DD} = 325 mV, this relates to a capacitive input uncertainty of 15 fF/ \sqrt{Hz} . With N = 1 M samples, the uncertainty due to the noise floor is 0.7 mmHg.

From observation of the trend in the mean-estimate as it tracks the test-chamber pressure leakage at 770 mmHg, it is expected that the instrument would be able to resolve pressure variation of less than 1 mmHg were the oscillation absent. Further research is required to resolve the cause of the oscillations.



Figure 5.18: Experimental test results showing AS1-MEMS instrument response during chamber leakage at 770 mmHg. A total of 1,000,000 single-bit data points were obtained over the 10 minute sampling time interval. The middle plot shows mean-estimates formed with consecutive N=10,000 single-bit data points; in the lower plot, the same data is shown with a 9-point moving average filter.



Figure 5.19: Experimental test results showing AS1-MEMS instrument response during chamber leakage at various pressures. Data is shown for mean-estimates formed with consecutive N=10,000 single-bit data point samples. A 9-point moving average filter was applied to all data. Oscillations on the scale of mHz were present in all data samples.



Figure 5.20: PSD of modulated output at 770 mmHg. The data had a Blackman Harris filter applied and was zero-padded to increase the spectral resolution to 0.00012 Hz.

5.3.3.1 Supply Voltage Variation

The AS1-MEMS was designed with a ratiometric comparison of pressure induced capacitance change, thus the circuitry was expected to tolerate changes in the power supply voltage. This section describes the testing of AS1-MEMS for rejection of power supply voltage variation.

Adjustment for V_{DD} was located on the board AS1TB1. To avoid disturbances due to mechanical jostling (see Section 5.3.3.2) that would have been caused by repeatedly opening the case to adjust V_{DD} , sensitivities to power-supply variation was tested with voltage input, rather than pressure input. The voltage input test was arranged as follows: $q_s = C_s(V_{ref} - V_{CM})$, the charge injected at the sampling capacitor, and $q_{C12} \approx (C_1 - C_2)(V_{refC1,2} - V_{CM})$, the charge injected at the differential capacitors, were contrived to remain constant while the supply voltage, V_{DD} , and common-mode voltage, $V_{CM} = V_{DD}/2$, were varied. To increase sensitivity during the test, the reference voltage V_{ref} was fixed at only 10 mV above V_{CM} . The voltage applied to the differential input $V_{refC1,C2}$ was varied from 10–50 mV above V_{CM} . By design, $q_{C1,C2} \ll q_s$, which ensured modulator stability throughout this testing. By holding the reference voltage V_{ref} at C_s low, the relative sensitivity to C_1 and C_2 is increased. The power supply V_{DD} was varied and $V_{CM} = V_{DD}/2$ at all times during the test.

The test circuit is shown in Fig. 5.21 together with expected MEMS parasitic resistances. The modulator input charge is differential. For the positive input path the modulator is non-inverting to C_1 and inverting to C_2 . In the negative input path



Figure 5.21: Diagram showing test setup for varying power-supply voltage, V_{DD} .

the modulator is inverting to C_1 and non-inverting to C_2 . During the integration switch closure, the modulator also receives leakage charge from the input resistance of the MEMS parasitic resistance as follows,

$$\Delta Q_{pos} = (V_{refC12} - V_{CM})C_1 + ((V_{refC1,2} - V_{CM})/R_1)\Delta t$$
$$- ((V_{refC1,2} - V_{CM})(C_2 + C_{2var}))$$
$$\Delta Q_{neg} = (V_{refC1,2} - V_{CM})(C_2 + C_{2var}) + ((V_{refC12} - V_{CM})/R_2)\Delta t$$
$$- (V_{refC12} - V_{CM})C_1.$$

Taking the differential signal, Q_{pos} - Q_{neg} , and allowing $(V_{refC12} - V_{CM}) = \Delta V_{test}$,

$$\Delta Q = \Delta V_{test} ((2 \times C_1 - 2 \times C_2 - 2 \times C_{2var}) + \Delta V_{test} (1/R_1 - 1/R_2) \Delta t$$

From this, if $C_1 \approx C_2$ and $R_1 \approx R_2$ the input charge should be entirely related to the variable capacitance C_{2var} and this differential charge contribution determines the varying modulator output response. Any response to poor matching, in the event that $R_1 \neq R_2$, for instance, contributes to the injected charge but appears at the output only as a scale-factor on the response slope to varying V_{refC12} provided it is independent of V_{DD} . If, for instance, C_1 and C_2 are voltage dependent, the injected capacitive sampled charge may vary in the positive and negative signal path depending on the voltage dependent capacitive mismatch. Likewise, subthreshold leakage current from the switches in the off-configuration at C_1 and C_2 may vary with responsiveness to varying V_{DD} .

Provided there are no circuit response proportionate to V_{DD} , the circuit is ratio-

metric to the capacitances and the varying voltage at inputs V_{ref} and V_{refC12} ; the circuit should be relatively unresponsive to changes in power-supply voltage V_{DD} .

Figure 5.22 shows test results for the AS1-MEMS instrument to varying powersupply voltage V_{DD} . The single-bit data was used to form a mean-estimate. A linear response over the variation of voltage at V_{refC12} was as expected. Variation due to operation at differing power supply voltages V_{DD} , however, was unexpected. The modulator had a substantial response to changes in V_{DD} . The sensitivity to V_{DD} , over the tested range from 275 mV to 375 mV, varied the mean-estimate value by roughly 65%. Results of this testing contradict the relatively consistent performance for DC input versus power-supply voltage (shown previously in voltage input testing) and are not fully understood.



Figure 5.22: Experimental test results showing AS1-MEMS instrument response with varying V_{DD} . The mean-estimate versus varying reference voltage at $V_{refC1,2}$ is shown for various values of V_{DD} . Despite a ratiometric circuit design, the response shows responsiveness to varying V_{DD} . Varying V_{DD} from 275 mV to 375 mV produces an output variation of over 50%.

Using the data at $V_{DD} = 375-350$ mV and $V_{refC12} = 30$ mV, the estimated sensitivity in the output is calculated at 300 ppm/mV. It is possible that voltagedependant parasitics at the MEMS sensors are influencing the circuit at varying V_{DD} , or that switch voltage dependent subthreshold leakage current is varying with V_{DD} which is used to drive the switches.

5.3.3.2 Other Results

The AS1-MEMS instrument was observed to be sensitive to mechanical jostling, exhibited a large day-to-day response variation and also demonstrated time varying response believed to be due to relaxation processes. These sensitivities may be related to the MEMS sensors, and in particular may be related to the effect of the epoxy covering on one MEMS sensor; it was not possible to separate the performance of the sensor and sealant from the performance of the circuitry.

Unit Variation there were a total of 4 units wire-bonded into AS1-MEMS prototype instruments. Units D10 and D12 provided the best response; other units had an output mean-estimate value closer to the extreme of 1 or 0 (eg. 0.7) and were less responsive to pressure changes. Unit D10 exhibited what appeared to be a relaxation process, possibly associated with the epoxy coating on the MEMS (discussed below). Unit D12 had an increased amount of epoxy applied, gave no indication of relaxation effects and provided the most consistent results during experimentation without relaxation tendencies impacting the data sampling.

Mechanical Jostling by, for instance, snapping closed the sealed Pelican case lid, produced an abrupt step change in the instrument average output. As shown in


Figure 5.23: Experimental test results showing AS1-MEMS response to mechanical jostling (D10). The result shown includes both chamber snap-lid closure and chamber drop from a height of two inches. The chamber was vented to atmosphere continuously during the test. The time interval between sampling was roughly the same. The trend downward at the end of data sampling indicates that inadvertent jostling may have occurred prior to initial data sampling.



Figure 5.24: Experimental test results showing AS1-MEMS response to light jostling. The chamber was rapidly moved approximately three inches along a flat surface prior to a second reading at 730 mmHg. The chamber was not moved up or down. The higher output was obtained after jostling. The mean and standard deviation are shown for 100 samples of N=10,000 data point mean-estimate.

Fig. 5.23 for D10, the effect from closing the Pelican case lid required several hours to settle. In addition, the measurement was also sensitivity to very slight mechanical jostling as shown in Fig. 5.24. During testing, this sensitivity was taken in account and the chamber was closed well in advance of sampling and significant care was taken not to disturb the chamber during the duration of each test over the range of pressures.

Day to Day Variation was observed on all units. Figure 5.25 response of D12 on two different days. The chamber temperature and operating conditions were consistent between the two days. Temperature variations were not considerable, temperature varied from 25 - 27 °C over the entire testing period. Temperature variation over a single sample was negligible; temperature variation over a sweep from 700 mmHg to 770 mmHg varied by only approximately 0.2 °C. Humidity variation was not recorded.

Relaxation Processes were observed on the AS1-MEMS instrument. The AS1 circuitry relies on differential capacitance to produce a response. If the applied pressure is impacting both sensors in an identical fashion, no variation in the differential signal results. The MEMS sensor with epoxy applied was suspected of slowly responding to applied pressure, diminishing the differential signal over time. Figure 5.26 shows the response of D10 versus pressure over time. At higher applied pressures, the differential signal is diminished over time. Relaxation was most



Figure 5.25: Experimental test results showing the mean-estimate versus pressure taken on two different days (D12). The chamber temperature and AS1 operating voltage conditions were consistent between the days. Mean and standard deviation is shown for 100 samples of a N=100,000 data point mean-estimate. The upper data points correspond to sampling a day later than the lower values.



Figure 5.26: Experimental test results showing data average versus applied pressure over time for D10. Results indicate a diminishing differential signal over time. Mean and standard deviation is shown for 10 samples of a N=5,000 data mean-estimate.

strongly observed on D10 and was not observed on D12. Later builds of AS1-MEMS used larger amounts of the epoxy on the MEMS sensor. A larger amount of epoxy was expected to offer increased resistance to deformation under pressure. Device D12 exhibited no observable pressure relaxation.

5.3.4 Summary

The AS1-MEMS prototype instrument was formed by wire-bonding the AS1 die with two E1.3N MEMS capacitive sensors. The AS1-MEMS instrument was tested over a pressure range from 700–770 mmHg. The AS1-MEMS was also tested for response to varying power-supply voltage.

Calculation of a mean-estimate versus input pressure showed that the instrument was capable of resolving mmHg-scale pressure changes while operating at 325 mV with 30 nW (D12). Tests for D12 with various single-bit data lengths varying from 10k to 100k resulted in pressure resolutions of 7.6–2.1 mmHg over the pressure range 700–770 mmHg; the associated energy of sampling varied from 0.18 μ J to 18.8 μ J. In general, instrument resolution improved with increasing sample lengths. At sample lengths requiring approximately 10 minutes, however, there was increased variation in the mean-estimate due to pressure leakage in the test-chamber over the tested pressure range.

On closer inspection of the time-series data over the leakage at 770 mmHg, very low frequency oscillations became apparent. The cause of the oscillations is not understood, but the magnitude of the oscillation is determined to be the limiting factor in resolution improvement over longer samples. From the trend estimation during pressure leakage at 770 mmHg, it is expected that the instrument would be able to resolve pressure variation of less than 1 mmHg were the oscillation absent.

The AS1-MEMS instrument was observed to have a strong response to mechanical jostling and to have what appear to be relaxation processes, in addition to day-to-day variations. These issues are believed to be associated with the MEMS and epoxy sealant.

5.4 Discussion

The modulator was tested in both voltage-mode and pressure-mode. This section compares the test results with other work and with simulation.

Comparison With Other ADC Table 5.4 shows this work compared to other low-power, low-frequency data converters (tabulated reports shown on page 24 are reproduced here here with the inclusion of this work for comparison).

Report	[104]	[82]	[85]	[99]	[86]	[100]	This work
Year	2003	2006	2008	2009	2009	2012	
Technology [µm]	0.18	0.8	0.5	0.35	0.35	0.13	0.13
Voltage [V]	0.5	2.5	1.2	1	1.5	1 & 0.4	0.25 –0.6
Power $[\mu W]$	0.85	3	0.140	0.23	0.73	0.053	0.017 –0.052
Architecture	SAR	SAR	$\Sigma\Delta$	SAR	$\Sigma\Delta$	SAR	$\Sigma\Delta$
Data Rate kS/s	4.1	0.8	0.05	1	0.24	1	
Signal BW [Hz]	2000	400	25	500	120	500	25
SNDR [dB]	43.3	56	61	63	65	56	8.1-25
FOM [pJ/step]	1.8	7.2	2.7	0.2	2.1	0.095	66-178

Table 5.4: This work shown with other low-power, low-frequency analog to digital converters for comparison. This work shows substantially reduced operating voltage and power, but also much lower levels of performance.

While this work shows substantial reductions in low-voltage operation, the FOM is not comparable to other work low-voltage, low-power analog to digital conversion. The modulator for this work was designed with an inverter amplifier operating in deep subthreshold. While other work [86] suggests operation of the inverter amplifier at the onset of weak-inversion, where the gain has achieved a maximum value and the GBW is minimally decreased, this work had the opportunity

to have very low-frequency operation and had the requirement for very low-voltage, low-power operation. The dominant power loss within the modulator was with the digital logic control block, which, other than ensuring the correct signal timing, has little performance impact on the signal path. A substantial amount of power in the modulator design is for supporting circuitry rather than in the signal path; the SC signal path only comprised roughly 13% of the total power. Decisions such as the implementation of the digital logic control block in regular threshold CMOS adversely impacted the power consumption and the FOM performance, but are relatively simple to improve upon afterward and allowed testing of SC signal path core with reduced risk of impediment from digital logic relative timing failures.

Capacitance Sensing Operating with 30 nW at 325 mV, the modulator resolved pressure to roughly 2.1 mmHg over the tested range from 700–770 mmHg. The MicroFab particular E1.3N sensor used has a sensitivity of 0.6 fF/mmHg in this pressure range³. Thus the modulator performance using 100k single-bit samples corresponds to a capacitive sensitivity of 1.25 fF.

Power Consumption During voltage input testing, the power consumption for the operating conditions $V_{DD} = V_{DDCOMP} = 500 \text{ mV}$ and $f_s = 3200 \text{ Hz}$, was found to be 53 nW (D4), 56 nW (D5) and 105 nW (D7). Power consumption was strongly dependent on the technology process corners and for the same operating conditions simulated power consumption varied from 41–298 nW. Fig. 5.27 shows the measured power consumption of D4 (both V_{DD} and V_{DDCOMP}) versus simulation results over



Experimental and simulated power consumption vs. power-supply voltage

Figure 5.27: Experimental results of power consumption measurement (D4) versus simulation over V_{DD} and process.

process for varying values of V_{DD} .

Comparison with Other IOP Work The performance of AS1-MEMS is compared with other published works for IOP measurement in Table 5.5 below (tabulated data from page 10 is reproduced and the results of this work using sample sizes of 10k and 100k is added for comparison). The 1-2 mm \emptyset size estimate of this work includes AS1 core-circuitry and an estimated area for an integrated coil antenna.

³MicroFAB, Bremen has recently produced higher sensitivity MEMS capacitive sensor dies, with sensitivities up to 1.6 fF/mmHg.

Work	Supply	Power	Time	Energy	Resolution	Instrument
	(V)	(μW)	(s)		(mmHg)	Size
[24]	3.00	210	n/a	n/a	0.7	ø10.5 mm
[13,25]	1.50	160	0.001	$0.16 \ \mu J$	0.5	ø16 mm
[14]	3.60	7	10	$70 \ \mu J$	0.5	$pprox 1 \ \mathrm{mm}^3$
[15]	1.50	1.74	n/a	n/a μ J	0.9	ø 10 mm
this work:						
100k sample	0.325	0.03	62.5	$1.88 \ \mu J$	2.1	∅ 1–2 mm
10k sample	0.325	0.03	6.2	$0.18 \ \mu J$	≤ 7.6	Ø 1−2 mm

Table 5.5: Tabulated summary of reported IOP measurement systems sensing circuitry. Power reported in [24] is for full system rather than sensing circuitry alone. The 1-2 mm \emptyset size estimate of this work considered the core circuitry and an integrated coil antenna.

The power numbers shown in Table 5.5 are as close as possible to an "apples to apples" comparison; except for [24] which did not report individual block power, the power consumption numbers listed are based on sensing circuitry alone and do not include power required in ancillary circuits, such as voltage regulation. In [13, 25], for instance, power regulation required 40 μ W and the capacitive sensing circuitry required 160 μ W. In [15], the sensing circuitry consisted of an oscillator requiring 1.74 μ W; the total on-chip power was 2.3 μ W including a low-power bandgap-reference and regulator circuit. In this work, power consumption is for comparable sensing circuitry alone. Power consumption in this work includes the complete modulator core (including the logic control, buffers, SC signal path and comparator). Not included in this work is the power required to establish the four-phase non-overlapping clocks, and the output level-shifting buffer required for board level testing.

The CDC reported in this work demonstrates a high sensitivity with record

low-voltage and power operation. Compared to other work in IOP measurement instrumentation where $\Delta\Sigma$ modulation was applied to capacitive sensor with a resolution of 26 fF/mmHg [14, 126], this work obtains a $20 \times$ improvement in capacitive-sensitivity at substantially reduced operating voltage and power. In [14, 126] a resolution of 0.5 mmHg is obtained by averaging 50 sets of meanestimate data where each mean-estimate is a count of the number of cycles where the single-bit value is high over 10k clock cycles. With the CDC clock operating at 50 kHz, 10 seconds is required to collect 500k single-bit data samples. With the power consumption of the CDC at 7 μ W, the energy-per-measurement is 70 μ J when resolving 0.5 mmHg and the associated capacitive resolution of 13 fF. Using the observed $1/\sqrt{N}$ character of the CDC reported in this work, the expected resolution at 500k data sample length is 7.6 mmHg/ $\sqrt{50}$ =1.1 mmHg and 0.66 fF. Operating at $f_s = 1600$ Hz, a 500k data sample requires 312 seconds and the energy-permeasurement is 9.4 μ J. Conversely, the use of a 26 fF/mmHg with the circuitry reported in this work would permit the reduction of the sample length and time to 1.25k data samples and 0.78 seconds, providing an energy-per-measurement of only $0.024 \ \mu$ J at a pressure resolution of 0.5 mmHg.

Of the reported IOP measurement instrumentation to date, this work achieves the lowest operating voltage and power. Within work supportive of a millimeter-scale implant, this work offers a potential for a tenfold improvement in the energy required per sample.

CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSIONS

This chapter concludes the thesis, summarising the major contributions of the work and presenting suggestions for future work.

6.1 Contributions

The key challenge in obtaining a suitably small IOP measurement instrument is the operating voltage and power; using wireless power transfer, the operating voltage and power requirements directly determine the implant size and wireless-power biocompatability. This work demonstrates a significant improvement in the state of the art for capacitive pressure sensing in the biomedical range. Compared to prior IOP instrument reports, the designed prototype instrument obtained a $4.5 \times$ reduction in operating voltage and a $75 \times$ reduction in operating power.



Figure 6.1: Active electronic IOP measurement instrument reports showing operating voltage and power from 2001 to present. Pressure resolution and year of publication is shown with each data point.

Figure 6.1 shows the operating voltage, power and pressure-resolution of active electronic IOP measurement instrument reports, including this work. The instrument was tested over the pressure range of 700–770 mmHg with an integral non-linearity of 2.1 mmHg. Increased sample lengths were anticipated to allow increased resolution, but at samples lengths of N = 1 M, low-frequency oscillations became apparent; without the oscillation, it is expected that the instrument reported in this work would provide a resolution better than 1 mmHg. The ultra-low 0.325 V, 30 nW operating voltage and power obtained in this work creates an opportunity for a monolithic IOP measurement instrument in integrated-circuit technologies and suitable for use with RFID-style wireless-power transfer to a millimeter-scale IC coil.

Work	Supply	Power	Time	Energy	Resolution	Instrument
	(V)	(μW)	(s)		(mmHg)	Size
(2001) [24]	3.00	210	n/a	n/a		ø10.5 mm
(2010) [13,25]	1.50	160	0.001	$0.16 \ \mu J$	0.5	ø16 mm
(2011) [14]	3.60	7	10	$70 \ \mu J$	0.5	$\approx 1 \text{ mm}^3$
(2011) [15]	1.50	1.74	n/a	n/a μ J	0.9	ø10 mm
this work						
100k	0.325	0.03	62.5	$1.88 \ \mu J$	2.1	Ø1−2 mm
10k	0.325	0.03	6.2	$0.18 \ \mu J$	≤ 7.6	Ø1−2 mm

IOP measurement instrument reports shown in Fig. 6.1 are tabulated above showing the total energy per sample. Among reports capable of millimeter-scale implementation, this work achieves the lowest energy per sample. Not shown in the tabulation is the implementation technique used for power transfer and other details of the implementation. In reports [13, 15, 25] wireless-power transfer at frequencies above 600 MHz was used, despite well verified eye-health research which indicates the development of hot-spots in the eye above this frequency [42–44]. In [14] wireless-power transfer was avoided, but solar-charging circuitry and a battery was used, necessitating eventual battery replacement and risking leakage of battery constituents into the eye. Regarding pressure resolution, prior reported instruments have achieved quite high resolution whereas key features to monitor for eye health primarily include diurnal pressure variation and average-pressure variation over several days, both of which are risk factors for disease [16–18]. A resolution of

2 mmHg is deemed to be acceptable for IOP monitoring; resolutions higher than this are not necessarily required for disease research or monitoring for drug effectiveness or compliance [45].

Converter Performance While the modulator developed in this work showed poor performance when considered to other data converter reports using the ADC figure of merit¹, to the best of the authors knowledge it also obtained the lowest power of any reported modulator or ADC.

Techniques employed in the modulator design present a fruitful approach to further work in biomedical instrumentation. Design decisions in this work favored low-power operation over low-noise operation. The inverter amplifiers at the first integrator accounted for only roughly 12% of the total modulator power, but were responsible for a full 80% of the sampled noise². Significant oversampling in this work allows much of the circuit noise to be filtered out of the mean-estimate.

With a need to keep circuitry simple for low-voltage operation and with strong variability under process and power supply voltage, this work was subject to wide performance variation. Due to a lack of clear bias current control on the inverter amplifiers, there was limited design flexibility to mitigate this variability. In this work, the operation of the inverter amplifier was directed by the power supply, process and the gate-voltage nominal-value at mid-rail. Recent work on near- V_T inverter amplifier biasing and feed-forward modulation architectures³ reported a 250

¹The ADC FOM = Power/ $(2 \times BW \times 2^{ENOB})$

²Circuit noise is discussed on page 78 and operating power on page 104. The 12% portion of power represents 12 nW out of 95 nW total.

³Feed-forward $\Sigma\Delta$ architectures feed signal content forward, combating the accumulation at integrator outputs. These are effective in reducing integrator output swing for low-voltage modulator implementation and also reduce associated distortion.

mV, 7.5 μ W, 61 dB SNDR modulator [41], a significant milestone in the field of data conversion. The near- V_{th} bias allows for more consistent operation over process and the feed-forward technique offers a reduction in circuit distortion with low-voltage operation. These techniques should be investigated for their applicability to the the ultra low-power region of deep subthreshold operation and for possible improvements in the capacitive-sensing loop architecture.

While the field of analog-to-digital conversion is mature, the vast majority of research has been concentrated on techniques for either high-speed conversion (for telecommunications applications), or high-accuracy conversion (for instrumentation applications). Significantly less research has been completed on low-speed, low-to-moderate accuracy ultra-low-power data conversion [81, 100]—an area with broad applicability to biomedical instrumentation. Low-speed, low-accuracy conversion represents the bottom of the data conversion range; this work sought to explore the bottom for low-voltage, low-power operation and application to IOP measurement instrumentation.

6.2 Future Work

This section describes future work relating to both the pressure sensing instrument, AS1-MEMS, and in the context of the large system, where the instrument may operate with RFID-style wireless-power transfer.

6.2.1 Pressure Sensing Instrument

The pressure sensing prototype instrument AS1-MEMS achieved record low-voltage, low-power operation for capacitive sensing and application to IOP measurement. Future work includes addressing the observed sensitivity to V_{DD} , on-chip clock generation, further power reduction and addressing general instrument concerns such as absolute accuracy, drift and temperature sensitivity.

Voltage Sensitivity Although the AS1-MEMS was designed for ratiometric comparison of pressure-induced capacitance change and the circuitry was expected to tolerate changes in the power supply voltage, experimental testing showed that the instrument output was sensitive to the power supply voltage and demonstrated a 300 ppm/mV response.

This result contradicts the relatively consistent performance for DC input versus power-supply voltage obtained in voltage input testing and is not fully understood. It is possible that voltage-dependant parasitics at the MEMS sensors are influencing the circuit at varying V_{DD} , or that drive-dependent subthreshold leakage current at the switches may be varying with changing V_{DD} . The switch driving voltage (gate, source and drain voltages) are variable with V_{DD} . This will need to be investigated in more detail for various causes and supply regulation may be required in future designs.

On-chip Clock Generation Options for the design of a system clock include either a voltage controlled oscillator, or division of the AC coil input voltage. Obtaining the clock using a voltage controlled oscillator offers the possibility to apply voltage-regulation feedback through the wireless-power communication link. Future Power Reduction In this work, the modulator SC input path was designed to consume ultra low-power by operating the inverter amplifiers in deep subthreshold and the majority of the modulator power was consumed at the digital blocks. The digital blocks were designed with regular threshold transistors. Regular threshold transistors, compared to low-power transistors, provided predictable low-voltage relative timing performance over process variation. Consistent and controlled relative timing is important in the $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator to avoid imbalancing sampled or integrated charge in the SC signal path.

As the supply-voltage is decreased, digital circuits operating in subthreshold are increasingly sensitive to process variation. Robust ultra-low voltage digital circuit design is an area of active research [115–122], including increased robustness to process variation [117, 123]. In general, the adverse impact of power reduction strategies for subthreshold logic CMOS increase the delay. The low-frequency operation of the $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator-based IOP instrument make it suitable to these strategies, provided that critical relative delay timing is preserved.

General Instrument Concerns General concerns for any instrumentation include temperature sensitivity, drift and absolute accuracy.

Temperature sensitivity Recent work in IOP measurement instrumentation has estimated that at an ocular implant depth of 4 mm a temperature range of 30.6–37.3°C can be expected from an ambient exposure from 0–35°C [15]. The capacitive pressure sensor E1.3N used in this work has a temperature sensitivity of 0.6 fF/°C. It is expected that temperature variation in the CMOS circuits designed in this work would produce common-mode response in the circuit which would be reduced to

a second-order effect in the pseudo-differential circuitry. Future work should have full temperature sensitivity assessment, including any MEMS used.

Drift Drift of the instrument response over time is of high concern in any implanted instrument. In this work, the correlated double sampling reduce the sensitivity to CMOS transistor parameter drift, such as slow variation of transistor offset over time, but other aspects of the instrument, particularly the MEMS capacitive sensors and biocompatable sealant may be prone to drift over time.

The best solution for operating precision is automatic in-place calibration through an auxiliary dummy capacitor-pair. Similar to the calibration scheme proposed in [70], but using additional capacitors rather than ommitting capacitors, the calibration cycle could use a dummy capacitor-pair forming a difference capacitor ΔC_{cal} . Calibration will occur at start up with ΔC_{cal} switched in for a fixed number of clock cycles. The variation in mean-estimate data with ΔC_{cal} in place represents changes in the SC signal path with variations in operating conditions; if the dummycapacitors are constructed in the same technology as the operational capacitors, then voltage dependent parastic changes may also be removed by calibration. Inplace calibration in this manner represents a digitally-assisted design technique that preserves the advantage of minimalist ultra-low voltage operation.

Absolute Accuracy Absolute accuracy must be established for the instrument through a calibration with a standard IOP measurement instrument in a known pressure environment. Future work should consider appropriate means to establish absolute accuracy in a fluid environment with the instrument encased in a biocompatable coating.

6.2.2 In Context of the Large System

The pressure sensing $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator developed in this work was intended as a contributing piece of a larger-group research project. The pressure sensing circuitry was envisioned for use with a CMOS integrated circuit inductor coil using RFID-style wireless-power transfer. In RFID-style wireless power transfer, voltage multiplying rectifiers are commonly used to boost coil voltages to levels suitable for circuitry.

Figure 6.2 shows the modulator together with an inductive coil and a two-stage voltage multiplying rectifier. The rectifier provides the modulator power supply voltage V_{DD} , as well as the analog ground mid-rail voltage, V_{CM} , to the modulator. The single-bit output bit-stream, Y, is shown directed toward the inductor for the purpose of load modulation and communication back to the reader. An expanded view of the designed modulator circuitry is shown. Within the context of the larger system, $\Sigma\Delta$ modulation offers an advantage in that it generates an output data bit-stream that requires no header information. By bringing the bit-stream out directly, the digital filtering is implemented at the external receiver, effectively shifting power requirements away from the implant.

Voltage multiplying rectifiers for RFID wireless-power transfer have been reported with as little as 200 mV induced coil voltage using low-threshold CMOS transistors [15, 127, 128]. As discussed in Appendix F, multiplying rectifiers implemented with low-threshold transistors are subject to relatively large reverse-biased diode currents and are most efficiently operated with a minimal voltage increment per stage. The optimal voltage increment, ensuring the most efficient operation of the rectifier, depends on the power consumption of the load circuitry [129]. The



Figure 6.2: Envisioned full IOP measurement system with RFID-style power transfer. The figure shows the voltage multiplying rectifier, $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator and capacitive sensor (within the modulator circuitry). This work investigated the low-voltage, low-power operation capabilities of the modulator together with capacitive sensors.

design of the voltage multiplying rectifier with several stages allows for several intermediate output voltages which may be used creatively within the modulator circuitry.

Research work remaining for the large system include investigation of further power-reduction strategies using the range of voltage outputs from a multistage rectifier, by using lower voltages at digital logic block, for instance; post-processing of MEMS capacitive sensors; development of suitable biocompatable coating that facilitates the transmission of pressure to the sensors; development of the communication circuitry from the implant to the reader; and development of a closed-loop control system to regulate the implant voltage through the communication link.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] T. Budinger, "Biomonitoring with wireless communications," *Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 5, pp. 383–412, 2003.
- [2] Y. Hao and R. Foster, "Wireless body sensor networks for health-monitoring applications," *Physiological Measurement*, vol. 29, no. 11, pp. R27–R56, Nov 2008.
- [3] H. J. Lee, S. H. Lee, K.-S. Ha, H. C. Jang, W. O. Chung, J. Y. Kim, Y.-S. Chang, and D. H. Yoo, "Ubiquitous healthcare service using Zigbee and mobile phone for elderly patients," *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, vol. 78, no. 3, pp. 193–198, Mar 2009.
- [4] D. Vassis, P. Belsis, C. Skourlas, and G. Pantziou, "Providing advanced remote medical treatment services through pervasive environments," *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 563–573, Sep 2010.

- [5] S. Krishna, S. A. Boren, and E. A. Balas, "Healthcare via Cell Phones: A Systematic Review," *Telemedicine Journal and E-health*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 231–240, April 2009.
- [6] K. Van Schuylenbergh, E. Peters, B. Puers, and W. Sansen, "An implantable telemetric tonometer for direct intraocular pressure measurements," *Abstr. 1st Eur. Conf. Biomed. Eng., Nice, France*, pp. 194–195, 1991.
- [7] R. Dresher and P. Irazoqui, "A compact nanopower low output impedance CMOS operational amplifier for wireless intraocular pressure recordings," in *Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society*, 2007. EMBS 2007. 29th Annual International Conference of the IEEE, 2007, pp. 6055–6058.
- [8] J. Coosemans, M. Catrysse, and R. Puers, "A readout circuit for an intraocular pressure sensor," *Sensors And Actuators A-Physical*, vol. 110, no. 1-3, pp. 432–438, Feb. 2004.
- [9] U. Schnakenberg, P. Walter, G. V. Bogel, C. Kruger, H. C. Ludtke-Handjery, H. A. Richter, W. Specht, P. Ruokonen, and W. Mokwa, "Initial investigations on systems for measuring intraocular pressure," *Sensors And Actuators A-Physical*, vol. 85, no. 1-3, pp. 287–291, Aug. 2000.
- [10] L. Rosengren, P. Rangsten, Y. Backlund, B. Hok, B. Svedbergh, and G. Selen,
 "A system for passive implantable pressure sensors," *Sensors And Actuators A-Physical*, vol. 43, no. 1-3, pp. 55–58, May 1994.
- [11] S. Lizon-Martinez, R. Giannetti, J. L. Rodriguez-Marrero, and B. Tellini,"Design of a system for continuous intraocular pressure monitoring," *IEEE*

Transactions On Instrumentation And Measurement, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 1534–1540, Aug. 2005.

- [12] K. C. Katuri, S. Asrani, and M. K. Ramasubramanian, "Intraocular pressure monitoring sensors," *IEEE Sensors Journal*, vol. 8, no. 1-2, pp. 12–19, Jan. 2008.
- [13] E. Y. Chow, A. L. Chlebowski, and P. P. Irazoqui, "A Miniature-Implantable RF-Wireless Active Glaucoma Intraocular Pressure Monitor," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Circuits and Systems*, vol. 4, no. 6, Part 1, pp. 340–349, Dec. 2010, IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC 2010), San Francisco, CA, Feb, 2010.
- [14] G. Chen, H. Ghaed, R. Haque, M. Wieckowski, Y. Kim, G. Kim, D. Fick, D. Kim, M. Seok, K. Wise, D. Blaauw, and D. Sylvester, "A cubic-millimeter energy-autonomous wireless intraocular pressure monitor," in *Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC), 2011 IEEE International*, Feb. 2011, pp. 310 –312.
- [15] Y. Shih, T. Shen, and B. P. Otis, "A 2.3 μW wireless intraocular pressure/temperature monitor," *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of*, vol. 46, no. 11, Nov. 2011.
- [16] J. Liu, X. Zhang, D. Kripke, and R. Weinreb, "Twenty-four-hour intraocular pressure pattern associated with early glaucomatous changes," *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 1586–1590, APR 2003.

- [17] H. A. Quigley, "Glaucoma," *The Lancet*, vol. 377, no. 9774, pp. 1367 1377, 2011. [Online]. Available: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0140673610614237
- [18] S. Asrani, R. Zeimer, J. Wilensky, D. Gieser, S. Vitale, and K. Lindenmuth, "Large diurnal fluctuations in intraocular pressure are an independent risk factor in patients with glaucoma," *JOURNAL OF GLAUCOMA*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 134–142, APR 2000.
- [19] Feb. 2008. [Online]. Available: http://www.who.int/blindness/causes/priority/ en/
- [20] R. L. Stamper, "A History of Intraocular Pressure and Its Measurement," *Optometry and Vision Science*, vol. 88, no. 1, pp. E16–E28, JAN 2011.
- [21] N. Domke, A. Hager, and W. Wiegand, "Intraocular pressure and corneal thickness - a comparison between non-contact tonometry and applanation tonometry," *Ophthalmologe*, vol. 103, no. 7, pp. 583–587, July 2006.
- [22] W. Wiegand, B. Schroeder, and A. Hager, "Theoretical basis of goldmann applanation tonometry," *Klinische Monatsblatter Fur Augenheilkunde*, vol. 222, no. 7, pp. 552–557, July 2005.
- [23] C. C. Collins, "Miniature passive pressure transensor for implanting in eye," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. BM14, no. 2, pp. 74–&, 1967.
- [24] K. Stangel, S. Kolnsberg, D. Hammerschmidt, B. J. Hosticka, H. K. Trieu, and W. Mokwa, "A programmable intraocular cmos pressure sensor system

implant," IEEE Journal Of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 1094–1100, July 2001.

- [25] E. Chow, S. Chakraborty, W. Chappell, and P. Irazoqui, "Mixed-signal integrated circuits for self-contained sub-cubic millimeter biomedical implants," in *Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC), 2010 IEEE International*, Feb. 2010, pp. 236–237.
- [26] M. Leonardi, P. Leuenberger, D. Bertrand, A. Bertsch, and P. Renaud, "First steps toward noninvasive intraocular pressure monitoring with a sensing contact lens," *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, vol. 45, no. 9, pp. 3113–3117, Sept. 2004.
- [27] P. J. Chen, D. C. Rodger, M. S. Humayun, and Y. C. Tai, "Unpowered spiraltube parylene pressure sensor for intraocular pressure sensing," *Sensors And Actuators A-Physical*, vol. 127, no. 2, pp. 276–282, Mar. 2006.
- [28] Y. Manoli, "Energy harvesting–from devices to systems," in *ESSCIRC*, 2010 *Proceedings of the*, 2010, pp. 27–36.
- [29] M. Usami, "An ultra-small rfid chip: u-chip," in Advanced System Integrated Circuits 2004. Proceedings of 2004 IEEE Asia-Pacific Conference on, 2004, pp. 2–5.
- [30] C. A. Balanis, Antenna Theory. John Wiley & Sons, 2005.
- [31] A. Poon, S. O'Driscoll, and T. Meng, "Optimal operating frequency in wireless power transmission for implantable devices," in *Engineering in Medicine*

and Biology Society, 2007. EMBS 2007. 29th Annual International Conference of the IEEE, 2007, pp. 5673–5678.

- [32] —, "Optimal frequency for wireless power transmission into dispersive tissue," Antennas and Propagation, IEEE Transactions on, vol. 58, no. 5, pp. 1739–1750, 2010.
- [33] S. O'Driscoll, A. Poon, and T. Meng, "A mm-sized implantable power receiver with adaptive link compensation," in *Solid-State Circuits Conference -Digest of Technical Papers, 2009. ISSCC 2009. IEEE International*, 2009, pp. 294–295,295a.
- [34] M. Zargham and P. Gulak, "A 0.13 um cmos integrated wireless power receiver for biomedical applications," in ESSCIRC (ESSCIRC), 2013 Proceedings of the, 2013, pp. 137–140.
- [35] R. Muller, S. Gambini, and J. Rabaey, "A 0.013 mm², 5 μw, DC-coupled neural signal acquisition IC with 0.5 V supply," *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 232–243, 2012.
- [36] A. Yeknami and A. Alvandpour, "A 0.5-V 250-nW 65-dB SNDR passive sigma-delta modulator for medical implant devices," in *Circuits and Systems* (ISCAS), 2013 IEEE International Symposium on, 2013, pp. 2010–2013.
- [37] C. Huang and S. Chakrabartty, "An asynchronous analog self-powered CMOS sensor-data-logger with a 13.56 MHz RF programming interface," *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 476–489, 2012.

- [38] J.-P. Im, S.-W. Wang, S.-T. Ryu, and G.-H. Cho, "A 40 mV transformer-reuse self-startup boost converter with MPPT control for thermoelectric energy harvesting," *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of*, vol. 47, no. 12, pp. 3055– 3067, 2012.
- [39] T. Paing, E. Falkenstein, R. Zane, and Z. Popovic, "Custom IC for ultralow power RF energy scavenging," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 1620–1626, 2011.
- [40] C. Galup-Montoro, M. Schneider, and M. Machado, "Ultra-low-voltage operation of cmos analog circuits: Amplifiers, oscillators, and rectifiers," *Circuits and Systems II: Express Briefs, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 59, no. 12, pp. 932–936, 2012.
- [41] F. Michel and M. Steyaert., "A 250 mV 7.5 μW 61 dB SMDR CMOS SC ΔΣ modulator using a near-threshold-voltage-biased CMOS inverter technique," in *Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC), 2010 IEEE International*, sept. 2012, pp. 476–478.
- [42] A. Hirata, S. Matsuyama, and T. Shiozawa, "Temperature rises in the human eye exposed to EM waves in the frequency range 0.6-6 GHz," *IEEE Transactions On Electromagnetic Compatibility*, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 386–393, Nov. 2000.
- [43] A. Hirata, H. Watanabe, and T. Shiozawa, "Sar and temperature increase in the human eye induced by obliquely incident plane waves," *Ieee Transactions On Electromagnetic Compatibility*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 592–594, Nov. 2002.

- [44] H. P. Schwan, "Microwave and RF hazard standard considerations," *Journal Of Microwave Power And Electromagnetic Energy*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 1–9, 1982.
- [45] Private conversation, Dr. Ordan Lehmann, University of Alberta, Edmonton 2008.
- [46] F. Ruefer, "Sources of error in Goldmann applanation tonometry," OPH-THALMOLOGE, vol. 108, no. 6, pp. 546+, JUN 2011.
- [47] M. J. S. Smith, L. Bowman, and J. D. Meindl, "Analysis, design, and performance of a capacitive pressure sensor IC," *Biomedical Engineering, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. BME-33, no. 2, pp. 163–174, 1986.
- [48] G. Blasquez, P. Pons, and A. Boukabache, "Capabilities and limits of silicon pressure sensors," *Sensors And Actuators*, vol. 17, no. 3-4, pp. 387–403, May 1989.
- [49] S. Clark and K. Wise, "Pressure sensitivity in anisotropically etched thindiaphragm pressure sensors," *Electron Devices, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 26, no. 12, pp. 1887–1896, 1979.
- [50] W. Ko, M.-H. Bao, and Y.-D. Hong, "A high-sensitivity integrated-circuit capacitive pressure transducer," *Electron Devices, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 48–56, 1982.
- [51] W. H. Ko, J. Hynecek, and S. F. Boettcher, "Development of a miniature pressure transducer for biomedical applications," *IEEE Transactions On Electron Devices*, vol. 26, no. 12, pp. 1896–1905, 1979.

- [52] R. Puers, "Capacitive sensors when and how to use them," Sensors And Actuators A-Physical, vol. 37-8, pp. 93–105, June 1993.
- [53] B. Puers, E. Peeters, A. Vandenbossche, and W. Sansen, "A capacitive pressure sensor with low impedance output and active suppression of parasitic effects," *Sensors And Actuators A-Physical*, vol. 21, no. 1-3, pp. 108–114, Feb. 1990.
- [54] W. Bracke, P. Merken, R. Puers, and C. V. Hoof, "Ultra-low-power interface chip for autonomous capacitive sensor systems," *Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 130–140, Jan. 2007.
- [55] X. Zhang and P. Chan, "A low-power switched-capacitor capacitive transducer with high resolution," *Instrumentation and Measurement, IEEE Transactions* on, vol. 57, no. 7, pp. 1492 –1499, July 2008.
- [56] S. Ogawa, Y. Oisugi, K. Mochizuki, and K. Watanabe, "A switched-capacitor interface for differential capacitance transducers," *Instrumentation and Measurement, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 1296–1301, Oct 2001.
- [57] H. Tuinhout, H. Elzinga, J. Brugman, and F. Postma, "Accurate capacitor matching measurements using floating gate test structures," in *Microelectronic Test Structures*, 1995. ICMTS 1995. Proceedings of the 1995 International Conference on, Mar 1995, pp. 133–137.
- [58] K. Stangel, S. Kolnsberg, D. Hammerschmidt, B. Hosticka, H. Trieu, andW. Mokwa, "A programmable intraocular CMOS pressure sensor system im-

plant," in Solid-State Circuits Conference, 2000. ESSCIRC '00. Proceedings of the 26th European, 2000, pp. 381–384.

- [59] C. C. Enz and G. C. Temes, "Circuit techniques for reducing the effects of op-amp imperfections: Autozeroing, correlated double sampling, and chopper stabilization," *Proceedings Of The IEEE*, vol. 84, no. 11, pp. 1584–1614, Nov. 1996.
- [60] M.-L. Sheu, W.-H. Hsu, and L.-J. Tsao, "A capacitance-ratio-modulated current front-end circuit with pulsewidth modulation output for a capacitive sensor interface," *Instrumentation and Measurement, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. PP, no. 99, pp. 1–9, 2011.
- [61] Z. Ignjatovic and M. Bocko, "An interface circuit for measuring capacitance changes based upon capacitance-to-duty cycle (CDC) converter," *Sensors Journal, IEEE*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 403–410, 2005.
- [62] X. J. Li and G. C. M. Meijer, "An accurate interface for capacitive sensors," *Ieee Transactions On Instrumentation And Measurement*, vol. 51, no. 5, pp. 935–939, Oct. 2002.
- [63] S. W. Guo, J. Guo, and W. H. Ko, "A monolithically integrated surface micromachined touch mode capacitive pressure sensor," *Sensors And Actuators A-Physical*, vol. 80, no. 3, pp. 224–232, Mar. 2000.
- [64] A. D. DeHennis and K. D. Wise, "A wireless microsystem for the remote sensing of pressure, temperature, and relative humidity," *Journal Of Microelectromechanical Systems*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 12–22, Feb. 2005.

- [65] Y. Liu, S. Chen, M. Nakayama, and K. Watanabe, "Limitations of a relaxation oscillator in capacitance measurements," *Instrumentation and Measurement*, *IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 49, no. 5, pp. 980–983, oct 2000.
- [66] X. Li and G. Meijer, "A capacitive-sensor interface circuit based on a firstorder charge-balanced sc-oscillator," in *Instrumentation and Measurement Technology Conference, 2001. IMTC 2001. Proceedings of the 18th IEEE*, vol. 1, May 2001, pp. 282 –285 vol.1.
- [67] F. Krummenacher, "A high-resolution capacitance-to-frequency converter," Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 666 – 670, Jun 1985.
- [68] A. Heidary, S. Shalmany, and G. Meijer, "A flexible low-power highresolution integrated interface for capacitive sensors," in *Industrial Electronics (ISIE), 2010 IEEE International Symposium on*, July 2010, pp. 3347 –3350.
- [69] O. Roux dit Buisson, G. Morin, F. Paillardet, and E. Mazaleyrat, "A new characterization method for accurate capacitor matching measurements using pseudo-floating gate test structures in submicron CMOS and BiCMOS technologies," in *Microelectronic Test Structures*, 1998. ICMTS 1998., Proceedings of the 1998 International Conference on, Mar 1998, pp. 223–227.
- [70] B. Wang, T. Kajita, T. Sun, and C. Temes, "High-accuracy circuits for onchip capacitive ratio testing and sensor readout," *IEEE Transactions On Instrumentation And Measurement*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 16–20, Feb. 1998.

- [71] Y. M. Cao and G. C. Temes, "High accuracy circuits for on chip capacitance ratio testing or sensor readout," *IEEE Transactions On Circuits And Systems I Analog And Digital Signal Processing*, vol. 41, no. 9, pp. 637–639, Sept. 1994.
- [72] J. O'Dowd, A. Callanan, G. Banarie, and E. Company-Bosch, "Capacitive sensor interfacing using sigma-delta techniques," in *Sensors*, 2005 IEEE, 2005, pp. 951–954.
- [73] U. Sonmez, H. Kulah, and T. Akin, "A fourth order unconstrained capacitive accelerometer," in *Solid-State Sensors, Actuators and Microsystems Conference (TRANSDUCERS), 2011 16th International*, June 2011, pp. 707 –710.
- [74] D.-Y. Shin, H. Lee, and S. Kim, "A delta sigma interface circuit for capacitive sensors with an automatically calibrated zero point," *Circuits and Systems II: Express Briefs, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 90–94, Feb. 2011.
- [75] K. Xiaofei, "A fully-differential chopper-stabilized sigma-delta interface for micro-accelerometer," in *Mechanical and Electrical Technology (ICMET)*, 2010 2nd International Conference on, Sept. 2010, pp. 726–729.
- [76] M. Ali-Bakhshian and G. Roberts, "A semi-digital interface for capacitive sensors," in *Circuits and Systems, 2009. ISCAS 2009. IEEE International Symposium on*, May 2009, pp. 1957–1960.

- [77] X. Shi, H. Matsumoto, and K. Murao, "A high-accuracy digital readout technique for humidity sensor," *Instrumentation and Measurement, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 1277 –1282, Oct 2001.
- [78] B. Rodgers, S. Goenawan, M. Yunus, Y. Kaneko, and J. Yoshiike, "A 16 μA interface circuit for a capacitive flow sensor," *IEEE Journal Of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 33, no. 12, pp. 2121–2133, Dec. 1998.
- [79] J. Kung, H.-S. Lee, and R. Howe, "A digital readout technique for capacitive sensor applications," *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 972–977, aug 1988.
- [80] K. Tanaka, Y. Kuramochi, T. Kurashina, K. Okada, and A. Matsuzawa, "A 0.026 mm² capacitance-to-digital converter for biotelemetry applications using a charge redistribution technique," in *Solid-State Circuits Conference*, 2007. ASSCC '07. IEEE Asian, Nov. 2007, pp. 244 –247.
- [81] B. Bechen, T. V. D. Boom, D. Weiler, and B. Hosticka, "Theoretical and practical minimum of the power consumption of 3 ADCs in SC technique," in *Circuit Theory and Design*, 2007. ECCTD 2007. 18th European Conference on, Aug. 2007, pp. 444 –447.
- [82] B. Bechen, D. Weiler, T. V. D. Boom, and B. J. Hosticka, "A 10 bit very low-power CMOS SAR-ADC for capacitive micro-mechanical pressure measurement in implants," *Advances in Radio Science*, vol. 4, pp. 243–246, 2006. [Online]. Available: http://www.adv-radio-sci.net/4/243/2006/
- [83] L. Yan, J. Yoo, B. Kim, and H. Yoo, "A 0.5μV_{rms} 12μW wirelessly powered patch-type healthcare sensor for wearable body sensor network," *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of*, vol. 45, no. 11, pp. 2356–2365, Nov. 2010.
- [84] S. O'Driscoll, K. Shenoy, and T. Meng, "Adaptive resolution ADC array for an implantable neural sensor," *Biomedical Circuits and Systems, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 120–130, April 2011.
- [85] E. Lopez-Morillo, R. Carvajal, F. Munoz, H. El Gmili, A. Lopez-Martin, J. Ramirez-Angulo, and E. Rodriguez-Villegas, "A 1.2-V 140-nW 10-bit sigma-delta modulator for electroencephalogram applications," *Biomedical Circuits and Systems, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 223–230, 2008.
- [86] Y. Chae and G. Han, "Low voltage, low power, inverter-based switchedcapacitor delta-sigma modulator," *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 458–472, 2009.
- [87] Y. Chae, M. Kwon, and G. Han, "A 0.8 μW switched-capacitor sigma-delta modulator using a class-c inverter," in *Circuits and Systems, 2004. ISCAS* '04. Proceedings of the 2004 International Symposium on, vol. 1, 2004, pp. I–1152–5 Vol.1.
- [88] P. Cong, N. Chaimanonart, W. Ko, and D. Young, "A wireless and batteryless 130mg 300μ W 10b implantable blood-pressure-sensing microsystem for real-time genetically engineered mice monitoring," pp. 428–429,429a, Feb. 2009.

- [89] P. Cong, W. Ko, and D. Young, "Low noise μWatt interface circuits for wireless implantable real-time digital blood pressure monitoring," in *Custom Integrated Circuits Conference*, 2008. CICC 2008. IEEE, 2008, pp. 523 –526.
- [90] N. Cho, S.-J. Song, S. Kim, S. Kim, and H.-J. Yoo, "A 5.1 μw UHF RFID tag chip integrated with sensors for wireless environmental monitoring," in *Solid-State Circuits Conference*, 2005. ESSCIRC 2005. Proceedings of the 31st European, 2005, pp. 279 – 282.
- [91] K. Opasjumruskit, T. Thanthipwan, O. Sathusen, P. Sirinamarattana, P. Gadmanee, E. Pootarapan, N. Wongkomet, A. Thanachayanont, and M. Thamsirianunt, "Self-powered wireless temperature sensors exploit RFID technology," *Pervasive Computing, IEEE*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 54 – 61, Jan.-March 2006.
- [92] A. Vaz, A. Ubarretxena, I. Zalbide, D. Pardo, H. Solar, A. Garcia-Alonso, and R. Berenguer, "Full passive UHF tag with a temperature sensor suitable for human body temperature monitoring," *Circuits and Systems II: Express Briefs, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 95–99, Feb. 2010.
- [93] H. Shen, L. Li, and Y. Zhou, "Fully integrated passive UHF RFID tag with temperature sensor for environment monitoring," in *ASIC*, 2007. ASICON '07. 7th International Conference on, Oct. 2007, pp. 360–363.
- [94] S. Kim, J.-H. Cho, H.-S. Kim, H. Kim, H.-B. Kang, and S.-K. Hong, "An EPC Gen 2 compatible passive/semi-active UHF RFID transponder with embedded FeRAM and temperature sensor," in *Solid-State Circuits Conference*, 2007. ASSCC '07. IEEE Asian, Nov. 2007, pp. 135–138.

- [95] Z. Shenghua and W. Nanjian, "A novel ultra low power temperature sensor for UHF RFID tag chip," in *Solid-State Circuits Conference*, 2007. ASSCC '07. IEEE Asian, Nov. 2007, pp. 464 –467.
- [96] D. Yeager, F. Zhang, A. Zarrasvand, N. George, T. Daniel, and B. Otis, "A 9 μA, addressable Gen2 sensor tag for biosignal acquisition," *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of*, vol. 45, no. 10, pp. 2198 –2209, Oct. 2010.
- [97] S. Robinet, B. Gomez, and N. Delorme, "A CMOS-SOI 2.45 GHz remotepowered sensor tag," in *Solid-State Circuits Conference*, 2008. ISSCC 2008. Digest of Technical Papers. IEEE International, Feb. 2008, pp. 286–614.
- [98] D. De Venuto, E. Stikvoort, D. Castro, and Y. Ponomarev, "Ultra low-power 12-bit SAR ADC for RFID applications," in *Design, Automation Test in Europe Conference Exhibition (DATE), 2010*, March 2010, pp. 1071–1075.
- [99] X. Zou, X. Xu, L. Yao, and Y. Lian, "A 1-V 450-nw fully integrated programmable biomedical sensor interface chip," *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 1067 –1077, april 2009.
- [100] D. Zhang, A. Bhide, and A. Alvandpour, "A 53-nw 9.1-ENOB 1-ks/s SAR ADC in 0.13-μm CMOS for medical implant devices," *Solid-State Circuits*, *IEEE Journal of*, vol. 47, no. 7, pp. 1585 –1593, july 2012.
- [101] M. Copeland and J. Rabaey, "Dynamic amplifier for M.O.S. technology," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 15, no. 10, pp. 301–302, 10 1979.
- [102] B. Hosticka, "Dynamic CMOS amplifiers," *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 881 886, Oct 1980.

- [103] F. Dorel, P. Molliet, F. Krummenacher, and M. Declercq, "Fast CMOS amplifiers for high-frequency switched-capacitor circuits," in *Solid-State Circuits Conference, 1988. ESSCIRC* '88. Fourteenth European, Sept. 1988, pp. 135 –138.
- [104] J. Sauerbrey, J. Sauerbrey, D. Schmitt-Landsiedel, and R. Thewes, "A 0.5-V
 1μW successive approximation ADC," *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of*, vol. 38, no. 7, pp. 1261–1265, 2003.
- [105] B. Boser and B. Wooley, "The design of sigma-delta modulation analog-todigital converters," *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of*, vol. 23, no. 6, pp. 1298–1308, Dec. 1988.
- [106] J. Candy and G. Temes, Oversampling Delta-Sigma Data Converters(Theory, Design, and Simulation). Wiley-IEEE Press, 1991.
- [107] S. Norsworthy, R. Schreier, and G. Temes, *Delta-Sigma Data Converters: Theory, Design, and Simulation*. Wiley-IEEE Press, 1997.
- [108] R. Gregorian and G. C. Temes, Analog MOS Integrated Circuits for Signal Processing. John Wiley & Sons, 1986.
- [109] K. R. Laker and W. Sansen, *Design of Analog Integrated Circuits and Systems*. McGraw-Hill International, 1994.
- [110] G. Taylor, "Subthreshold conduction in mosfet's," *Electron Devices, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 337–350, 1978.

- [111] R. Sarpeshkar, T. Delbruck, and C. Mead, "White noise in mos transistors and resistors," *Circuits and Devices Magazine, IEEE*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 23–29, 1993.
- [112] R. Schreier, G. Temes, A. G. Yesilyurt, Z. X. Zhang, Z. Czarnul, and A. Hairapetian, "Multibit bandpass delta-sigma modulators using n-path structures," in *Circuits and Systems, 1992. ISCAS '92. Proceedings., 1992 IEEE International Symposium on*, vol. 2, 1992, pp. 593–596 vol.2.
- [113] S. Tedja, J. Van der Spiegel, and H. Williams, "Analytical and experimental studies of thermal noise in MOSFET's," *Electron Devices, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 41, no. 11, pp. 2069–2075, 1994.
- [114] R. Schreier, J. Silva, J. Steensgaard, and G. Temes, "Design-oriented estimation of thermal noise in switched-capacitor circuits," *Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 52, no. 11, pp. 2358 2368, Nov. 2005.
- [115] D. Bol, R. Ambroise, D. Flandre, and J. Legat, "Building ultra-low-power lowfrequency digital circuits with high-speed devices," in *Electronics, Circuits and Systems, 2007. ICECS 2007. 14th IEEE International Conference on*, 2007, pp. 1404–1407.
- [116] H. Soeleman and K. Roy, "Ultra-low power digital subthreshold logic circuits," in Low Power Electronics and Design, 1999. Proceedings. 1999 International Symposium on, 1999, pp. 94–96.

- [117] H. Soeleman, K. Roy, and B. Paul, "Robust subthreshold logic for ultralow power operation," Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems, IEEE Transactions on, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 90–99, 2001.
- [118] S. Fisher, A. Teman, D. Vaysman, A. Gertsman, O. Yadid-Pecht, and A. Fish,
 "Digital subthreshold logic design motivation and challenges," in *Electrical* and Electronics Engineers in Israel, 2008. IEEE 2008. IEEE 25th Convention o, 2008, pp. 702–706.
- [119] A. Tajalli and Y. Leblebici, "Subthreshold leakage reduction: A comparative study of scl and cmos design," in *Circuits and Systems*, 2009. ISCAS 2009. IEEE International Symposium on, 2009, pp. 2553–2556.
- [120] A. Arthurs and J. Di, "Analysis of ultra-low voltage digital circuits over process variations," in *Subthreshold Microelectronics Conference (SubVT)*, 2012 IEEE, 2012, pp. 1–3.
- [121] L. Clark, R. Patel, and T. Beatty, "Managing standby and active mode leakage power in deep sub-micron design," in *Low Power Electronics and Design*, 2004. ISLPED '04. Proceedings of the 2004 International Symposium on, 2004, pp. 274–279.
- [122] S. Eratne, P. Nair, and E. John, "Leakage control in full adders with selectively stacked inverters," in *Circuits and Systems (MWSCAS)*, 2010 53rd IEEE International Midwest Symposium on, 2010, pp. 833–836.

- [123] A. Arthurs, J. Roark, and J. Di, "Ultra-low voltage digital circuit design: A comparative study," in *Faible Tension Faible Consommation (FTFC)*, 2012 *IEEE*, 2012, pp. 1–4.
- [124] F. Harris, "On the use of windows for harmonic analysis with the discrete fourier transform," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 66, no. 1, pp. 51–83, 1978.
- [125] R. Schreier and G. Temes, Understanding Sigma Delta Data Converters. IEEE Press, 2004.
- [126] M. Ghaed, G. Chen, R.-U. Haque, M. Wieckowski, Y. Kim, G. Kim, Y. Lee,
 I. Lee, D. Fick, D. Kim, M. Seok, K. Wise, D. Blaauw, and D. Sylvester,
 "Circuits for a cubic-millimeter energy-autonomous wireless intraocular pressure monitor," *Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, IEEE Transactions* on, vol. 60, no. 12, pp. 3152–3162, 2013.
- [127] Y. Yao, J. Wu, Y. Shi, and F. Dai, "A fully integrated 900-mHz passive rfid transponder front end with novel zero-threshold RF-DC rectifier," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 56, no. 7, pp. 2317 –2325, july 2009.
- [128] A. Shameli, A. Safarian, A. Rofougaran, M. Rofougaran, and F. De Flaviis,
 "Power harvester design for passive UHF RFID tag using a voltage boosting technique," *Microwave Theory and Techniques, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 2007, no. 6, pp. 1089–1097, 2007.
- [129] J. Yi, W. H. Ki, and C. Y. Tsui, "Analysis and design strategy of UHF micro-power CMOS rectifiers for micro-sensor and RFID applications," *IEEE*

Transactions On Circuits And Systems I-Regular Papers, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 153–166Z, Jan. 2007.

- [130] [Online]. Available: http://sensimed.ch/
- [131] O. Akar, T. Akin, and K. Najafi, "A wireless batch sealed absolute capacitive pressure sensor," *Sensors and Actuators A-Physical*, vol. 95, no. 1, pp. 29–38, Dec. 2001.
- [132] W. Mokwa and U. Schnakenberg, "Micro-transponder systems for medical applications," *IEEE Transactions On Instrumentation And Measurement*, vol. 50, no. 6, pp. 1551–1555, Dec. 2001.
- [133] G. Gudnasen and E. Bruun, CMOS Circuit Design for RF Sensors. Kluwer Academic Publishers NewYork, Boston, Dordrecht, London, Moscow, 2002.
- [134] N. D. Donaldson and T. A. Perkins, "Analysis of resonant coupled coils in the design of radio-frequency trans-cutaneous links," *Medical & Biological Engineering & Computing*, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 612–627, 1983.
- [135] E. Hochmair, "System optimization for improved accuracy in trans-cutaineous signal and power transmission," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 177–186, 1984.
- [136] C. Zierhofer and E. Hochmair, "Geometric approach for coupling enhancement of magnetically coupled coils," *IEEE Transactions on biomedical engineering*, vol. 43, no. 7, pp. 708–714, JUL 1996.

- [137] L. A. Glasser, A. C. Malamy, and C. W. Selvidge, "A magnetic power and communication interface for a CMOS integrated-circuit," *IEEE Journal Of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 1146–1149, Aug. 1989.
- [138] A. Malamy, L. Glasser, and C. Selvidge, "A magnetic power and commanication interface for a CMOS die," in *Solid-State Circuits Conference*, 1988. *Digest of Technical Papers. ISSCC. 1988 IEEE International*, 1988, pp. 264– 265, 398–399–.
- [139] A. Abrial, J. Bouvier, M. Renaudin, P. Senn, and P. Vivet, "A new contactless smart card IC using an on-chip antenna and an asynchronous microcontroller," *IEEE Journal Of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 1101–1107, July 2001.
- [140] X. S. Chen, W. G. Yeoh, Y. B. Choi, H. Y. Li, and R. Singh, "A 2.45-GHz nearfield RFID system with passive on-chip antenna tags," *IEEE Transactions On Microwave Theory And Techniques*, vol. 56, no. 6, pp. 1397–1404, June 2008.
- [141] A. Shameli, A. Safarian, A. Rofougaran, M. Rofougaran, J. Castaneda, and F. De Flaviis, "A UHF near-field RFID system with fully integrated transponder," *Microwave Theory and Techniques, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 56, no. 5, pp. 1267–1277, 2008.
- [142] A. Shameli, A. Safarian, A. Rofougaran, M. Rofougaran, and F. De Flaviis,
 "An RFID system with fully integrated transponder," in *Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits (RFIC) Symposium, 2007 IEEE*, 2007, pp. 285–288.

- [143] June 2008. [Online]. Available: http://www.fcc.gov/
- [144] Y. M. Hu, M. Sawan, and M. N. El-Gamal, "An integrated power recovery module dedicated to implantable electronic devices," *Analog Integrated Circuits And Signal Processing*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 171–181, May 2005.
- [145] Y. Hu, Low-Power High-Efficiency Fully Duplex Wireless Interface for Implantable Electronic Devices. PhD Thesis, University of Montreal, 2006.
- [146] "IEEE Std C95.1 2005, IEEE standard for safety levels with respect to human exposure to radio frequency electromagnetic fields, 3 khz to 300 GHz," pp. 1–238, 2006.
- [147] RF Dosimetry Handbook (October 1986), USAF School of Aerospace Medicine, Aerospace Medical Division (AFSC), Brooks Air Force Base, TX 78235-5301. [Online]. Available: http://niremf.ifac.cnr.it/docs/HANDBOOK/ contents.htm
- [148] A. Taflove and M. Brodwin, "Computation of the electromagnetic fields and induced temperatures within a model of the microwave-irradiated human eye," *Microwave Theory and Techniques, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 888–896, 1975.
- [149] V. M. M. Flyckt, B. W. Raaymakers, and J. J. W. Lagendijk, "Modelling the impact of blood flow on the temperature distribution in the human eye and the orbit: fixed heat transfer coefficients versus the pennes bioheat model versus discrete blood vessels," *Physics In Medicine And Biology*, vol. 51, no. 19, pp. 5007–5021, Oct. 2006.

- [150] M. F. Reiser, W. Semmier, and H. Hricak, *Magnetic Resonance Tomography*. Springer, 2007.
- [151] F. Shellock and C. Schatz, "Increased corneal temperature caused by MR imaging of the eye with a dedicated local coil." *Radiology*, vol. 185, no. 3, pp. 697–699, Dec. 1992.
- [152] J.-P. Curty, N. Joehl, C. Dehollain, and M. Declercq, "Remotely powered addressable UHF RFID integrated system," *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal* of, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 2193–2202, 2005.
- [153] J. Yi, W.-H. Ki, and C.-Y. Tsui, "Corrections to "analysis and design strategy of uhf micro-power cmos rectifiers for micro-sensor and rfid applications"
 [jan 07 153-166]," *Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 54, no. 6, p. 1406, June 2007.
- [154] Dec. 2011. [Online]. Available: http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/smt-gst.nsf/eng/ sf01226.html#sche1
- [155] J. Candy, "A use of double integration in sigma delta modulation," *Communications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 249 258, Mar. 1985.
- [156] F. Eynde and W.Sanson, Analog Interfaces for Digital Signal Processing Systems. Kluwer Academic Publ, 1993.
- [157] S. Norsworthy, I. Post, and H. Fetterman, "A 14-bit 80 kHz sigma-delta A/D converter: modelling, design and performance evaluation," *IEEE Journal Of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 24, 1989.

- [158] B. Brandt, W. D.E., and W. B.A., "Second-order sigma-delta modulation for digital audio signal aquisition," *IEEE Journal Of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 26, 1991.
- [159] S. Radiom, C. De Roover, G. Vandenbosch, M. Steyaert, and G. Gielen,
 "A fully integrated pinless long-range power supply with on-chip antenna for scavenging-based RFID tag powering," in *Silicon Monolithic Integrated Circuits in RF Systems, 2009. SiRF '09. IEEE Topical Meeting on*, 2009, pp. 1–4.
- [160] S. Mandal and R. Sarpeshkar, "Low-power CMOS rectifier design for RFID applications," *IEEE Transactions On Circuits And Systems I-Regular Papers*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 1177–1188, June 2007.

APPENDIX A

GLAUCOMA & INTRAOCULAR PRESSURE MEASUREMENT

The purpose of this appendix is to provide a brief description of gluacoma disease and to review the prior gluacoma instrumentation research.

A.1 Introduction

Glaucoma describes a collection of diseases that cause damage to the optic nerve, leading to blindness if left untreated. The primary indicator of glaucoma is elevated intraocular pressure; normal intraocular pressure is approximately 20 mmHg, whereas elevated pressure associated with glaucoma can be as high as 50 mmHg [45].

An implanted intraocular pressure sensor was first suggested by Collins [23] in

1967. In the intervening 30 years, research into miniaturiased implantable sensors specifically for the purpose has pursued both passive [8, 10, 11], and active [6, 24] electronic techniques as well as alternative methods.

An implanted system needs to be reliable, accurate and small. The small size is required for a non-invasive placement to preserve healthy eye tissue for later surgeries. Surgeries is typically required during the course of disease treatment to install drainage systems to release fluid pressure.

A.2 Prior Instrumentation

There has been research into mechanical, passive electronics and active electronic instrumentation for pressure measurement.

A.2.1 Mechanical

The mechanical approach has been researched for external application, in a contact lens implementation, and for implantation.

Tai, et al., 2006 For IOP sensing, an unpowered mechanical micromachined paralene MEMS sensor for use with optical readout circuit was reported in 2004 [27]. For operation, the sensor translates pressure to rotation of a spiral tube and radial displacement is optically observed. The device radius is 1 mm. A response of 0.13 degrees / mmHg was reported for operation in a saline solution.

Renaud, et al., 2004 Also for IOP sensing, contact lens were developed with an embedded strain gauge [26]. The contact lens was noted to be sensitive to fitting

errors, mechanical slippage, and response variation from true intraocular pressure due to indirect measurement through the corneal tissue. Despite the challenges, a contact lens solution is currently being developed commercially [130]. At the time of writing, the performance of the contact lens system was not readily available.

A.2.2 Passive Electronic

Passive electronic techniques have been applied to pressure monitoring. The passive technique uses a pressure sensitive element within a parallel LC resonant tank. The tank resonant frequency is described by,

$$\omega = \sqrt{1/LC} \tag{A.1}$$

where L and C are the tank inductance and capacitance. During operation, the resonant tank is stimulated over a varying frequency range using a nearby antenna. With one of the L, C elements pressure sensitive, a shift in resonant frequency can be related to the pressure changes. Most commonly, the capacitive element is made pressure sensitive.

There are different assembly techniques for construction of a pressure sensitive capacitance. Electrostatic or anodic bonding of silicon to glass can produce highly sensitive capacitive structures suitable for passive sensing; full scale sensitivities of 250% have been reported [53]. Capacitive sensors built directly into the integrated circuit process typically produces much lower sensitivities on the order of approximately 10%.

The following case studies demonstrates some passive systems solutions.

Najafi, et al., 2001 An inductor and pressure sensitive capacitor constructed for the pressure range of 0 - 50 mmHg was reported in [131]. The pressure sensitive capacitor was formed by bonding a doped silicon diaphragm bonded to a glass substrate. Capacitance varied from 2 - 2.35 pF over the pressure range of 0 to 50 mmHg. A 1.2 uH inductor was built by depositing 24 turns of electroplated gold in recesses of the glass structure. A low quality factor in the electroplated inductor coil was stated to be the limiting factor in the maximum operating distance of 2 mm. The device had an area of 2.6 mm x 1.6 mm. Device thickness was not stated. The frequency response was 120 kHz/mmHg with a nominal (zero-pressure) operating frequency of 76 MHz.

Puers, et al., 2004 For IOP pressure sensing, a similar passive approach was used in [8]. Copper coils were deposited onto a silicon substrate, giving an inductance of 400 nH. The technology of the capacitive sensor was not described, but a full scale sensitivity of 250% was stated which presumes an silicon-glass sensor. The size of the implant was approximately 3 mm x 3 mm. An operational distance of 7.5 mm was obtained between the implant electronics and the stimulating electronics. No publications were made on the testing of the instrument in an ocular environment. The sensitivity of the system to mmHg was not stated.

A.2.3 Active Electronic

An active electronic system uses active circuits to measure pressure from a transducer. Data is transmitted from the implant to nearby receiver electronics. Instruments reviewed here were previously outlined in the introduction section of this thesis. **Mokwa et al., 2001** Designed specifically for IOP measurement, this microsystem used novel integrated CMOS capacitive sensors and an external planar coil inductor with an outer diameter of 10.5 mm for communication and power transfer [24]. The external coil was flip chip bonded to the 1.2 μ m CMOS integrated circuit. The circuit, coil and capacitive sensor are shown in Fig. A.1. The receiver required 3 V operation and used 210 μ W. Operating distance was not stated. Instrument implantation required replacement of the natural lens.

Capacitance measurement was performed using a charge/discharge circuit. Both a reference capcitor (C_{ref}) and sensing capacitor $(C_{var} = C_{ref} + C_{fixed})$ are charged with matched weak inversion current sources. The voltage difference is sensed by a hysteresis comparator. When the comparator input reaches the hysteresis trip point, the capacitors are flushed of charge and the cycle can begin again. The sensing capacitor C_{var} increases with pressure, making the charge/discharge cycle occur faster. The number of charge/discharge cycles are during a controlled clock period.

Second order circuit effects were considered. Through the use of a hysteresis comparator, voltage dependent capacitive parastics at the comparator input are consistent with each comparison. A calibration cycle is included to account for the temperature sensitive weak inversion current sources. A resolution of 0.73 mmHg was obtained.

The work reported in [24] was developed from earlier work reported in [9, 132]. The earlier work reported a size of 15 mm diameter and 4.5 mm thickness and used micro-wire fabrication that was less robust than flip-chip methods. While the final outcome of the research represents a successful active design, it did not receive medical acceptance due to the highly invasive lens replacement surgery required for



Figure A.1: Microsystem designed for IOP measurement as reported by Mokwa et al. in 2001 [24, 58] © IEEE. The integrated circuit and power receiving coil are embedded into a replacement lens. The pressure sensors (top far right hand side) were manufactured directly in the CMOS process. The capacitive sensing circuit (bottom) uses the charge/discharge technique.

implantation.

Irazoqui et al., 2010 An IOP measurement microsystem using external capacitive sensors was reported in 2010 by Irazoqui et al [13, 25]. Rather than inductive power transfer and communication, the system used radiated data transmission at 2.4 GHz and power reception at 3.65 GHz. Both functions were facilitated with an approximately 3 cm long whip antenna. The integrated circuits required a 1.5 V regulated supply and a 1.3 V reference. Without the data transmitter, the integrated circuits required 200 μ W (approximately 160 μ W for the sensing circuitry and 40 μ W voltage regulation and reference). The data transmitter required 1.15 *m*W. Operating distance for the system during power and data transfer was 10 cm. Far field operation of the power transfer allowed the calculation of a SAR at 3.89 W/kg, just below the controlled exposure limit.

For capacitive measurement, a charge/discharge circuit similar to that reported in [24] was used. From Fig. A.2, two matched *n*A current sources were used to charge a sensor capacitor (MEMS cap) and a reference capacitor (base cap). The reference capacitor is smaller than the sensor capacitor and trips the schmitt trigger first. The pressure on the sensor capacitance is detected in the additional time taken for the MEMS cap to sufficiently charge and trip it's schmitt trigger. The two schmitt trigger outputs are used to form a pulse which is then measured by a counter. The counter clock is based off a current starved ring oscillator. A resolution of 0.5 mmHg was obtained.

A 24 μ F capacitor array is used to hold 48 μ C of charge, sufficient charge for pressure sampling at 5 minute intervals; power transfer and data collection was

completed every 24 hours. A picowatt timer was used to control charge delivery from the capacitor array to the voltage regulator. The sensor measurement completes in 1 ms. With 160 μ W for the analog sensing circuitry, this corresponds to 0.16 μ J per conversion.

Wise et al., 2011 A capacitive sensing microsystem using a solar cell was reported for intraocular pressure sensing in 2011 [14]. The system is highly integrated with several technologies present, including a MEMS sensor, CMOS integrated circuits (with a microprocessor, memory and analog sensing circuitry), a thin film lithium rechargable battery and a miniature solar cell. The battery provides 3.6 V to the microsystem. For low power subthreshold operation of the digital circuits, the battery voltage is stepped down with 75% effcient switched capacitor network. The system and sensing circuitry is shown in Fig. A.3.

The capacitive sensing circuitry operates as follows. Using the switched capacitor technique, a current proportional to the sum of C_1 and C_2 is generated. This current is then mirrored to a branch supplying the capacitive sensor (designed to be less than $C_1 + C_2$). The capacitive sensor is similarly switched and therefore draws a portion of the mirrored current. The excess current is used to charge up capacitor C_{int} . Voltage V_{int} is compared to a reference with a clocked comparator; when V_{int} exceeds the reference, the mirrored current is switched off and the capacitive sensor draws currrent off C_{int} until such time as V_{int} falls below the reference and the comparator output switches low. When the comparator output goes low, the mirrored current branch is switched back on and the process begins again. Notice that if C_{int} were instead flushed of charge and the time taken to charge up past the reference was

APPENDIX A. GLAUCOMA & INTRAOCULAR PRESSURE MEASUREMENT215



Figure A.2: Microsystem designed for IOP measurement as reported by Irazoqui in 2010 [13] © IEEE. The assembled microsystem, including 52 individual 0.24 μ F capacitors, is shown on the top left hand side. Intraocular placement is shown on the top right hand side; the whip antenna is curved around the pupil along the iris. The integrated circuit, showing the data transmitter inductor coil, is shown on the bottom left hand side. The sensing circuitry is shown on the bottom left hand side.



Figure A.3: Microsystem designed for IOP measurement as reported by Wise et al. in 2011 [14] \bigcirc IEEE.

recorded instead, this circuit would be similar to the previous conversion methods. The introduction of memory (integrated charge) and feedback converts the system into a single bit $\Sigma\Delta$ measurement. The measurement is ratiometric, comparing the variable capacitor to a fixed capacitance, allowing the circuitry to be relatively insensitive to timing and power supply variation. Power for the capacitance to digital conversion circuits alone was 7 μ W.

To obtain 0.5 mmHg resolution it was required to average 50 samples. Each sample is obtained by an average of 10,000 single bit data points from the modulator. At 50 kHz, this process takes 500,000 single bit samples and requires 10 seconds. To obtain 0.5 mmHg resolution at 15 minute intervals, a total of 6720 μ J are required daily which translates to 78 nW operation. The reported power specification of 143 μ J per day and 5.3 *n*W operation was based on obtaing only 10,000 single bit samples. The microsystem is not energy autonomous at a resolution of 0.5 mmHg and the resolution at 10,000 samples is not stated.

In order to be insensitive to non-linearities in capacitor charging, switched capacitor circuits typically only pass on accurately settled capacitor voltage forward in the signal path. In this report, capacitor C_{int} collects current during the PMOS start up, or switching event if the current is shunted aside to avoid a start up transient. The design does not appear to be robust to non-linearities in capacitor charging. The report [14] is a conference paper, so many design details are not yet discussed.

A.3 Conclusion

Instrumentation research has applied mechanical, passive electronic and active electronic solutions to the IOP measurement. The passive electronics technique has the advantage of eliminating the need for implant powering but require a highly sensitive capacitive transducer; the active technique can use low sensitivity capacitive sensors compatible with CMOS processes but wireless power and signal transfer is required. To date, active electronics circuits have provides the highest level of performance in terms of resolution and implant operating distance. Size reduction is hindered in both passive and active electronic solutions. Passive circuitry requires a highly sensitivity capacitive sensor, typically produced by very large structures. Active circuitry typically requires a large inductor for power transfer.

APPENDIX B

CMOS IC COILS FOR POWER TRANSFER

The purpose of this appendix is to give an overview of the technical challenge of inductive wireless power transfer to integrated circuit coils for biomedical purposes, and overview work to date on power transfer to integrated circuit coils.

B.1 Wireless Inductive Power Transfer

This section briefly describes the technical challenges and limitations of inductive wireless power transfer.

Wireless inductive power transfer is achieved with two coupled inductors forming a transformer circuit. To obtain maximum drive current, the power transmitting cir-



Figure B.1: Coupled inductors for wireless power transfer. The reader electronics uses a series resonant circuit for maximum current drive. The implant uses a parallel resonant circuit for maximum input impedance. The implant is shown with a series (top) and parallel equivalent (bottom) circuit model for the coil. For simplicity, the rectifier/diode is assumed to be ideal. Reader electronic elements are referred to with the subscript "1", and the implant electronics are referred to with the subscript "2". The average input resistance and capacitance of the rectifier when the implant is powered, is denoted as R_{rect} and C_{rect} respectively, are shown in the shaded box in the parallel equivalent circuit.

cuitry (reader electronics) use a series-tuned circuit; for maximum input impedance, the implant circuitry uses a parallel-tuned circuit. A representative coupled inductor circuit is shown in Fig. B.1. For increased efficiency, the two inductors are typically tuned to a common resonance frequency. The power transfer link is fully described by fourth-order bandpass transfer function equations. The reader is referred to [133] for more information on the operation of such a link for biomedical applications.

The design of inductive power transfer links was well covered in the literature from the early 1980's [134–136]. The major challenges of power efficiency and sensitivity to coil displacement were addressed. In a typical inductively coupled wirelessly-powered biomedical system, the inductors are assumed to be strongly coupled with the inter coil distance on the same order or smaller than the diameter of the implanted coil. Such closely located and strongly coupled, links with fixed orientation can be optimised with a critical coupling that ensures least sensitivity of the implant voltage on the physical arrangement of the coils [133–135]. When the size of the implant inductor coil is severely limited, and the coupled inductors may not be strongly coupled, the operation of the wireless power transfer link is said to be weakly coupled.

Due to a presumed weakly couple link, standard design procedures for biomedical links do not apply when considering millimeter scale integrated circuit coils at the implant. Because the power transfer capability of an inductive link scale directly with the area of the implant coil, typical biomedical applications start the design process with the largest medically accepted implant coil then determine the inter coil distance required to achieve critical coupling. The procedure of determining and using the critical coupling inter coil distance is done to obtain least sensitivity in the voltage transfer. When the diameter of the coil is required to be smaller than the implant depth, as would be the case in a millimeter-scale IOP instrument, the critical coupling cannot be achieved and the link voltage transfer function necessarily has a strong sensitivity to inter coil distance.

In the case of an implant diameter smaller than the critical coupling inter coil distance (the presumed case for this project) the voltage at the implant increases rapidly with decreasing distance between the two coils. Because the reader coil is typically less restricted in size and materials, the link voltage and power transfer capability primarily depends on the quality and system parasitics associated with the implanted coil. From this, the most crucial and important aspect of the system design is exposed.

Simply put, the most critical design aspect of the larger system design is the power and voltage requirement at the implant electronics. A large power consumption at the implant decreases the efficiency of the power transfer link and makes generating sufficient terminal voltage difficult. Conversely, extremely low-power and low-voltage pressure measurement circuitry greatly ease the challenge of power transfer by decreasing the effective loading on the IC coil.

To see this in circuit terms, consider the simple circuit model of the inductive power transfer link shown in Fig. B.1. Prior to forward bias operation of the rectifier diode, the implant coil is subject to a parasitic resistance and capacitance shown by R_{2s} and C_{coil2p} as well as parasitic input capacitance of the diode, C_{rect} . When a sufficient level of dynamic magnetic flux is received at the inductor coil, the magnitude of the terminal voltage V_2 increases and the rectifier becomes forward biased to power the implant electronics. During operation of the implant sensing circuitry, when the rectifier provides sufficient DC voltage for the circuitry to function, the coil is loaded by the average input resistance and capacitance of the rectifier which is then operating to provide the required DC load power. In order that the terminal voltage V_2 be sustained, additional loading must not substantially affect the coil; alternatively, using the parallel circuit model of the coil, $R_{rect} \gg R_{2p}$. If loading due to the implant circuitry is excessive, the coil terminal voltage will decrease substantially, the rectifier will fail to function, and power will no longer be transferred to the load.

B.1.1 Summary

In the case of implantation distances larger than the implant diameter, the standard design procedures of coupled inductor wireless power transfer links does not apply. The link is subject to strong variations in implant voltage with variations in the inter coil distances. High power consumption at the implant circuitry increases the load on the implant coil, decreasing the efficiency of the power transfer link making the generation of a terminal voltage much more difficult. For a given coil diameter and implantation distance, the terminal voltage depends on the implant coil parameters and the strength of the field exposure. As discussed, RF field exposure should be minimized in biomedical applications making low-power, low-voltage implant circuitry desirable. Circuit architectures that are capable of low-voltage operation and robust to variations in power supply voltage are additionally desirable due to expected variation in supply and additional power loss in on-chip regulation.

B.2 History

This section outlines the developments in integrated CMOS inductor coils used for wireless power transfer.

The first report of a wirelessly powered CMOS integrated coil was given in [137, 138]. The inductor was implemented in a standard 3 μ m p-well CMOS. The metals in the technology were highly resistive and there were no special provisions for implementation of integrated inductors. The reported inductors had quality factors less than unity [138]. The inductor was designed as a 30 turn coil using a 5 μ m trace width. The outer dimensions of the inductor were 4.4 mm x 7.5 mm. A bridge rectifier and filtering capacitor formed the rest of the integrated power supply circuitry. With a 0.02 T field stimulation at 800 kHz, 3 V was obtained on a 10 k Ω load (corresponding to 0.9 mW).

In [139] an inductor coil was obtained by a placing metal trace around the perimeter of a CMOS die. The core area was fully utilized with CMOS circuitry. The inductor coil used 6 turns and was implemented in the upper 5 metal layers of a 0.25 μ m CMOS technology. The outer dimensions of the inductor were 4 x 4 mm². With a 1.1 mT field the generated voltage was greater than or equal to 0.8 V. Power consumption of the circuitry was not stated.

At UHF frequencies, a fully integrated RFID transponder tag with inductor coil and rectifier was reported in [128]. The inductor was 550 μ m x 550 μ m. The inductor was implemented in a standard 0.18 μ m CMOS with no special provisions for high quality inductor metals. The inductor was operated with frequency of 900 MHz. The reader antenna was a square 4 turn printed circuit board coil with an outer dimension of 5 mm x 5 mm. At a distance of 4 mm, the mutual inductance of

the coupled system was estimated at 4 nH. Estimation of the magnetic field using a simple circular model for the transmit antenna with a stated reader current of 318 mA peak gives approximately 48 μ T. Under these conditions, a 0.3 V was induced on the integrated circuit inductor coil. The inductor voltage was applied to a voltage multiplying rectifier to obtain a 1 V supply providing 2.7 μ W.

For 2.45 GHz RFID applications, an ultra-small 300 μ m x 300 μ m fully integrated transponder was constructed [29]. The coil antenna is made with a postprocessing step of depositing gold plating on top of a standard CMOS 0.18 μ m integrated circuit. Parasitic capacitance was used to form the high frequency LC tank. With an intended application of paper document anti-counterfit measures, the integrated circuit was thinned to be only 0.06 mm thick. A voltage of 0.5 V was obtained from the coil and integrated circuit rectifier. At 0.5 V operation, the circuitry had a current consumption of 3 μ A for a power consumption of 1.5 μ W. An 80 pF capacitor formed by gate oxide was used to bypass and buffer the power supply. The operating distance was reported as 1.2 mm. No statements were made on the stimulating field or transmitting antenna.

B.3 Summary

The following points summarises the success and timeline progression of integrated circuit inductor coil power transfer reports that have been outlined in this section.

In 2001 complementary metal oxide semiconductor (CMOS) metal coil was used to receive power for a smart card application operating at 13.56 MHz [139]. The coil was 1.5 mm² and operated with a 1.1 mT magnetic field.

Power consumption during field stimulated operation was not reported.

- In 2004 the smallest reported IC coil for power reception was reported as a post processed gold coil antenna of 0.4 mm x 0.4 mm operated at 2.45 GHz [29]. The operating power of the digital circuitry at minimum was 1.5 µW from 0.5 V. The field exposure required for operation was not given, but a maximum distance of 1.2 mm from the reader antenna was reported.
- In 2008 a 1 mm x 0.5 mm copper coil was to be placed above the CMOS circuitry with a post processing step of adding undoped silicon glass [140]. The RFID circuitry had power consumption of 10 µW at memory read and 56 µW at memory write. Memory write operations required a dc-dc step-up converter to produce the required voltage of 8 V. The stimulating magnetic field was not reported, but read/write operations were achieved only at a distance of less than 0.5 mm from the reader antenna.
- In 2008, a thick metal, RF CMOS process was used to implement a 0.5 mm x 0.5 mm antenna using five metal layers [141]. At 900 MHz operation, the coil and associated voltage rectifier [142] were capable of providing 10μ A at 1V operated 4 mm from the reader antenna.

APPENDIX C

WIRELESS POWER TRANSFER BIOCOMPATIBILITY

This section will review the available research and regulation with the aim of finding a definitive upper limit for power transmission for the IOP measurement instrument operating in an ocular environment.

C.1 Introduction

Wirelessly powered electronics have two primary heating sources. Tissue absorption of incident electromagnetic energy, and tissue absorption of power dissipation within the electronics. With extremely low power electronics, absorption of electromagnetic energy is expected to be the most significant heating contribution. Damage to eye tissue can occur with a temperature rise of 3° C, and temperatures at or above 41° C are known to greatly increase the risk of lens cataract [42].

C.1.1 FCC Guidelines

The Federal Communications Commission (FCC) [143] which regulates RF energy from telecommunications, provides biological exposure guidelines. Researchers in the field of wirelessly powered implanted instruments have used the FCC guidelines, shown in Table C.1, to determine preliminary biocompatability of systems with large power receiving coils [144, 145].

Frequency	Electric Field	Magnetic Field	Power Density	Averaging
(MHz)	(V/m)	(A/m)	(mW/cm^2)	Time (min)
0.3–3.0	614	1.63	100	6
3–30	1842/f	489/f	$900/f^{2}$	6
30-300	61.4	0.163	1	6
300-1500	n/a	n/a	f/300	6
1500-100,000	n/a	n/a	5	6

Table C.1: Tabulated values of maximum permissible occupational RF energy exposure levels given by the FCC.

Calculations for biocompatibility of a wireless power recieving antenna is done as follows. Using the occupational exposure levels, an implant with an area of one square millimeter could ideally capture the following powers at various frequencies:

$$P_{max_{13.56MHz}} = \frac{900}{13.56^2} \left(\frac{mW}{cm^2}\right) 1mm^2 \left(\frac{1cm}{10mm}\right)^2 = 0.049mW$$

$$P_{max_{200MHz}} = 1 \left(\frac{mW}{cm^2}\right) 1mm^2 \left(\frac{1cm}{10mm}\right)^2 = 0.010mW$$

$$P_{max_{433MHz}} = 433/300 \left(\frac{mW}{cm^2}\right) 1mm^2 \left(\frac{1cm}{10mm}\right)^2 = 0.014mW$$

$$P_{max_{1500MHz}} = 1500/300 \left(\frac{mW}{cm^2}\right) 1mm^2 \left(\frac{1cm}{10mm}\right)^2 = 0.050mW.$$

While the available power is larger at 13.56 MHz than it is at 433 MHz, voltage development at lower frequencies on an inductor coil at lower frequencies is impaired. In the range of 300-1500 MHz, the allowable power density increases with frequency such that the power available at 1500 MHz is equivalent to that at 13.56 MHz.

C.2 IEEE Recommendations

The FCC refer to the IEEE Standard C95.1-2005 [146] for health and biological impact of RF energy. The IEEE guidelines are expressed in units of specific rate of absorption, or SAR. Calculation of the SAR considers both the incident electric field strength, polarization and the frequency dependent tissue conductivity. In general, the SAR increases with frequency [147]. For this reason, most biomedical applications typically stay within a few 10's of MHz where the SAR is well below the peak value as shown in Fig C.1.

The IEEE recommends a general SAR limit of 1.6 W/kg for the human body. Regarding the human eye, the IEEE standard states that a peak spatial-average SAR



Figure C.1: Whole body averaged SAR for a model of an average man [147]. Incident power of 1 mW/cm^2 shown for three different electric field polarizations.

of 10 W/kg averaged over 10 g is deemed to be low enough to avoid adverse effects such as cataracts [146]. Research reviewed for the standard showed that SAR values of \geq 150 W/kg for \geq 30 minutes are required to bring the temperature near a rabbit eye lens to 41°C. The value of 150 W/kg is significantly higher than the general exposure levels of 1.6 W/kg used for the occupational guidelines given in Table C.1. The research indicates that the FCC guidelines provided are very conservative.
C.3 Eye Health Research

C.3.1 Telecommunications Research

Research has been conducted to determine the thermal impact of radiation exposure at common telecommunications frequencies. To determine a temperature rise from a power density exposure or a SAR value, modeling is done with heat transfer coefficients from the eye to it's surroundings. This section presents a brief survey of research in this area.

- (1975) Power incident at 100 mW/cm² generated an internal hot spot of 40.4°C using simple heat sink models to represent eye vascularisation while simulating 1.5 GHz plane wave exposure [148]. No such hot spot was present at the same incident power levels for 750 MHz. The development of internal hot spots in the eye occurring at specific frequencies above approximately 600 MHz is a well verified and accepted phenomena [42, 44].
- (2000) Power incident at 0.5 W/cm² at frequencies between 600 MHz and 6 GHz produced the SAR and temperature changes shown in Fig. C.2 [42]; peak temperature rise of 0.3 °C resulted at 6 GHz. The same research also indicates that the impact of eye size variation is slight; a modeled eye diameter between 2.4 and 2.8 cm caused only an approximately 10% variation in SAR and temperature rise.
- (2007) Results of [42] used heat transfer coefficients derived in 1982 which have recently (2006) been determined to be underestimated [149]. More



Figure C.2: Whole eye SAR in W/kg for incident power of 0.5 W/cm^2 at various frequencies (upper) and associated temperature rise (lower) given by eye-tissue heat transfer modeling as reported in [42].

detailed simulations with newer heat transfer coefficients have shown temperature increases to be lower with similar exposure levels. Results for three different thermal eye models are shown below. Note that the SAR values all exceed the IEEE suggested exposure limit of 1.6 W/kg, yet the anticipated temperature rise is less than 0.3° C in all model cases.

	900 (MHz)	1500 (MHz)	1800 (MHz)
SAR (humor) (W/kg)	4.5	7.7	8.4
SAR (avg. eye)	1.7	2.5	2.2
Temperature Rise			
Model: Discrete Vascularisation (DIVA)	0.22°C	0.27°C	0.25°C
Model: Pennes Bioheat	0.19°C	0.24°C	0.22°C
Model: Spherical	0.15°C	0.22 °C	$0.20^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$

C.3.2 MRI Research

Ocular heating due to magnetic field exposure during magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) has also been researched. Because the energy absorbed depends on the strength of the static field, not just the RF field [150], the data is not directly relevant for the project. However, imaging for eye pathology has obtained data for the direct measurement of corneal temperature after exposure with a calculated SAR values. In this research it was found that a SAR as high as 8.4 W/kg produced a maximum temperature rise of 1.8° C [151].

C.4 Reported Powered Integrated Circuit Coils

This section reviews reported power levels obtained with from millimeter-scale integrated circuit (IC) coils. Transmitted power must not expose the patient to additional health concerns through excessive exposure to radio-frequency energy. Within the power review of transmitted power to IC coils below, attention is paid to exposure levels.

While radio frequency identification (RFID) systems have reported inductive power transfer to on-chip IC coils, to the author's knowledge there have been no reports of biomedical applications using IC coils.

In many reports of wirelessly powered IC coil circuits for RFID, the incident power and IC operating power are not reported together (see Appendix B), making simultaneous power and biocompatability estimates difficult. Frequently the tag electronics are stated to be operated in subthreshold conditions, with communication back to the reader verifying operation but without the tag operating power reported concurrently. Operated in the extreme near field of the reader coil antenna, the magnitude of the magnetic field terms are not easily determined.

A recent report of a standard CMOS IC coil antenna RFID tag [141, 142] and a low-voltage rectifier [128] operating at 900 MHz provides both output power and rectifier operating efficiency from which a biocompatability estimate can be made. From an output power of 10 μ W and a rectifier efficiency of approximately 30% [129, 142, 152, 153], the total power input to the rectifier was roughly 30 μ W. Assuming no loss at the coil, this corresponds to an incident power density of approximately 12 μ W/mm². The IEEE Standard C95.1-2005 [146] recommends a general radio-frequency specific absorption rate limit of 1.6 W/kg for the human body. The FCC incorporates the IEEE exposure limits in their guidelines for radiofrequency energy exposure. At a frequency of 900 MHz, the FCC controlled occupational exposure is 30 μ W/mm²; the general population uncontrolled exposure limit is set at 6 μ W/mm².

While the CMOS IC coil antenna RFID report at 900 MHz [141] indicates an operating power level of 10 μ W would be biocompatible, the target operating frequency for eye health should be below 600 MHz above which hot spots have been demonstrated to occur [42,44]. In Canada, a suitable frequency is within the amature radio allocation from 420–450 MHz [154]. At 450 MHz, the FCC allowable power densities are reduced to 15 μ W/mm² and 3 μ W/mm² for occupational and general exposure, respectively.

The FCC tabulated occupational exposure amounts are time averaged over 6 minutes. With intermittent operation requiring seconds, allowable incident power for the instrument could be higher. However unknown impact of tissue loss and the expectation of loss with the IC coil, as well as additional losses due to link communication using load modulation, make this an unbounded problem until an entire system is constructed or modeled in detail.

C.5 Conclusion

To obtain an upper limit for power transmission, this section reviewed the available regulation and research. A definitive guideline for the upper limit for power transmission was not found. While both the IEEE Standard C95.1-2005 and the FCC provide general guidelines, both specifically state that their recommendations are not meant to govern biomedical applications. Eye health research indicates that the

eye can support exposure levels higher than indicated in the FCC guidelines. For this project, the following observations are made:

- Due to the formation of internal eye hot spots, operating with frequencies below below 600 MHz is recommended.
- Eye health research shows that vascularisation models have a significant impact on temperature rise. In recent research exposing the eye to high frequency energy, thermal response was less than expected, and well below concerning levels. However, it is unknown if a diseased eye has the same functional vascularisation as a healthy eye.
- The near field of the inductor coil is comprised mostly of an alternating magnetic field; the electric field is intended to be contained in the implant coil. Outside of the near field region of a coil antenna, there will be both magnetic and electric fields which must be considered. However, with a poorly radiating antenna these are not expected to be substantial. Under these conditions, the primary contributer to heating will be dissipative eddy current losses in the tissue. This has not been well studied.

APPENDIX D

SECOND-ORDER $\Sigma \Delta$

MODULATION

The purpose of this appendix is to describe the operation of second-order $\Sigma\Delta$ modulation.

D.1 Second Order $\Sigma \Delta$ Modulation

Second-order $\Sigma\Delta$ modulation was first reported by Candy in 1985 [155]. For loop stability, the second integrator receives signal content from both the first stage and the modulated output.

With unity-gain on both integrator input feedforward paths, $a_1 = a_2 = 1$ and unity-gain on both the ADC and feedback DAC, $k_1 = k_2 = 1$, a second-stage



Figure D.1: Second-order $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator with both the embedded ADC and DAC modeled as a linear gain elements, k_1 and k_2 , with additive noise E_1 and E_2 .

feedback coefficient of $b_2 = 2$ is required to place the z-domain pole at the origin for maximum stability. The resulting transfer function is

$$Y(z) = V_{in}(z) \left(\frac{1}{z^2}\right)$$
(D.1)
+ $E_1(z) \left(\frac{(z-1)^2}{z^2}\right)$
- $E_2(z) \left(\frac{1+2(z-1)}{z^2}\right),$

where E_1 and E_2 are the additive errors of the internal ADC and DAC.

The use of multi-bit data converters in $\Sigma\Delta$ modulation placed high demands on the linearity of these components; level placement errors of the converters embedded in the loop translated to distortion error in the $\Sigma\Delta$ modulated output. Single-bit data conversion solved the problem of distortion easily as the two points of a single DAC or ADC perfectly define a straight line. Using single-bit modulation, additive error from the DAC was eliminated and level placement became gain error only. An embedded single-bit ADC converter is easily implemented with a comparator.



Figure D.2: Second-order $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator with single-bit quantization shown with a comparator implementing the ADC and an ideal feedback DAC.

The single-bit second-order $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator transfer function is,

$$Y(z) = V_{in}(z) \left(\frac{1}{z^2}\right)$$

$$+ E_1(z) \left(\frac{(z-1)^2}{z^2}\right).$$
(D.2)

With single-bit modulation, the gain term of the embedded ADC is not fixed and varies depending on the magnitude of the sampled output at the second integrator; thus the system poles become dynamic. The poles stay within the unit circle, and modulator is unconditionally stable, if and only if the first integrator gain, a_1 , is less than or equal to 0.8 times the feedback factor to the second integrator b_2 [156].

To facilitate the difference in gain between the feedforward signal of the first integrator and the feedback signal of the modulated output to the second integrator, two different input-signal pathways are required at the second integrator. To eliminate the need for different input-signal pathways, a scaled integrator structure, where the feedback factor of 2 was brought through the summing junction for a gain

of 1/2 at each integrator, became popular [105, 157, 158]. Because the second integrator was immediately followed by a single-bit comparator with variable gain, the second-integrator could be further scaled to reduce signal swing without impacting the loop stability. Further gain scaling at the second integrator is often applied to reduce the integration range and ease the circuit implementation.

There are several circuit level effects in the modulator that are relevant for this project:

Integration Range $\Sigma\Delta$ modulators of order greater than one must use simulation to determine the integrator output range [106]. When the integrator output range exceeds the linear range of the amplifiers used to implement the integrator, the modulated output suffers from increased distortion. The range of integrator output is a function of the input signal range; small input signals produce small integrator output ranges.

Pole Error Because the gain element inside the closed loop transfer function is an integrator, a $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator is particularly robust to low gain amplifiers.

The impact of low gain amplifiers on the integrator is a pole error in the integrator transfer function. An ideal integrator transfer function is as follows,

$$\frac{V_o}{V_{in}} = \frac{C_s}{C_{int}} \left(\frac{1}{z}\right),\tag{D.3}$$

where V_o is the output voltage, V_{in} is the input voltage, C_s is the integrator sampling capacitance, C_{int} is the integrating capacitance. Pole error results in an integrator

transfer function of,

$$\frac{V_o}{V_{in}} = \frac{C_s}{C_{int}} \left(\frac{1}{z - (1 - \alpha)}\right),\tag{D.4}$$

where α is approximately equal to $1/A_o$ where A_o is the amplifier open loop gain.

When there an integrator pole error occurs, the closed loop transfer function is impaired, quantization noise shaping is less effective and in-band quantization noise increases. For second-order modulation, increased in-band quantization noise power is less than 1 dB if the amplifier DC gain is comparable to the oversampling ratio [105]. This predicts that the modulation will continue to be functional with low-gain of amplifiers resulting from low-voltage, low-power operation.

Comparator While $\Sigma\Delta$ modulators are generally robust to comparator offset, comparator offset has consequences on the operation of the circuitry implementing the loop. Due to the high feedback around the loop, comparator offset is stored at the output of the integrator proceeding the comparator [156]. This can introduce operating point changes in the comparator and other circuitry that receives the output of the second integrator. Stored offset also affects the integrator output range, introducing increased distortion for large comparator offsets.

Noise Floor A fundamental limit to the maximum resolution of a $\Sigma\Delta$ modulator is imposed by the noise sources at the modulator input; noise at the input of the modulator is transferred directly to the output unattenuated whereas noise introduced at later stages is attenuated by the noise shaping properties of the loop.

APPENDIX E

AS1 PAD NAMES & DESCRIPTION

V_{DDCOMP}	comparator power supply voltage
V_{DD}	logic, switches and integrator power supply
V _{DDIO}	power supply voltage for the level shift output
V_{CM}	mid-supply common-mode voltage, $V_{CM} = V_{DD}/2$
V_{ss}	substrate, analog and digital ground.
V_{ref}	reference voltage input for sampling capacitor C_1
V_{refC2}, V_{refC1}	reference voltages for C_2 and C_1
V_{cdb}	input for bottom plate of the differential capacitors, C_1 and C_2 .
cmc1a	top plate of mimcap capacitor for voltage input mode.
cmc2a	top plate of mimcap capacitor for voltage input mode.
cmdb	bottom plate of mimcap capacitor for voltage input mode.
cdcm	cm input for differential capacitors C_1 and C_2 .

APPENDIX E. AS1 PAD NAMES & DESCRIPTION

c1a, c2a	accepts top plate of sensing capacitor C_1, C_2 .
calin	calibration control, active high (vdd).
phi1in, phi2in, phi3in, phi4in	phase 1, 2, 3 &4 of the 4 phase clock input.
Y	buffered modulator output Y .

APPENDIX F

POWER SUPPLY

This section discusses the design of a voltage multiplying rectifier using lowthreshold voltage transistors.

F.1 Voltage Multiplying Rectifier

The purpose of a rectifier is to convert AC voltage to DC voltage. Design goals of a rectifier include power efficiency, large input-resistance, and a high voltage-sensitivity. Voltage-sensitivity is a measure of the DC output voltage response for a given AC voltage input.

In the case of wirelessly powered systems, the AC voltage source is the induced voltage at the terminals of the inductor coil. To overcome low inductor coil voltages in RFID applications, voltage multiplying rectifiers have been applied [128, 129, 159,

160]. Voltage multiplying rectifiers offer high voltage sensitivity because they act to multiply the voltage. Voltage multiplying rectifiers do not provide any additional power; thus as voltage is increased, the available drive current is reduced.

F.1.1 Basic Operation

A voltage doubler is a single-stage voltage-multiplying rectifier shown in Fig. F.1. Voltage rectification is accomplished with two independent circuit operations of a charge pump and a peak detector. The charge pump operation occurs when the AC input signal is negative relative to ground. At this time, the charge pump capacitor C_1 stores the voltage through the diode-connected transistor M_2 . Peak detection occurs when the AC input signal is positive relative to ground. At this time the peak value of the DC shifted voltage is processed through the diode-connected transistor M_1 . The DC shift is equal to $V_p - V_D$ where V_p is the peak voltage of the ac input, and V_D is the forward voltage drop of M_2 in the diode configuration. Finally, the voltage stored on C_2 is equal to $2 \times V_p - 2 \times V_D$. With ideal diodes, $V_D = 0$, and the voltage stored on C_2 would be *double* the peak voltage.

Several stages of a multiplying rectifier can be stacked for an increased DC voltage.

F.1.2 Design Issues

In CMOS, a rectifier is built from diode-connected MOS transistors. The forward voltage drop of a diode-connected transistor is equal to the gate-source voltage as described by,

$$|V_{GS}| = |V_{DS}| = |V_{TH}| + \sqrt{\frac{2I_D}{\mu C_{ox}(W/L)}}$$
 (F.1)

where V_{TH} is the threshold voltage, I_D is the drain current, W/L is the width to length ratio and μC_{ox} is the product of the carrier mobility and oxide capacitance. To calculate the maximum forward voltage drop, the drain current is the peak current experienced through the transistor.

F.1.2.1 Design Approach

In a single cycle of the input signal, transistors in the rectifier go through several operating regions. Due to large signal diode operation, the rectifier is strongly nonlinear. For this reason, estimation and simulation is used for design. The rectifier input resistance is estimated by,

$$R_{in} = V_{inrms}^2 / P_{in} \tag{F.2}$$

where P_{in} is the input power of the voltage source V_{in} . The power, P_{in} , is obtained by simulation using discrete samples of the instantaineous voltage and current input



Figure F.1: Single stage voltage multiplying rectifier, commonly called a voltage doubler.

as follows,

$$P_{in} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{1}^{N} V_{in}(n) \times I_{in}(n).$$
 (F.3)

The rectifier efficiency, η , is given by the ratio of the power consumed at the load to the power consumed in the rectifying transistors and the load,

$$\eta = P_{load} / (P_{load} + P_{M_1} + P_{M_2}).$$
(F.4)

The power in the rectifying transistors, $P_{M_{1,2}}$, is obtained by using simulated voltage and current waveforms.

F.1.2.2 Capacitive Loading

The rectifier capacitive input is determined by parasitic capacitance at the active nodes. The active nodes are the input (node 1) and the node connected to both M_1 and M_2 (node 2). Capacitors C_1 and C_2 do not require charge/discharge cycling after the initial startup transient; both capacitors are AC short circuits and thus do not represent capacitive loads. The rectifier input capacitance can be calculated by,

$$C_{in} = C_{p1} || \left(\frac{C_{p2} + C_1}{C_1 C_{p2}}\right)^{-1}$$
(F.5)

where

$$\left(\frac{C_{p2}+C_1}{C_1C_{p2}}\right)^{-1} \to C_{p2},$$
 (F.6)

and,

$$C_{in} \approx C_{p1} || C_{p2}. \tag{F.7}$$

From this, the rectifier input capacitance is formed by both top and bottom plate parasitic capacitance as well as transistor parasitics at node 2.

There are several trade offs in the capacitor sizing. Capacitor C_1 acts as a charge pump capacitor and a large ratio of C_1/C_2 decreases the start up transient. To minimize the output voltage ripple, a large C_2 is desired. The size of C_1 is determined in the lower limit by the allowable transient time for startup and in the upper limit by the size of the parasitic capacitance which ultimately loads the inductor. The rectifier input capacitance thus loads the inductor coil and limits the frequency of operation. The rectifier capacitance at node 2 also impacts the total output voltage of the rectifier and the power delivered to the load. The total real power utilized by the load depends on the load voltage, which is impacted by the capacitive divider as follows,

$$V_2 = V_{in} \frac{C_1}{C_1 + C_{p2}}.$$
 (F.8)

F.1.2.3 Design with Low V_{th} Transistors

While low threshold transistors can operate with a low voltage, they suffer from relatively large leakage current during the operation phase when the transistor is configured as a reverse-biased diode. Transistor size impacts leakage current during the reverse biased phase and impacts transistor on-resistance during the forward-biased phase. Larger transistors offer decreased on-resistance and reduced forward-bias voltage drop, but suffer from an increased reversed-biased leakage current.

Efficient rectifier design with low threshold voltage transistors limits leakage

current and improves rectifier efficiency with a small transistor [129]. As a consequence, the the forward voltage drop is increased and the voltage sensitivity is decreased. The optimal energy efficiency operation of a voltage multiplying rectifier is one with a large forward voltage drop per stage, and with an increased number of stages to provide the required output voltage.

A single-stage voltage-doubler rectifier in the IBM 0.13μ m technology has been simulated. Figure F.2 shows the input resistance, efficiency and output voltage versus the transistor W/L ratio at a supply current of 0.5 μ A and an input voltage of 200 mV. Due to the high reverse-bias leakage current, rectifier efficiency peaks at a low W/L ratio where the rectifier operates with less than full output voltage as show in Fig. F.2. The input resistance is also a decreasing function of the W/L ratio as shown in Fig. F.3. In addition to transistor sizing, the efficiency is also affected by the input voltage and the output load current. Higher order multipliers can be created by increasing the number of stages. As each stage appears in parallel, the input resistance of higher order multiplier structures is reduced accordingly.

F.2 Holding Capactance

The highest capacitive density found in CMOS technology is the gate oxide. However, a gate capacitor functions well only if the underlying channel is under strong accumulation; if the channel is depleted this lesser series capacitance will combine to reduce the total capacitance. For this reason it is advantageous to use low-threshold transistors to achieve strong accumulation for the MOS capacitors with a low (100's of mV) internal supply voltage.



Figure F.2: Efficiency and output voltage versus transistor size for a single-stage voltage-multiplier rectifier.



Figure F.3: Input resistance versus transistor size for a single-stage voltage-multiplier rectifier.

A large bypass capacitor was built using the gate oxide of the MOS transistor in TSMC 0.18 μ m mixed-signal RF technology. To obtain a fully inverted channel at low voltage, native transistors were used. Because MOS gate capacitors are slow, due to delay in charge arriving to the bottom plate, a faster capacitive structure will additionally be used in parallel.

A unit-cell consisting of two transistor transistors sized with W/L = 50/20 was built. To form the large capacitor, a total of 210 unit cells were placed in parallel. Due to the changing channel accumulation, the capacitance varied with gate bias. Unit cell capacitance simulated at nominal process varied from 9.9 - 13.8 pF for a gate voltage ranging from 50 - 200 mV. Thus, with at least a 50 mV gate voltage for accumulation, total gate capacitance of 210 cells was expected to be greater than 2.0 nF.

For bench measurement, a capacitance formed by 210 unit cell capacitors was placed in series with a nominal 560 k Ω resistor to form a single pole low pass filter driven with a function generator. The function generator provided a 300 mV dc offset voltage to accumulate the channel and a 50 mV ac signal to determine the frequency response of the construction. The 3-dB attenuation occurred at 420 Hz from which the total capacitance was determined to be 670 pF. The discrepancy between the measured value of 670 pF and the estimated value of \geq 2.0 nF was not resolved.

APPENDIX G

TEST SETUP

This section describes the test board AS1TB1 and the test setup for voltage mode testing of AS1 and pressure mode testing of AS1-MEMS. The toplevel design of AS1TB1 is shown in Figure G.2.

The analog and digital functions of the AS1TB1 board, together with the respective ground planes, are split across the board. The digital circuitry generates an attenuated four phase non-overlapping clock and provides DUT output signal gain and buffering. The analog circuitry provides power supply and input signals to AS1 and AS1-MEMS. Both the AS1 and the AS1-MEMS are tested in 40-pin DIP package placed at the DUT location on the board AS1TB1. Input signals to the DUT include the modulation reference voltage, V_{ref} (optionally jumpered to V_{DD}) the common-mode voltage, V_{CM} , and the reference voltages to capacitors C_1 and C_2 , V_{refC1} and V_{refC2} respectively. The DUT has switched capacitor inputs that require anti-alias filtering. AS1TB1 implements anti-alias filters on V_{ref} , V_{refC1} , V_{refC2} , V_{CM} and V_{DD} when optionally switched in at the reference location. The anti-alias filter is the same at all inputs and is comprised of a single-pole low-pass filter using $R_f = 200 \Omega$ and $C_f = 3.4 \mu$ F comprised of a 3.3 μ F tantalum and 0.1μ F ceramic bypass capacitors located at the DUT input pins. The filter provides $f_{3dB} = 234$ Hz and roughly 20 dB attenuation at 2300 Hz.

Power is measured at the AS1TB1 board. To obtain current into the DUT, a Keithley 6487 Picoammeter is placed in series with power supply voltages V_{DD} and V_{DDCOMP} using jumpers on the AS1TB1 board. Each current measurement used an average of 100 readings from the 6487 Picoammeter.

The single-bit digital output from AS1TB1 is brought out to an Arduino Uno microcontroller board and then transferred to a computer. Code for the Arduino sketch is in Section G.1. The Arduino standard code was not capable of handling the required data exchange rate. The Arduino code was written to implement a port read and Python Pyserial was used to serial port support transfer from the Uno to the computer. The Pyserial interface code is in Section G.2.

In order to minimize the time between clock phases, the four phase clock circuitry used an input signal with runt pulses to independently control clock phase duration and time between clock cycles. The runt pulses were obtained from a positive edge detector. The runt pulse width kept at approximately $1-2 \mu s$ throughout testing. The clock phases are shown in Fig. G.1.



Figure G.1: Clock signals on test board AS1TB1 are generated from the output of a positive edge detector.



Figure G.2: Test board AS1TB1 toplevel functional schematic showing both analog and digital circuitry blocks.



Figure G.3: Test board AS1TB1 four phase clock generation. To avoid long delays between the phases, an edge detect signal was provided to the circuitry rather than a clock waveform. The edge detect allowed rough control (μ s) of the delay between phases, and accurate control of the clock phase width.

G.1 Arduio Sketch

```
/*
```

This code both gets Temperature and Pressure readings, writes to the serial port then obtains the data and sample clk at the rate to the the modulator clk. The program has an interrupt on pin 2 (interrupt 0), reads the input at pins 4, 6 and then writes to the serial port (USB)

*/
#include <Wire.h>
#define BMP085_ADDRESS 0x77 // I2C address of BMP085
#include <PinChangeInt.h>
// end of file definition
#define CTRL(x) ('x' & 0x1F)

// Variables for Data Collection

volatile boolean dataready = false; volatile boolean overwrerror = false; boolean errorswritten=false; volatile int my_data; long datacount=0; int errorcnt=0;

```
int datacomp=0;
long samplelength=1000000;
int bitmask=B00010000;
int bitmaskshift=4;
```

```
unsigned long time;
// Variables for Pressure and Data Collection
const unsigned char OSS = 3; // oversampling setting
// Calibration values
 int ac1;
 int ac2;
 int ac3;
 unsigned int ac4;
 unsigned int ac5;
 unsigned int ac6;
 int b1;
 int b2;
  int mb;
  int mc;
  int md;
// variables for reading dc input voltage level
// b5 is calculated in bmp085GetTemperature(...),
// this variable is also used in bmp085GetPressure(...)
// so ...Temperature(...) must be called
```

```
// before ...Pressure(...).
```

```
long b5;
  short temperature;
  float temp;
  long pressure;
  float p;
  int HEADER=1;
  int dcendfile=1;
// configure pin 2 (interrupt) as an input
// and enable the internal pull-up resistor
void setup() {
  Serial.begin(230400);
  Wire.begin();
  bmp085Calibration();
  pinMode(2, INPUT_PULLUP);
  attachInterrupt(0, CollectBits, FALLING);
}
// The main loop sequence:
// a) get dc input
// b) get the PT while disabling the interrupt, then
// c) get the PORTD byte through the ISR
// d) write the port data to serial
// e) write the error count to file
// f) write PT again while disabling the interrupt
```

```
void loop()
{
// go into PT program if first time through loop
  if (HEADER)
  {
    detachInterrupt(0);
    HEADER=0;
    startbmp085ReadUT();
    Serial.print("%Time at HEADER: ");
    time = millis();
    Serial.println(time);
// reconnect interrupt, clean all errors and flags
    attachInterrupt(0, CollectBits, FALLING);
    dataready=false;
    overwrerror=false;
    errorcnt=0;
  }
// if data is ready, write to serial port
  if ( (dataready) && (datacount < samplelength))
  {
    dataready = false;
    datacount++;
    Serial.println(my_data & bitmask);
  }
  if ((overwrerror) && (datacount < samplelength))
```

```
{
    overwrerror=false;
    errorcnt++;
  }
  if ((datacount == samplelength) && (!errorswritten))
// detach interrupt
// print time
// print errors
// get finished Temp Read
  {
    detachInterrupt(0);
    Serial.print("%Time at end of data collection: ");
    time = millis();
    Serial.println(time);
    Serial.print("%errors");
    Serial.println(errorcnt);
    errorswritten=true;
    temperature = bmp085GetTemperature(finishbmp085ReadUT());
    temp = (float) temperature/10;
    Serial.print("%Temperature,");
    Serial.print(temp, 1);
    Serial.println(",*0.1 deg C");
    for (int m=0; m < 11; m++)
    {
      pressure = bmp085GetPressure(bmp085ReadUP());
      Serial.print("%END Pressure,");
```

```
p=pressure*(0.00750);
      Serial.print(p, 2);
      Serial.println(",mmHg");
    }
    Serial.print("%ENDEND");
  }
}
// Interrupt service routine (ISR)
// read the data and clk and set flags
void CollectBits()
{
  if (dataready) {overwrerror=true; };
  dataready=true;
 my_data=PIND;
}
// Code for Pressure Sensor
/* BMP085 Extended Example Code
  by: Jim Lindblom
  SparkFun Electronics
  date: 1/18/11
  license: CC BY-SA v3.0 - http://creativecommons.org/
  licenses/by-sa/3.0/
```

Get pressure and temp. from the BMP085 and calculate altitude. Serial.print at 9600 baud to serial monitor.

Update (7/19/11): I've heard folks may be encountering issues with this code, who're running an Arduino at 8MHz. On Arduino Pro 3.3V/8MHz, or the like, you may need to increase some of the delays in the bmp085ReadUP and bmp085ReadUT functions.

*/

// Stores bmp085's calibration values into global var
// Cal values required to calculate temp and pressure
// Should be called at the beginning of the program

```
void bmp085Calibration()
```

```
{
```

```
ac1 = bmp085ReadInt(0xAA);
```

```
ac2 = bmp085ReadInt(0xAC);
```

```
ac3 = bmp085ReadInt(0xAE);
```

ac4 = bmp085ReadInt(0xB0);

- ac5 = bmp085ReadInt(0xB2);
- ac6 = bmp085ReadInt(0xB4);
- b1 = bmp085ReadInt(0xB6);
- b2 = bmp085ReadInt(0xB8);
- mb = bmp085ReadInt(0xBA);

```
mc = bmp085ReadInt(0xBC);
```

```
md = bmp085ReadInt(0xBE);
}
// Calculate temperature given ut.
// Value returned will be in units of 0.1 deg C
short bmp085GetTemperature(unsigned int ut)
{
  long x1, x2;
  x1 = (((long)ut - (long)ac6)*(long)ac5) >> 15;
  x^2 = ((long)mc << 11)/(x1 + md);
  b5 = x1 + x2;
 return ((b5 + 8)>>4);
}
// Calculate pressure given up
// calibration values must be known
// b5 is also required so bmp085GetTemperature(...)
// must be called first.
// Value returned will be pressure in units of Pa.
long bmp085GetPressure(unsigned long up)
{
  long x1, x2, x3, b3, b6, p;
  unsigned long b4, b7;
  b6 = b5 - 4000;
  // Calculate B3
```

```
x1 = (b2 * (b6 * b6) >> 12) >> 11;
  x2 = (ac2 * b6) >> 11;
  x3 = x1 + x2;
  b3 = (((((long)ac1)*4 + x3) <<OSS) + 2)>>2;
  // Calculate B4
  x1 = (ac3 * b6) >> 13;
  x2 = (b1 * ((b6 * b6) >> 12)) >> 16;
  x3 = ((x1 + x2) + 2) >>2;
  b4 = (ac4 * (unsigned long) (x3 + 32768))>>15;
  b7 = ((unsigned long)(up - b3) * (50000>>OSS));
  if (b7 < 0x8000000)
   p = (b7 << 1) / b4;
  else
   p = (b7/b4) <<1;
  x1 = (p>>8) * (p>>8);
  x1 = (x1 * 3038) >> 16;
  x2 = (-7357 * p) >> 16;
  p += (x1 + x2 + 3791)>>4;
  return p;
}
// Read 1 byte from the BMP085 at 'address'
char bmp085Read(unsigned char address)
{
  unsigned char data;
  Wire.beginTransmission(BMP085_ADDRESS);
```
```
Wire.write(address);
  Wire.endTransmission();
  Wire.requestFrom(BMP085_ADDRESS, 1);
  while(!Wire.available())
    ;
  return Wire.read();
}
// Read 2 bytes from the BMP085
// First byte will be from 'address'
// Second byte will be from 'address'+1
int bmp085ReadInt(unsigned char address)
{
  unsigned char msb, lsb;
  Wire.beginTransmission(BMP085_ADDRESS);
  Wire.write(address);
  Wire.endTransmission();
  Wire.requestFrom(BMP085_ADDRESS, 2);
  while(Wire.available()<2)</pre>
    ;
  msb = Wire.read();
  lsb = Wire.read();
 return (int) msb<<8 | lsb;</pre>
}
```

APPENDIX G. TEST SETUP

```
// Read the uncompensated temperature value
unsigned int bmp085ReadUT()
{
 unsigned int ut;
 // Write 0x2E into Register 0xF4
  // This requests a temperature reading
 Wire.beginTransmission(BMP085_ADDRESS);
 Wire.write(0xF4);
 Wire.write(0x2E);
 Wire.endTransmission();
 delay(5000);
  // Read two bytes from registers 0xF6 and 0xF7
 ut = bmp085ReadInt(0xF6);
 return ut;
}
unsigned int startbmp085ReadUT()
{
  // Write 0x2E into Register 0xF4
  // This requests a temperature reading
 Wire.beginTransmission(BMP085_ADDRESS);
```

```
Wire.write(0xF4);
  Wire.write(0x2E);
  Wire.endTransmission();
  // Wait at least 4.5ms
  // delay occurs while data is collected
}
unsigned int finishbmp085ReadUT()
{
  unsigned int ut;
  // delay has occurred
  // Read two bytes from registers 0xF6 and 0xF7
  ut = bmp085ReadInt(0xF6);
  return ut;
}
// Read the uncompensated pressure value
unsigned long bmp085ReadUP()
{
  unsigned char msb, lsb, xlsb;
  unsigned long up = 0;
  // Write 0x34+(OSS<<6) into register 0xF4</pre>
  // Request a pressure reading w/ oversampling setting
  Wire.beginTransmission(BMP085_ADDRESS);
```

```
Wire.write(0xF4);
 Wire.write(0x34 + (OSS<<6));
 Wire.endTransmission();
  // Wait for conversion, delay time dependent on OSS
 delay(2 + (3<<OSS));</pre>
  // Read register 0xF6 (MSB), 0xF7 (LSB), and 0xF8 (XLSB)
 Wire.beginTransmission(BMP085_ADDRESS);
 Wire.write(0xF6);
 Wire.endTransmission();
 Wire.requestFrom(BMP085_ADDRESS, 3);
 while(Wire.available() < 3)</pre>
   ;
 msb = Wire.read();
 lsb = Wire.read();
 xlsb = Wire.read();
up = (((unsigned long) msb << 16)|((unsigned long) lsb << 8)|
(unsigned long) xlsb) >> (8-OSS);
return up;
}
```

G.2 Pyserial Code

#! /usr/bin/env python

import serial

import datetime

```
now=datetime.datetime.now()
```

f=open('./f1', 'w')
f.write('%')
f.write(str(now.ctime()))
f.write('\n')

print "Starting serial read..."
print now.ctime()

ser = serial.Serial('/dev/ttyACM0', 230400, timeout=1)

```
finished = 0;
while ( finished == 0):
    line = ser.readline()
    f.write(line)
    if ( '%ENDEND' in line ):
        finished = 1
```

```
print "Finished collecting and writing ..."
now=datetime.datetime.now()
print now.ctime()
```

APPENDIX G. TEST SETUP

ser.close()

f.close()

APPENDIX H

SPECTRAL ANALYSIS

The purpose of this appendix is to describe the spectral analysis procedures used to analyse the wide-band $\Delta\Sigma$ single-bit output for SNR performance and eperimental noise floor. While the test conditions were varied was varied during experimentation, this section describes typical operating conditions.

H.1 SNR Calculations

The typical system clock rate was $f_{sys} = 6400$ Hz giving a modulator clock rate of $f_{sys}/4 = f_s = 1600$ Hz. The $\Sigma\Delta$ single-bit output was collected at the rate f_s and stored in a computer for analysis. The length of a typical collected data set was 150k single-bit data samples. A typical FFT analysis length of N=131072 was used, sampling approximately 82 input cycles of the 4 Hz input signal. Prior to spectral analysis, the $\Sigma\Delta$ data stream was converted from logical values (01010) to a modulated voltage stream ($\pm V_{DD}$) and offset was removed ($-V_{DD}/2$). Because the signal was incoherently sampled, a Hann window was used on the data prior to calculating the FFT and the power spectral density.

In favor of obtaining as much frequency resolution as possible from the FFT sample length, periodogram averaging was not typically used. The typical frequency resolution of the FFT was $f_s/N = 0.01$ Hz per FFT bin. Within the 0-25 Hz bandwidth, the FFT length of N=131072 provides a total of 2048 bins. A high number of bins reduces the variance on the SNR measurement¹; application of at least N = 64×OSR provides a standard deviation of less than 1 dB using a standard SNR estimate calculations [125]. The typical OSR of 32 obtained for $f_s = 1600$ Hz in this work led to N = 2048 for the desired FFT frequency resolution. However, as the following paragraph explains, the SNR calculation method for this work did not use all the in-band bins to calculate the noise.

In this work the input signal was close to DC (4 Hz) and incoherently sampled. Under these conditions, the PSD may be influenced by offset and by spectral smearing of the input signal. By using the FFT content away from the input signal and away from DC, the SNR calculation in this work made an *estimate* of the average noise floor and then used the estimate to calculate in-band noise.

The SNR was calculated as follows. The FFT was calculated using sine-wave scaling and the square magnitude was calculated to provide the PSD. The sine-wave-scaled PSD is used to calculated the spectral content floor between the 2nd and 6th order harmonics of the input (from 8 Hz to 24 Hz) while avoiding content at

¹Recall that the FFT of a random variable is itself a random variable, and any SNR calculation made from the FFT is subject to variation.

the harmonics themselves. The mean value of the spectral floor is then converted to energy scaling by multiplication with the equivelent factor between sine-wave scaling and energy scaling,

$$M = \frac{FS^2}{16 \times NBW} \tag{H.1}$$

where FS is the full scale input and NBW is the noise bandwidth of the window (details on windows and the two scale factors can be found in [125]). Because the FFT input was scaled to voltage, the use of energy scaling to the FFT output provides voltage spot noise, V_{rms}^2/Hz . An estimate of the total in-band noise power is then obtained by multiplying by the signal bandwidth. The input signal power is obtained direct the sine-wave-scaled PSD by observation of the peak value at the input frequency. The SNR is formed the the ratio of the signal power to noise power. The SNDR is formed by adding the distortion power to the noise prior to forming the ratio; the distortion power is determined from direct reading of sine-wave-scaled PSD peak value at specified harmonic frequencies.

H.2 Noise Floor

While the sine-wave-scaled PSD allows a direct reading of the input signal power at the input frequency, the energy-scaled PSD allows a direct reading of the circuit noise floor. Figure H.1 shows an energy-scaled PSD of the modulated output. In the bandwidth from 0–25 Hz for the single-sided PSD shown, there are 2048/2 FFT bins; 465 bins are used to calculate the single-sided noise floor power estimate between 8–24 Hz. The estimated PSD floor is -40.1 dB or 97 μ V²/Hz (or 0.0098 V_{rms}^2/\sqrt{Hz}). Overall, experimental results for the modulator operating with V_{DD} = 500 mV and f_s = 1600 Hz produced average noise floor with values between 110 μV_{rms}^2 /Hz (D5)–70 μV_{rms}^2 /Hz (D4).



Figure H.1: Energy scaled PSD of the modulated output operating with $V_{DD} = 500$ mV, $f_s = 1600$ Hz and a fully-differential input signal of 420 mV. The estimated noise floor, obtained between frequencies 8 to 24 Hz, is -40.1 dB or 97 μV_{rms}^2 /Hz.

The noise floor of 70 μV_{rms}^2 /Hz for D4 provides a hand calculation of the peak SNR as,

$$SNR_{max} = 20 \times \log_{10} \left(\frac{1000 \text{mV}/\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{25 \text{Hz}} \times 8.3 \text{mV}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}} \right) = 24.6 \text{dB}$$
(H.2)

which is consistent with the peak experimental SNR of 23.5 dB.